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Chu Kong Petroleum and Natural Gas Steel Pipe Holdings Limited
(the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries hereinafter referred
to as the “Group”) is the largest manufacturer and exporter
of longitudinal welded steel pipes and is engaged in property
development and investment in the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC”). The Company has been listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
(Stock Code: 1938) since February 2010. The Group’s steel pipes
are mainly used for energy transmission including oil and gas
transmission pipelines, deep sea pipelines, city gas networks,
and petrochemicals, mining, infrastructure construction, offshore

engineering, steel structures and water utilities industries.

The Group’s production bases and offices are located in Panyu,
Zhuhai, Lianyungang, Nanjing, Ningbo of the PRC, Hong Kong,
Saudi Arabia, Singapore and Indonesia, with 5 longitudinal
submerged arc-welded (“LSAW?”), 4 spiral submerged arc-welded
(“SSAW”) and other production lines with a combined annual
production capacity of 2,930,000 tonnes as at 31 December 2019.

The Group is an industry pioneer, particularly strong in research
and development, holding 80 patents (including 44 invention
patents) and 12 international certificates and having a long
standing international and nationwide track record. Furthermore,
the Group is the first and only steel pipe manufacturer in the
PRC to manufacture and successfully develop deep sea welded
steel pipes for the use at a water depth of 3,500m and a
qualified supplier of Petrobras and Petronas. Our joint venture
company in Saudi Arabia is also a qualified supplier of the
Saudi Arabian Oil Company. The Group is the only welded steel
pipe manufacturer in the PRC that has received five national
honours and awards, including “Gold Cup Prize for Actual Quality
of Metallurgical Products”, “Superior Quality Award for Actual
Quality of Metallurgical Products”, “National Key New Products”,
“National-recognised Enterprise Technology Centre” and “High
and New Technology Enterprise”, and hosted a “Academician
Workstation” and is the main drafter of the national standard for
longitudinal welded steel pipes in the PRC.
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of
Chu Kong Petroleum and Natural Gas Steel Pipe Holdings Limited
(the “Company”), | would like to present to you the consolidated
audited annual results of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2019. In such a difficult and challenging year of
2019, the Group recorded a turnover of approximately RMB1,194.0
million (2018: RMB 1,681.6 million), representing a decrease of
approximately 29.0% compared with that of 2018. Loss for the year
was approximately RMB142.1 million (2018: loss of RMB498.9
million). Loss per share attributable to ordinary equity holders of
the parent was approximately RMBO0.14 (2018: loss per share was
RMBO0.49). The Board did not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2019.
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In 2019, the world economy underwent unprecedented challenges.
The intensified trade frictions between China and the United
States, repeated downturn in crude oil prices, geopolitical tensions,
and complex and volatile factors dragged the global economy into
a synchronized slowdown. According to the press release made by
the National Bureau of Statistics of the PRC on 28 February 2020,
the national GDP growth of 2019 was 6.1%, the slowest rate over
29 years.

At the beginning of 2020, there were more uncertainties in all
walks of life under COVID-19, and the domestic economy in China
persevered in the adversity. With our current scale and operation,
during the year of 2019, the Group delivered a total of 327,000
tons of steel pipes and received orders for a total of 341,000 tons
of steel pipes, including projects of three large oil companies,
the Rizhao Port-Jingbo Oil Pipeline Project, the gas pipe network
of Western Guangdong, Qingdao-Nanjing Natural Gas Pipeline
Project and other national key projects.

Despite any adversity and the challenging business environment,
the Board remains prudently optimistic about the prospect of the
energy construction sector. It is expected that after the current
COVID-19 outbreak subsides, infrastructure projects will be an
important part of national economic recovery, and the oil and gas
industry concerns national energy security. The PRC government
has been well prepared, such as deploying the Blue Sky Project
and People’s Livelihood Project to strategically set the policies for
the oil and gas industry, issuing the pricing supervision mechanism
for the oil and gas industry and establishing the state official
network company in advance to liberalize the entire industrial
chain of the oil and gas industry to the market. A large number of
favorable policies has been formulated to drive a strong recovery
of the oil and gas industry.
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FRESE
CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

The Group is committed to reducing liabilities and finance cost to
well prepare for the development of the steel pipe industry in the
future. At the end of February 2019, the Group announced the land
asset plan for the transfer of land (the “Land”) held by Panyu Chu
Kong Steel Pipe Co., Ltd (F S /T#HE BB A7) ("“PCKSP”),
which was originally used for PCKSP’s production plant with an
area of approximately 280,227 square meters, accounting for
about three quarters of the total area of PCKSP’s plant area and
located in Qinghe Road, Shiji Town, Panyu District, Guangzhou
City, Guangdong Province, China. In addition, the Group’s GDC
Phase Il land located in Panyu was successfully sold to the PRC
government for land resumption at the end of 2019, in return for
a compensation of about RMB1.525 billion. The funds obtained
would increase the Group’s financial strength and reduce liabilities
and finance cost, favorable for the long-term development of the
Group’s steel pipe business.

Over the past five years, oil prices have plummeted, large
domestic infrastructure projects have stagnated, and the oil and
gas industry has experienced severe overcapacity, The situation
has further deteriorated due to recent substantial reduction of oil
prices after the launch of price war by Saudi Arabia. Having said
that, with the support of the governments at all levels and the
unremitting efforts of the Company, the Group is firmly confident
that, in the long-lasting adversity, it will defy any hardships,
adjust its strategic direction, build up its strength and lay a solid
foundation to guard the Group with fearless spirit, as well as
improve and strengthen its technologies, actively expand new
product areas, and expand its product range from originally only
supplying oil and gas transmission pipeline to offering steel pipes
for infrastructure and civil high-end construction projects such
as large-scale venues, wharfs, bridges, wind power generation,
nuclear power and offshore platforms so as to meet the diversified
demands of domestic and foreign markets for high-performance
steel pipe products and meet the coming boom cycle with stronger
strength.
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PROSPECT AND GOING FORWARD

According to 13th and 14th Five-Year Plan, the PRC government
has plans to build 28,000 km and 59,000 km natural gas pipelines
in 2019-2020 and 2021-2025 respectively. It is expected that China
will realize an investment in the construction of trunk pipelines
respectively in the two stages, totalling over trillions in Renminbi.

The China Development and Reform Commission’s Medium
and Long-term Qil and Gas Pipeline Network Plan proposes to
strengthen domestic and overseas collaboration, consolidate and
improve the northwest, northeast, southwest and offshore oil and
gas import channels, and promote energy interconnection among
countries and regions along the “Belt and Road Initiative.” By
2025, the channel pattern of “equal development in land and sea
energy network” will basically be formed. At the same time, it is
also necessary to strengthen the construction of the basic network
of natural gas pipelines, adhere to the principle of “west-east gas
transmission, north-south gas transmission and offshore-onshore
gas transmission,” and gradually form the basic network of natural
gas featuring the interconnection of trunk-branch lines and the
formation of regional network by 2025. The next year marks the
first year under the 14th Five-Year Plan. It is believed that the
distribution of pipeline networks in various fields will continue to
grow, and the growth rate of natural gas will forerun that of other
energy sources significantly.

The PRC government also plans to promote the integration of
natural gas and renewable energy, and implement demonstration
projects for the integration of natural gas in Sichuan, Jiangsu
and Guangdong, advance gasification projects in key areas
of Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei air pollution prevention and control,
accelerate the construction of oil and gas pipelines in key areas
and areas with low gasification rate, and push forward the
construction of non-conventional natural gas pipelines such as
shale gas. At present, the main natural gas pipelines proposed and
under construction in China include Xinjiang-Guangdong-Zhejiang,
Shaanxi-Beijing four lines, China-Russia natural gas pipeline
and West-East Gas Pipeline (Line 1V), which are expected to
bring about 8 million tons of total steel pipe demand in the next
two to three years. Steel pipes account for the main part of pipe
materials; therefore it is estimated that the steel pipe demand
increase brought by the construction of four pipelines will be about
RMB30-40 billion.

— T PR

FRESE
CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

RER AT

BEI+T=R] R[+MAE]#HE -+ E1£2019-20205
M2021-2025%F -+ 5T &5 51 52.88 T K F15.98 T K
AAREBHER EACERERBRREBSBIER
MEHRGEERRBREATOARBE R

PREENE (PREARE MRS BHEMRAIN
3 EEEE AL - RAL - TR AE hRE DBRE
REI—H B aRBERMbEEREHE R 2
2025F E AT [F=/8 W E | #) BB - R IRE N
BAAREEEMMEER B [ARRE LRH
TBRERE|RAF2025FFF TR EIHEH R
BRENRARERBE -AFZ [THRIRETH
HEZF HESFALEHAMREFBELR RARE
IR MERNEMER  BREREERIRNE -

Bt e ES RARBE A BARRBAZERE £H
NTé BRFMWEEBRARBAERTETIRE:
WERREZERSAMABEHMERE TR NRE
HtENRCERESEAREEEZR -HEAEER
EHERARARRETEER BEABEARERER
MEIBRAREEHREENEN BFOROR S H
RARE G R R AR - TBET B ERK2-3F 52K
5 T RA800EME - HNEM T WMEMG TR
FUb A O GERNERFROMEFTICLENAA
R #300-40018 7T °

BIRHARARMEZRERAT 9



FRESE

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

The Group believes that the above-mentioned projects and policies SEEELMBERRFRAZSHERETENETAHK
are major opportunities for the steel pipe manufacturing industry, B ARIEEIREREIEANE - £2020F  SEE X%
and the Group will grasp such opportunities to improve the sales. DR EE RELANTSEER BEZEEEAN
In 2020, the Group will be fully prepared to undertake the increase SRMIGAER-

in market demand and enjoy the market cycle with an increase in
both quantity and price as much as possible.

APPRECIATION LS|

On behalf of the Group, | would like to thank all our staff for RAAZBRERAEE BRHF2EETILBEIET MkE
performing their tasks diligently in such a challenging year. | am B—F —REEEBRT AR RITMRASARE
also grateful to our shareholders for their continuous support to HAREELAEDRE HDRBRAKRMETELSRSET
the Group during a consolidation stage where it is accumulating RN RF - EEgHEEREBRRERE DT REL-
strength for a prosperous future. The Board is full of confidence PEERMIBERE R AR KRB FTIMAA -

in the management team and its ability. As we grow a stronger
foundation, our future will be even brighter.

Chen Chang TE

Chairman =

Panyu, Guangdong, China PREEREES

30 March 2020 —E-TF=A=+H
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AWARDS AND RECOGNITIONS
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Guangdong Province Patent Excellence
Award*

(Three-roller forming technology and
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Guangdong High and New Technology Enterprise*
(Department of Science and Technology of Guangdong
Province*, Guangdong Province Department of Finance*,

Guangdong Municipal Office of the State Administration
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Key High and New Technology Enterprise of
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(Torch High-tech Industry Development Centre of
Science and Technology Department of the PRC*)
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Indigenous Innovation Product of

Guangdong Province*

Department of Science and Technnlogy of Guangdong Province*,
and Reform Province*,
Infor i ission of Province*,

Finance Department of Guangdong Province*, Intellectual

Property Department of Guangdong Province*, Administration

of Quality and Technology Supervision of Guangdong Province*)

el Ml

FEANRR S

IR S AUE A5

LA gk ann
THA SAmansenad

HEAH ARRKAHDLE

A A=
TR AR, ST

2011

E-t+EZERH

RESEE  AHE
IR R ERE

(PERAGE)

1st Runner-up of The 20th National
Invention Exhibition*
Five-electrode submerged arc
welding equipment

(Invention Association of China*)

et

TR FERSR
TR,
FHRERNN

2011

B+ TAFYG
(BEREARBA)
Academician Workstation
(The People’s Government of
Guangdong Province*)

RIRBRARAEZRERAT

13



AWARDS AND RECOGNITIONS

=77 =X
i%lg\ﬁﬁwgni

7N

2011

BENTBFEER
(BEREARBA)
Governmental Quality
Award of The Guangzhou
Government*

(The People’s Government of
Guangdong Province*)

%
A
i
e
piae

rEENEEAR FRRRRR:
TEERTRGSERS | CHtARRARAD
FEERRAR) FRELT;

2013-2016

RRERAIMAE L

(BERENBHITE ERARBRAXEZEEE  ER
BRBENGEZEE  MREARBABEEEESR
EEREEY EREIBERR  ERELIN)
Innovative Enterprise of Guangdong

Province*
(The Guangdong Provincial Department of Science
and T the Devel and

Reform Commission, the Economic & Information
Commission of Guangdong Province, the State - owned
Assets Supervision and Administration Commission of
the Province, the Intell L
Property Office and the Guangdong Provincial Federation
of Trade Unions*)

EREBFESRE

(BEREARBA)
Government Quality Award of

Guangdong Province*
(The People’s Government of

Guangdong Province*)

HEEER (HRRIRE)
(PEME TGS )

Prime Quality Award - LSAW
(China Iron & Steel Association*)

L BT GMRLMERS 0

ISREERERE

2014
BEREGAEEREAZ
AEE

(EREEARSY)

Model Experimenting Enterprise
for Credit Management of
Guangdong Province

(Guangdong Credit Association)

14 CHU KONG PETROLEUM AND NATURAL GAS STEEL PIPE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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THREHFERRE

iE

2013

ERE R BT
(EREARBA)

Science Technological Award
of Guangdong Province*

(The People’s Government of

Guangdong Province*)

2014

TEASEREYER

BEEER
(TEMSTEGS)
Superior Quality Award

for Actual Quality of
Metallurgical Product
(China Iron & Steel Association*)

FREHERARD

iE#

2016
RRENBE 5%
(RARARSRE )

(BEREBEARBA)
First Prize of Sci-Tech

Achievement
(Deep Sea Pipe for Natural Gas)

(The People’s Government of Guangdong

Province)
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TEENEERERAES

UTEEEERE

F 14 Year

1996
1996
1999
2002

2004
2006
2009
201

2011
2012
2014
2019

5L-0924/0928; 5CT-1562/1855;
5LD-0048/0069; 5LC-0056/0110
2B-0151;

00116Q31 1004R4M/4400

—E-NFFERE

& Certifications

1ISO9001

API

CE

BV

1ISO9001 1SO14001
OHSAS18001

DNV

Shell

CNAS

ASME
CMS
TUV
TOTAL

SETTING THE STANDARD

54363

QUALITY CERTIFICATIONS
EERE

The Group has achieved the following international
quality certifications:

RFE B Authority

7B ML R7E B Hong Kong Quality Assurance Agency

% B A 1€ American Petroleum Institute

55 45 S M 444 Lloyd’s Register of Shipping

A B % A #- Bureau Veritas

&7 ML R B Hong Kong Quality Assurance Agency

f B & £ 77 7 1> China Quality Certification Centre

B0 B A +- Det Norske Veritas

I 32 Shell Global Solutions

HREE BT EBE XA Z B China National Accreditation Service for
Conformity Assessment

E B T 260 1% € American Society of Mechanical Engineers
H AT 2188 2R F L China CMS (Issuing Authority)
2 E L% E TUV SUD China

A B AR R EE M TOTAL

A

CNAS

v

CNAS L6937

111206018-01 0035-CPR-A216 CNAS L7212

INS-S-GZ-16-149-01IC

/a\

N

64.664.17.226.01

RIRBRARAEZRERAT
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEE WD

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group mainly (i) manufactures and sells longitudinal welded
steel pipes, as well as providing manufacturing service for
processing raw materials into steel pipes; and (ii) engages in
property development and investment.

Our welded steel pipe products can be broadly categorised into
LSAW steel pipes, SSAW steel pipes and ERW steel pipes. We
are the largest LSAW steel pipe manufacturer and exporter in the
PRC, and are capable of producing LSAW steel pipes that meet
the X100 standard. We are also accredited with 11 international
quality certifications such as Det Norske Veritas (“DNV”) and
American Petroleum Institute (“API”). In addition, we are the first
and the only PRC manufacturer that has successfully produced
and developed deep sea welded pipes for use at 3,500m under
water. Our products are widely applicable to major oil and gas
pipeline projects (both onshore and offshore) and infrastructure
projects domestically and internationally.

Our Group is capable of manufacturing subsea pipes and drilling
platforms for offshore projects, and is being classified as a member
of the Offshore Engineering Equipment Industry* (/& )F T2
3% 2 ) . We have benefited from and been supported by the
PRC’s strategic policies and received supports from policy banks
and insurance institutions in the PRC. We have maintained good
relationships with and have obtained medium-term loans from the
Export-Import Bank of China.

16 CHU KONG PETROLEUM AND NATURAL GAS STEEL PIPE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFWED AT

Panyu Land Development

In 2013, the Group has converted a piece of land in Panyu
into commercial use. The total land area of such piece of land
is 125,000m? which accounted for 25% of the total area of the
parcels of land owned by the Group in Panyu (the “Panyu Land”).
The total construction area of the Panyu Land is 550,000m2. The
Panyu Land was divided into three phases for development.

Project name:
Golden Dragon City Fortune Plaza* (“GDC”)

Address: Qinghe Road, Shiji Town, Panyu District,
Guangzhou City, Guangdong, PRC

Usage: large scale of integrated commercial complex of offices,
shops, service apartments and villas

Total permitted construction area (including underground

construction area)

Phase | 135,000m?
Phase Il 191,000m?
Phase Il 224,000m?

Most of the units under Phase | of GDC have been sold. The
Group had pre-sold the units under Phase Il of GDC and the
total contracted sales were approximately RMB794 million as
at 31 December 2019. Shops of Phase | are rented for rental
income. The Phase Ill of GDC was sold to Guangzhou City Panyu
District Land Development Centre* (&M M & & [& £+ i 57 %
[x) as disclosed in the Company’'s announcement dated 20 June
2019, circular dated 7 November 2019 and announcement of poll
result of the extraordinary general meeting on 28 November 2019
respectively. For more details of the disposal, please refer to the
paragraph titled “Land Resumption of Phase IIl GDC” on page 19
below.

The steel pipe business will remain as the Group’s core business.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEWED

Proposed change of land use in Panyu from “industrial”
to “residential and commercial”

On 12 February 2018, the Group has entered into an agreement
(“Agreement”) with Guangdong Yuecai Trust Co Limited* (&
HEBEHLARAA) (“Guangdong Yuecai’) and Guangzhou
Asset Management Company Limited* (E/MNEEERBR D F))
(“Guangzhou Asset Management”) (collectively the “Investors”) in
relation to the cooperation to facilitate the change of use of land
(the “Land”) held by Panyu Chu Kong Steel Pipe Co. Ltd (&F &k
T E AR AR (‘PCKSP”) from “industrial” to “residential and
commercial” and the disposal of (actual and deemed) an aggregate
of 59% of the equity interest in PCKSP to the Investors. Chu Kong
Steel Pipe Group Co. Ltd (“CKSPG”) and PCKSP shall complete
an asset reorganisation, after which, the only asset held by PCKSP
shall be the Land. Pursuant to the Agreement, Guangdong Yuecai
shall, by stages, (i) inject capital into PCKSP and acquire 19% of
the equity interest in the PCKSP for RMB240 million; (ii) implement
the asset reorganisation; (iii) apply for the change of use of the
Land; and (iv) acquire 40% of the equity interest in PCKSP from
CKSPG for a consideration equivalent to 40% of the fair value of
the Land (after the change of use of the Land).

The disposal of 59% equity interest of PCKSP was approved
by the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) at the
extraordinary general meeting held on 19 April 2018.

The capital injection under the Agreement has been completed on
12 October 2018. Guangdong Yuecai has made capital injection
into PCKSP in the amount of RMB240 million and acquired 19% of
the registered capital of PCKSP (on enlarged basis). Following the
completion of the capital injection, PCKSP was legally held as to
20% by Guangdong Yuecai and 80% by CKSPG.

18 CHU KONG PETROLEUM AND NATURAL GAS STEEL PIPE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFWED AT

On 27 February 2019, the Group entered into the disposal
agreement (the “Disposal Agreement”) with Guangzhou
Xingchen Consultation Company Limited (EMERZE BB R
A 7)) (“Xingchen”), Guangdong Yuecai and Guangzhou Asset
Management in relation to (i) the nomination of Xingchen by the
Guangzhou Asset Management under the terms of the Agreement
as its nominee to acquire 40% equity interest of PCKSP; and (ii)
the disposal of the remaining 40% equity interest of PCKSP to
Xingchen, for a total consideration of RMB2,448 million with a
possible payment of the premium of RMB272 million.

Details was disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated
27 February 2019 and circular dated 26 March 2019.

The transactions contemplated under the Disposal Agreement were
approved by the Shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting
held on 16 April 2019.

As at 31 December 2019, the Company has performed the
following asset reorganization: (i) PCKSP’s liabilities was reduced
to below RMB159 million; (ii) most of the bank guarantees by
PCKSP have been released; (iii) most of the outstanding sales
contracts and engineering contracts of PCKSP were either
terminated or discharged; and (iv) PCKSP has transferred
the equity interest in Al-Qahtani PCK Pipe Co and PCK Steel
(Middle East) FZE to the Group and an independent third party
respectively.

Land Resumption of Phase Ill GDC

On 20 June 2019, the Group has entered into a land resumption
compensation agreement (‘Land Resumption Compensation
Agreement”) with Guangzhou City Panyu District Land
Development Centre* (E/MMEHBE +#FH 3 F ) (“GPDLDC”),
pursuant to which GPDLDC would resume, and the Group
would sell the land of Phase Ill GDC at the final compensation
of RMB1,524,628,500 (according to the final valuation report).
The land resumption contemplated under the Land Resumption
Compensation Agreement were approved by the Shareholders at
the extraordinary general meeting held on 28 November 2019.
Gain on resumption of RMB352.5 million was recorded in other
income and gains for the year ended 31 December 2019.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEWED

Order Status

In 2019, the Group received new orders of approximately 341,000
tonnes of welded steel pipes and most orders were received from
domestic customers. The Group has received some sizeable
orders like orders from China Petroleum & Chemical Corporation
(R EEMIETRMDEMRZAA) (“Sinopec”), and Guangxi Natural
Gas Pipe Project. The Group delivered approximately 327,000
tonnes of welded steel pipes during 2019.

Our joint venture company Al-Qahtani Pck Pipe Company (“AHQ”)
(the “JV Company”) in Saudi Arabia has also been awarded a
new order of steel pipes from Saudi Arabian Oil Company (“Saudi
Aramco”) for supplying approximately 26,248 tons of steel pipes
for its Saudi Aramco Marjan Project. The JV Company enabled the
Group to expand its market shares in Saudi Arabia and neighboring

countries.

LSAW Steel Pipes

The Group is one of the largest LSAW steel pipe manufacturers
and exporters in the PRC. LSAW steel pipe was the largest source
of revenue of the Group and accounted for approximately 87.9%
of our total steel pipe revenue for the year ended 31 December
2019. For the year ended 31 December 2019, revenue from the
sales and manufacturing service of LSAW steel pipes amounted
to approximately RMB835.3 million and RMB167.9 million,
respectively, representing an increase of approximately 41.3% and
a decrease of 14.2%, respectively, as compared to that for the
year ended 31 December 2018. The net increase in sales of LSAW
steel pipes was mainly due to the increase in domestic orders as
the major oil and gas projects in the PRC have been recovered in
2019.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFWED AT

SSAW Steel Pipes

Our SSAW steel pipes produced in our plant in Lianyungang use
the pre-welding and precision welding SSAW technique, which
is the most advanced standard among all SSAW technologies.
Revenue from the sales and manufacturing service of SSAW steel
pipes amounted to approximately RMB29.6 million and RMB52.3
million respectively. The total revenue from SSAW steel pipes
accounted for approximately 7.2% of the total steel pipe revenue
for the year ended 31 December 2019, representing a decrease
of approximately 57.6% as compared to that for the year ended
31 December 2018. The decrease in sales of SSAW steel pipes
was mainly due to decrease in construction projects during the
year.

ERW Steel Pipes

Competition in the market of ERW steel pipes has been very
keen due to its relatively low technical and standardised entry
requirements. For the year ended 31 December 2019, revenue
from the sales and manufacturing service of ERW steel pipes
amounted to approximately RMB7.8 million and RMB62 thousand,
respectively. The total revenue from ERW steel pipes accounted
for approximately 0.7% of the total steel pipe revenue for the
year ended 31 December 2019, representing a decrease of
approximately 75.0% compared to that for the year ended
31 December 2018. The decrease in sales of ERW steel pipes was
mainly due to removal of ERW production line at Panyu production
site during the year.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue and gross profit

Revenue of the Group mainly comprises (i) sales of steel pipe, and
(ii) sales of property.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, our revenue was
approximately RMB1,194.0 million, representing a decrease of
approximately RMB487.6 million or 29.0% as compared with that of
2018. The decrease in revenue was mainly due to the decrease in
sales of property recognized in 2019. Excluding sales of property
of Phase | of GDC of RMB52.3 million in 2019 (2018: sales of
property of Phase | of GDC of RMB610.4 million), sales of steel
pipes in 2019 representing an increase of approximately RMB70.5
million or 6.6% as compared with that of 2018.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEWED

The following table sets forth the revenue, gross profit, sales

TREHIPRFHEER

aNgyi

DEREIWAERN HES

volume and average gross profit per tonne by business segments KEWETFHER -
for each of the periods indicated:
2019 2018
“E-hF TN\
RMB’000 % to total RMB’000 % to total
1A A A A
ARKEFT B#lt ARETFT Bl
Revenue LON
Steel pipes WE 1,141,665 95.6 1,071,126 63.7
Property development and investment MEZRRIEE 52,296 4.4 610,440 36.3
1,193,961 100.0 1,681,566 100.0
Steel pipes =
2019 2018
ZE-NE “E-N\F
Revenue Revenue
'O Lo
RMB’000 % to total RMB’000 % to total
1A A YA
AREFT BAH AREFT Bk
Sales of steel pipes HERE
LSAW steel pipes BHBIEE 835,348 73.2 591,276 55.2
SSAW steel pipes ZHERIEE 29,645 2.6 120,779 11.3
ERW steel pipes BIHEE 7,803 0.7 30,576 2.8
Subtotal et 872,796 76.5 742,631 69.3
Manufacturing services SE R
LSAW steel pipes BHHABINRE 167,859 14,7 195,682 18.3
SSAW steel pipes ZHERMRE 52,335 4.6 72,786 6.8
ERW steel pipes EREE 62 - 897 0.1
Subtotal Na 220,256 19.3 269,365 25.2
Others HAth 48,613 4.2 59,130 55
Grand total FCE 1,141,665 100.0 1,071,126 100.0
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEFWED AT

2019 2018
“E-N% —T-N\F
Gross Sales Average Gross Sales Average
profit volume gross profit profit volume  gross profit
E HEE THER E7 HEE TEEMN
RMB’000 tonnes  RMB/tonne RMB'000 tonnes  RMB/tonne
AEETT B AR B ARETFT B ARE W
Sales of steel pipes HERE
LSAW steel pipes HHIBNEE 133,695 156,080 857 74,169 105,418 704
SSAW steel pipes BreR IR E 2,420 5,683 426 3,739 24,941 150
ERW steel pipes BHEE 439 1,243 353 1,242 6,679 186
Subtotal et 136,554 163,006 79,150 137,038
Manufacturing services BERE
LSAW steel pipes BHIBINEE 68,939 104,861 657 84,905 119,981 708
SSAW Steel pipes ZHERIIRE 18,481 58,361 317 27,458 90,526 303
ERW steel pipes TMEEE 13 412 32 178 828 215
Subtotal Nt 87,433 163,634 112,541 211,335
Others Hith (22,551) N/ATER NATER 1,191 NATER NATEA
Grand total @t 201,436 326,640 192,882 348,373
The revenue generated from the sales of steel pipes accounted RZE—NF REHEEHEHWAL (LA S B LN
for approximately 76.5% of our total steel pipe revenue in 2019 BEUWAT6.5% MK T — \FEIZ(569.3% - N _—F
as compared with approximately 69.3% in 2018. Steel pipe —NF HERERFOEAEEBHELRA19.3%
manufacturing services accounted for approximately 19.3% of our MR ZE—N\FALE252% - n R THM] 2 /A
total steel pipe revenue in 2019 as compared with approximately FEREHEHR HEMHEF REEEMNKA -4
25.2% in 2018. The revenue classified as “Others” mainly EAEE - NFEMEWAL2% MR=_F—N
represented the trading of steel plates, sales of steel fittings FAIH155.5% °

and sales of scrap materials which accounted for approximately
4.2% of our total steel pipe revenue in 2019 as compared with
approximately 5.5% in 2018.

Gross profit of steel pipe sales for 2019 was approximately —E-NENHEHEEENL R AKK201,400,000
RMB201.4 million as compared with approximately RMB192.9 T B ZF— )\F# AR %192,900,0007T 3 hn494.4%
million in 2018, representing an increase of approximately 4.4% or A R#8,600,000 — T —NWENEMNEH A
RMBS8.6 million. Gross profit margin for 2019 was approximately 17.6% B =F— )\ F#18.0% HE °

17.6% which was similar to that of 18.0% in 2018.

Our domestic sales accounted for approximately 88.2% of our total RZE-—NF AEENEANEEEGHEHETRALD
steel pipe revenue in 2019, as compared to approximately 75.1% 88.2% MM =ZF — N\FHIX1575.1% °
in 2018.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEWED

SALES BY GEOGRAPHICAL AREAS - STEEL
PIPES

RHEHSNEE-EE

2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\E
Revenue Revenue
A A
RMB’000 % to total RMB’000 % to total
5B IR A 148 A
ARETFTT Bk AR T B
Overseas sales BINHE 134,377 11.8 266,534 24.9
Domestic sales k= 1,007,288 88.2 804,592 75.1
Total steel pipes and 8 & S E RS B AT
manufacturing services 1,141,665 100.0 1,071,126 100.0
Property development and investment MEBRRRRE 2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥F AR FT
Revenue A 52,296 610,440
Cost of sales S & P A (41,540) (479,797)
Gross profit EF 10,756 130,643

Sales of property of GDC was approximately RMB52.3 million in
2019 as compared with approximately RMB610.4 million in 2018,
representing a decrease of approximately 91.4% or RMB558.1
million. Most of the units under Phase | of GDC had been sold in
2018. Remaining parts of the units under Phase | of GDC was sold
in 2019.

Cost of sales primarily represents the costs we incurred directly
for the Group’s property development activities. The principal
component of cost of sales is cost of properties sold, which
includes the direct costs of construction and the costs of obtaining
land use rights. Cost of sales was approximately RMB41.5 million
in 2019 as compared with approximately RMB479.8 million in
2018, representing a decrease of 91.3% or RMB438.3 million.

Gross profit of property sales was approximately RMB10.8 million
in 2019 as compared with approximately RMB130.6 million in

2018, representing a decrease of 91.8% or RMB119.9 million.

All sales of properties were domestic sales.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFWED AT

CHANGE IN FAIR VALUES OF INVESTMENT
PROPERTIES

The Group has adopted the accounting policy of measuring
investment properties by using fair values. Accordingly, gains or
losses arising from the changes in the fair values of investment
properties are reflected as profit or loss for the reporting period.
The investment properties as at 31 December 2019 were the
shops of Phase | of GDC. The Group has engaged RHL Appraisal
Limited, an independent valuer, to value the investment properties
as at 31 December 2019. According to the valuation report as at
31 December 2019 issued by RHL Appraisal Limited, the market
value of the investment properties as at 31 December 2019 was
RMB407 million. Gain on fair values of the investment properties in
2019 was approximately RMB78 million (2018: nil).

The investment property as at 31 December 2018 was the land
of Phase Il of GDC, which was sold to GPDLDC at the final
compensation of RMB1,524,628,500 during 2019 (according
to the final valuation report). For details, please refer to the
paragraph titled “Land Resumption of Phase IIl GDC” on page
19. Gain on resumption (recorded in other income and gains) was
approximately RMB352.5 million in 2019 (2018: gain on fair values
of the investment property of RMB21.8 million).

OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

Other income and gains in 2019 mainly represented gain on
resumption of land use rights, bank interest income and subsidy
income from government. Other income and gains increased by
approximately 441.5% or RMB360.2 million from approximately
RMB81.6 million in 2018 to approximately RMB441.7 million in
2019. Increase in other income and gains was mainly due to gain
on resumption of land-use-rights from local authority in 2019.

SELLING AND DISTRIBUTION EXPENSES

Selling and distribution expenses decreased by approximately
12.4% or RMB7.9 million from approximately RMB63.7 million in
2018 to approximately RMB55.8 million in 2019. The decrease was
mainly due to the decrease in sales.

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Administrative expenses decreased by approximately 23.1%
or RMB101.0 million from approximately RMB437.0 million in
2018 to approximately RMB336.0 million in 2019. The decrease
in administrative expenses was mainly due to the closure of
manufacturing operation of PCKSP during the year whereas overall
administrative expenses decreased.

— B NEFERE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEWED

FINANCE COSTS

The finance costs for 2019 was approximately RMB450.1 million
as compared with that of 2018 of approximately RMB374.5
million, representing an increase of RMB75.6 million or 20.2%.
The effective interest rate in 2019 was approximately 8.9% (2018:
6.0%). Increase in finance costs was due to increase in average
interest rate throughout the year.

OTHER EXPENSES

Other expenses decreased by approximately 25.7% or
RMB24.0 million from approximately RMB93.4 million in 2018
to approximately RMB69.4 million in 2019. The decrease was
mainly due to loss of disposal of subsidiaries, property, plant and
equipment and compensation incurred in 2018.

EXCHANGE GAIN, NET

The Group recorded exchange gain of approximately RMB23.5
million in 2019 as compared to exchange gain of approximately
RMB16.2 million in 2018, representing an increase of 44.9% or
RMB7.3 million. The exchange gain was mainly due to appreciation
of HKD against RMB.

INCOME TAX CREDIT

Income tax credit decreased from RMB52.3 million in 2018 to
RMB13.1 million in 2019.

Income tax credit was the combined effect of (i) income tax
expenses were recorded in 2019 mainly because the Group sold
the Phase Ill of GDC during the year and there was tax provision
on the gain on resumption of land use right; (ii) income tax credit
of additional deferred tax assets which related to the available tax
losses by PCKSP in 2019 as the Group expects there will be gain
on disposal of land in Panyu and (iii) land appreciation tax in 2019
as the Group sold properties.

Income tax credit was recorded in 2018 for deferred tax assets
which related to partial of the available tax losses carried forward
by PCKSP as the Group expects there will be gain on disposal of
land in Panyu.

LOSS FOR THE YEAR

As a result of the reasons discussed above, the Group recorded a
loss of approximately RMB142.1 million in 2019 (2018: RMB498.9
million).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEFWED AT

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES RBESRUKER
The following table sets out certain information regarding the TREINEAAEEHEZE_ZE—N\FR_ZE—NF
Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows for the years ended TZA=T-HBLEFEMNFEReRERNETER

31 December 2018 and 2019:

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=1+T—RHLEE

2019 2018
—ZE-h#EF ZE-)N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR FT AE#Fr
Net cash flows from operating activities KETEEBRESREFH 527,753 43,614
Net cash flows from investing activities RETHMSHRESREFE 1,211,064 8,075
Net cash flows used in financing activities BE EEFTRAR G A2 /F5E (1,760,978) (51,783)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents IR& &KIRESZEEWR D FE (22,161) (94)
NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RETHFBREREFR
ACTIVITIES
The Group’s net cash inflows from operating activities increased AEBNKEZHMERERAAFEH-_Z—N\F
from approximately RMB43.6 million in 2018 to approximately HAR™43,600,000EME—T—NLFHARE
RMB527.8 million in 2019. The increased net cash inflows from 527,800,000 T - & & E B TSRS M AFHEMEE
operating activities were primarily due to the combined effect of (i) BRGENTHEME: ()RBREE: (VFE &
loss before taxation; (ii) decrease in inventories, trade receivables, SEREFT BERRTER BEIENERREM
pledged bank deposit, trade payables and other payables and ENREBEREFER BNRE HMERREBERE
accruals, prepayments, other receivables and other assets and (iii) tEER D R (i) & OBEEm-
increase in contract liabilities.
NET CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING RETHFBREREFR
ACTIVITIES
The Group’s net cash flows from investing activities increased AEENREGHMSREREFER T —/\F
from approximately RMB8.1 million in 2018 to approximately HAR®ES,100,000LEMEZE—NFHARKE
RMB1,211.1 million in 2019. The change in net cash flows were 1,211,100,000 L - B &R EFEE B EZHRF AR
mainly due to the receipt of compensation for land resumption of e E=Hr TR mER.

Phase Ill GDC during the year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEWED

NET CASH FLOWS USED IN FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

The Group’s net cash flows used in financing activities increased
from approximately RMB51.8 million in 2018 to approximately
RMB1,761.0 million in 2019. The increase was mainly resulted
from the combined effect of (i) the issue of new bonds, and the
borrowing of new interest-bearing loans and other borrowings of
approximately RMB1,123.7 million and (ii) the repayment of bank
loans, other borrowings, amounts due to a director and principal
portion of payment of lease and payment of interest and dividends
of approximately RMB2,884.7 million.

EXCHANGE RISK EXPOSURE

The Group mainly operates in the PRC and most of its operating
transactions are settled in Renminbi except for export sales and
overseas borrowings which are mostly denominated in US dollar
and HK dollar. Most of the Group’s assets and liabilities are
denominated in Renminbi. Although the Group may be exposed to
foreign currency exchange risks, the Board does not expect that
future currency fluctuations would materially impact the Group’s
operations. The Group did not adopt formal hedging policies nor
instruments of foreign currency for managing the exchange risk
exposure during the year ended 31 December 2019.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group invested
approximately RMB62.6 million for the upgrading of property, plant
and equipment and prepaid land lease payments. These capital
expenditures were fully financed by internal resources.

FINANCIAL GUARANTEE

As at 31 December 2019, the Group guaranteed RMB94.3 million
(2018: RMB128.2 million) to certain purchasers of the Group’s
properties for mortgage facilities.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group guaranteed RMB548.1
million (2018: RMB538.9 million) to joint venture company for
banking facilities in Saudi Arabia of which RMB511.5 million (2018:
RMB333.5 million) was utilized by the joint venture company.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFWED AT

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

The Group pledged certain property, plant and equipment,
leasehold lands, deposits, certain properties under development
and completed properties held for sale with an aggregate net
book value of approximately RMB1,201.1 million (2018: RMB833.4
million), RMB792.5 million (2018: RMB618.6 million), RMB2,000
(2018: RMB426.6 million), RMB1,267.3 million (2018: RMB1,105.9
million) and RMB109.4 million (2018: RMB373.9 million)
respectively as at 31 December 2019 to secure bank loans granted
to the Group.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE, LIQUIDITY AND
FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group’s gearing ratio is calculated based on the sum of bank
loans, other borrowings and fixed rate bonds and notes divided
by total assets. The gearing ratio of the Group as at 31 December
2019 and 2018 were approximately 59.5% and 62.5%, respectively.
Decrease in gearing ratio in 2019 as compared with that of 2018
was due to the Group’s repayment of borrowings during the year.

On 27 April 2017, the Company entered into a note purchase
agreement (the “Note Purchase Agreement”) with an investment
fund, pursuant to which the Company agreed to issue, and
the investment fund agreed to purchase from the Company,
HK$155,000,000 8% notes due in April 2020 (the “Notes”).
Pursuant to the Note Purchase Agreement, specific performance
obligations (the “Specific Performance Obligations”) are imposed
on Mr. Chen Chang, the controlling shareholder of the Company,
during the term of the Note Purchase Agreement including (i)
Mr. Chen Chang, directly or indirectly, holds or owns more than
50% of the voting rights of the Company; or (ii) the controlling
shareholder of the Company has management control of the
Company. Any breach of the Specific Performance Obligations may
constitute a breach under the Note Purchase Agreement, pursuant
to which the investment fund is entitled to redeem the Notes
immediately upon the occurrence of the breach in accordance with
the terms and conditions of the Notes.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s total borrowings amounted
to approximately RMB5,048.9 million, of which approximately 75%
(2018: 68%) were long term borrowings and approximately 25%
(2018: 32%) were short term borrowings. The total borrowings
including, (i) a loan of RMB1.96 billion from Guangdong YueCai
and Xingchen (as disclosed in the announcements dated
12 February 2018 and 27 February 2019). Such loan will be
set-off against the consideration under a disposal agreement
(as disclosed in the announcement dated 27 February 2019); (ii)
loan of RMB1.33 billion in relation to the property development
business; (iii) net borrowings under steel pipe business was around
RMB1,759.0 million. The Group had to finance its working capital
of steel pipe business by short term borrowings as around 90% of
the cost of sales was incurred on the procurement of steel plates
and steel coils. Once the Group received sales proceeds from its
customers, it would then repay the short term borrowings. Taking
into account the Group’s cash in hand and the available banking
facilities of RMB290.3 million, the Group has sufficient liquidity and
is in a strong financial position to repay its short term borrowings.

As at 31 December 2019, the current assets of the Group
exceeded its current liabilities by approximately RMB140.6 million.
Phase Il of GDC has been pre-sold which enabled to increase the
cashflow of the Group. The Group has sufficient cashflow to meet
its short term obligations.

As at 31 December 2019, approximately 51% (2018: 46%) of the
total borrowings were denominated in Renminbi, which carried
interest rates linked to the benchmark lending rate published by
the People’s Bank of China; approximately 43% (2018: 41%) of
the total borrowings were denominated in Renminbi which carried
fixed interest rate; and approximately 6% (2018: 13%) of the total
borrowings were denominated in US dollar and HK dollar which
carried fixed interest rate.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES

On 27 February 2019, the Group has entered into the disposal
agreement (the “Disposal Agreement”) with Guangzhou
Xingchen Consultation Company Limited (EMERZ BB R
A 7)) (“Xingchen”), Guangdong Yuecai and Guangzhou Asset
Management in relation to (i) the nomination of Xingchen by the
Guangzhou Asset Management under the terms of the Agreement
as its nominee to acquire 40% equity interest of PCKSP; and (ii)
the disposal of the remaining 40% equity interest of PCKSP to
Xingchen, for a total consideration of RMB2,448 million with a
possible payment of the premium of RMB272 million. Details of
the above were disclosed in the Company’s announcement and
circular dated 27 February 2019 and 26 March 2019 respectively.

The very substantial disposal and connected transaction in relation
to disposal of 80% equity interest of PCKSP was approved by the
Shareholders of the Company in extraordinary general meeting
held on 16 April 2019.

On 20 June 2019, the Group has entered into a land resumption
compensation agreement (‘Land Resumption Compensation
Agreement”) with Guangzhou City Panyu District Land
Development Centre* (E/MN M #EB[E T F 4 ) (“GPDLDC”),
pursuant to which GPDLDC would resume, and the Group
would sell the land of Phase Ill GDC at the final compensation
of RMB1,524,628,500 (according to the final valuation report).
The land resumption contemplated under the Land Resumption
Compensation Agreement were approved by the Shareholders at
the extraordinary general meeting held on 28 November 2019.

Except for the above, the Group had no other material acquisitions
or disposals during the year.

LITIGATION

As at 31 December 2019, the Group has an outstanding lawsuit
that Jiangsu Binxin Iron and Steel Group Company Limited (/T
maEEEERAFR2AA) (“Jaingsu Binxin”) alleged Nanjing
Rongyu Group Company Limited (RS M EE AR QA))
(“Nanjing Rongyu”) breached a contract to purchase goods for a
claim of RMB34.3 million. The purchase contract was executed
prior to the Group’s acquisition of Nanjing Rongyu in May 2013.
The Group was not informed of such purchase contract at the time
of acquisition. According to the first instance judgement made
by the Lianyungang People’s Court, Nanjing Rongyu has to pay
compensatory amount of RMB34.3 million and related interest to
Jiangsu Binxin. Nanjing Rongyu has applied for second instance
to Lianyungang Intermediate People’s Court in respect of the
above judgement. As of the date of this report, the court was still
undergoing the process of the case.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

A subsidiary of the Group is currently a defendant in a lawsuit
brought by a party alleging that the subsidiary breached a contract
to purchase goods for a claim of RMB34,300,000 and related
interests. The Directors, based on the advice from the Group’s
legal counsel, believe that the subsidiary has a valid defence
against the allegation and, accordingly, has not provided for any
claim arising from the litigation, other than the related legal and
other costs.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, there has been an
outbreak of the Corona Virus Disease 2019 (“COVID-19") around
the world. The Group considers this outbreak to be a non-adjusting
event after reporting period. The Group has been closely
monitoring its impact on the operations. As the COVID-19 has been
rapidly evolving, the related impact on the Group’s consolidated
results of operations, cash flows and financial condition for the
year 2020 could not be reasonably estimated at this stage. The
Directors will remain alert to the development of the COVID-19 and
take all possible and reasonable measures as appropriate.

Save as disclosed above, the Group had no other material event
after the reporting period.

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICY

For the year ended 31 December 2019, staff costs (including
Directors’ remuneration in the form of salaries and other benefits)
were approximately RMB119.0 million (2018: RMB155.4 million).

The Group remunerates its employees based on their performance,
experience and prevailing industry practice. The emoluments of the
Directors are recommended by the Remuneration Committee and
are decided by the Board, having regard to the Group’s operating
results, individual performance and comparable market statistics.
Competitive remuneration package is offered to retain elite
employees. Our package includes salaries, medical insurance,
discretionary bonuses, on-job training, other benefits as well as
mandatory provident funds schemes for employees in Hong Kong
and state-managed retirement benefit schemes for employees in
the PRC. Pursuant to the Company’s share option scheme and
share award scheme, options to subscribe respectively for shares
in the Company or share awards of the Company may be granted
to eligible employees. No share option or share award was granted
under the share option scheme or share award scheme during the
year ended 31 December 2019.
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As at 31 December 2019, the Group had a total of 1,162 full time

T-NF+-A=+—H AKEXHF1,162% =2

employees (2018: 1,110 employees). The following set forth the BES (ZZE—NF 1,1M0BEE) o T I s
total number of our staff by functions: EomBTHE:
2019 2018

—E-hF —E-N\F
Management =3 155 149
Production and logistics FERYR 578 508
Sales and marketing HE R TG HE 42 31
Finance 81 7% 30 31
Quality control BT 42 47
R&D Tt 2% 3 12
Procurement e 22 12
General administration and others —MATIER R H A 290 320
Total &t 1,162 1,110
FUTURE DEVELOPMENT KEREE

Looking forward, the PRC government officially established China
Oil & Gas Pipeline Network Corporation* (B % 4 5# K A R & 4
SEBERID

market-oriented reform of the operation mechanism on oil and gas

7)) (the “Pipe China”), marking a milestone in the

pipeline network. The establishment of the Pipe China will help
straighten out the gas industry chain and systematically plan and
accelerate the construction of pipelines and other infrastructure,
which in turn will drive demand for related equipment. It is
expected that the development of natural gas network will generate
market demand for related equipment worth over RMB300 billion.

The PRC government is expected to strengthen policy regulation
after the end of the COVID-19 epidemic, in order to achieve
the economic and social development goals for this year. As
an important force to maintain the stable growth, more efforts
will focus on infrastructure investment. Various ministries and
commissions including National Development and Reform
Commission, Ministry of Transport and National Energy
Administration will take efforts to expand effective investment,
speed up approvals and bidding, orderly promote project
resumption and start-up and continue to optimize the rolling
pipeline project.

—NEEERE

ERR PEBFEAKY TERAMRAREH
SEAERAR (B B aREFALRA]) BHFEA
HAARERELRH MR ERNERME - Bl ZH
REMAANKY BEPREIERAREXRE AU
WHRERERMEEZREBEEWREER H—rm@j
HNBERBOFRL-BARAREREREZE
MERR AT 5 F KRB A R¥3,000087T -

TRBAFENBEHARER BRSMAKRKFEH N
E BERSFREBELSEREG -FRAREEENE
2NHE EERESET [RER] -BEREHRZ
BHIM BEEERRELHERENBERNBERRE
MREL BEF EFESHHEREEILRRAT FKEE
LB #EER-
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Under the 13th Five-Year Plan, China ushered in a stage of
vigorous development in construction of natural gas pipeline
networks. As it is stated in the Medium to Long Term Oil and Gas
Pipeline Networks Planning ( (& Ei)h R E 4R E) ) published
by the National Development and Reform Commission of the
People’s Republic of China, China will strive to strengthen the
land and sea linkage as well as onshore and offshore interaction,
consolidate and improve the northwest, northeast, southwest and
offshore channels for oil and gas import, and promote energy
cooperation with countries and regions along the “Belt and Road
Initiative”, thereby forming a preliminary layout with balanced
distribution of onshore and offshore channels by 2025. Besides,
China will strengthen the infrastructure construction of natural gas
pipeline networks by following the principle of transmitting gas from
the west to the east and from the north to the south, and bringing
gas from offshore, so as to establish natural gas infrastructure
networks featured by “interconnection of backbone networks with
regional networks” by 2025. Next year will be the kick off year
of the 14th Five-Year Plan. It is believed that development and
deployment of pipeline networks will be intensified, and natural gas
sector is projected to become the fastest growing energy sector by
reaching a growth rate of 9.40%, completely outmatches those of
other energy sectors. It is expected that investment scale of trunk
pipelines for the period from 2019 to 2025 will be extensive.

According to the 13th Five-Year Plan and the 14th Five-Year Plan,
during the period from 2019 to 2020 and the period from 2021 to
2025, the planned construction length of natural gas pipelines in
China will amount to 28,000 kilometers and 59,000 kilometers,
respectively, and construction investment for newly constructed
trunk pipelines will amount to RMB370.4 billion and RMB780.6
billion, respectively (in aggregate of RMB1,151 billion).
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The PRC government also plans to promote the integrated
development of natural gas and renewable energy with
implementing natural gas integrated development demonstration
projects in Sichuan, Jiangsu, Guangdong and other regions;
promote gasification projects in key areas for air pollution
prevention and treatment in Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei Region;
accelerate oil and gas pipeline construction in key areas and
regions with low gasification rates; advance the construction
of auxiliary transmission pipelines of shale gas and other
unconventional natural gas. The main natural gas pipelines
currently planned and under construction in China include the
Xinjiang-Guangdong-Zhejiang Pipeline, the Shaanxi-Beijing
Pipeline (Line IV), the Sino-Russian Natural Gas Pipeline and the
West-East Gas Pipeline (Line 1V), which is expected to generate a
total demand for steel pipes of approximately 8 million tons in the
next 2-3 years. Since steel pipes account for the major part of the
pipes, it is estimated that the increase in steel pipe demand driven
by the construction of the four pipelines will be approximately
RMB30 to 40 billion.

In the future, we will proactively develop and expand our customer
bases both domestically and internationally. For domestic market,
in view of the state’s promotion of natural gas utilization and
acceleration of infrastructure projects, a rebound in demand for
steel pipes is expected. According to the plan of the state, the
lengths of crude oil pipelines, refined oil pipelines and natural
gas pipelines will reach 32,000 kilometers, 33,000 kilometers and
104,000 kilometers respectively by 2020. And the total length of
oil and gas pipeline network will reach 240,000 kilometers, the
network coverage will be further expanded, the network structure
will be further optimized and the storage and transmission
capability will be significantly improved by 2025. During the plan
period, six new crude oil pipelines and eight new refined oil
pipelines are planned to be constructed, which will be a golden era
for the development of oil and gas pipelines.

The Group believes that the above-mentioned projects and policies
are major opportunities for the steel pipe manufacturing industry,
and the Company will grab the opportunities to improve the sales.
In view of our long-term strategic target to become a global leading
steel pipe manufacturer, the Group will seize possible opportunities
of oil and gas development projects to expand our customer base
and market share through engaging in more global oil and gas
projects and will also continue to leverage its strengths in the steel
pipe industry to obtain more orders.

— TN

PEBF RS RARETBERRRA R
EON-I&% BEREFHWEEERAARBEEZERTH
TR HERREERSAMAEH MR R TIE:
MRRECERESHHEHREEEZR -HEREER
EHREARARREEEER EBEARERER
MIBRAREEHREEHEN RROR HH
RARE G R R AR BT B ERK2-3F 5K
5 T RA800E M HNEM T WMEMG TR
HUb A OGRERNERTROMEFTICLENAA
R #300-4001F 7T °

BMARSEGRERELAREZBARERHEARR
FP-BATMSIERNERARERBRREZER
FE RMBEGTHER KU EERE - RREE 2
2020F R EBEE HNmHEBEBE RAREBIREER
o piERS2ERAE 33822 104BRE-F|
2025 2B REBEE B EHN24ELE  AKE
EE—SEX SEENEL FEENDKNERA 8
NREEERAAKRAEE REFTENEXDBE
B HRARBEEEROESRBA

AEBERRLMARRBROZMERETENEK
BE RAEELERBREAHES EXHMANKH
BEABEAKIERELNMEREDN AEESL
BEAEOLBAARERBBNKE BRES2HEESL 2
BHRRIRER HAEREMSMHE BEXE
AEFEAEMETENES FRNELHNEBTE-

KIAMAAREEEREGRLAT 35



PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENGREEERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr Chen Chang (R &)

Mr CHEN Chang (R &), aged 74, is the chief executive
officer and the chairman of the Board and also a member of
the Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee of
the Company. Mr Chen is the father of Ms Chen Zhao Nian and
Ms Chen Zhao Hua (both being executive Directors). Being
the founder of the Group, Mr Chen is primarily responsible for
the overall management and strategic planning and business
development of the Group. Mr Chen has over 51 years of
experience in areas related to woodwork, machine tool equipment
and lift/escalator equipment and has accumulated abundant
experience and knowledge in the mechanical and electrical
industry. Mr Chen graduated from the graduate school of Sun Yat-
Sen University* (Ff 111X 2 ) in Guangdong Province in October

1995 majoring in decision management.

Mr Chen has been appointed by several steel pipe related
associations and organisations for various positions, including:

. Member of the Fourth Session of Welded Steel Pipe Academic
Committee of the Steel Rolling Branch Association of the
Chinese Society for Metals* ( 1 Bl & & £ & & iff 5 & 5 11 5 /2
EMESRMEZEGEE) (2001)

. Vice president of the China Township Enterprises Association®
(R E4E P ZEHEaERK) (2004, 2008)

. Vice chairman of the 4th and 5th sessions of the board of
directors of the China Steel Construction Society and the
Steel Pipe Branch Association* (B &EHEME N EFH
MEREFERFEFLERFSEIEER) (2004, 2008)

. Vice chairman of the 4th, 5th and 6th consecutive council
of the Cold-formed Steel Sub-committee of the China Steel
Structure Association* (P Bl E g2 EBAE 5> E M-
hANEEEERIEZER) (2004, 2005 and 2010)

. Vice president of the Metallurgical Chamber of Commerce of
the All-China Federation of Industry & Commerce* (FF # 2
IH¥Be2rengRlgR) (2006)

* Unofficial transliteration from Chinese name for identification purposes only
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Mr Chen has received various awards, honours qualifications,

including:

*

Honoured by the Ministry of Commerce, Industry and Energy
of the Republic of Korea for his contributions to Korean
economic development through trade revitalisation (2004)

Excellent Entrepreneur in Chinese Private Technology
Enterprises awarded by the All-China Federation of Industry &
Commerce* (FE2B ITHEBEGTRTEAEESRERZRA
%K) (2004)

Awarded the First Prize of Science and Technology Awards by
the Guangzhou Municipality People’s Government* (& /I A
EBAFAMERME-FRSE) (2007)

Awarded as authority expert of welded pipe industry by the
Chinese International Authority Expert's Association* (
BRERIRHBETREEITERRER) (2007)

The invention of “three-roller forming technology and
equipment” was awarded the gold prize in the Sixth Session
of International Exhibition of Inventions and outstanding award
by the Guangdong Provincial Bureau of Personnel and the
Guangdong Province Intellectual Property Department* ( %% A5
CSERBTELRRBIEFE NEBRBREARES TRESRR
BEREAFELEREMNBERRBFREBFHE) (2008)

Outstanding Individual in Earthquake Relief in Guangzhou*

(EMA R STEEA) (2008)

The Fourth Invention and Entrepreneur Award by the China
Steel Association* ( 7 B4 #] 15 € 55 /0 JE “ 2 BH B £ 58" ) (2009)

Guangzhou Model Labour* (& /N 145 8) £ &) (2009)
First Prize of Science and Technology Award in Guangdong
Province ([ ER & B 2 & IT € —F ) for the research and

development of LSAW manufacturing process and technology
and its series of products (2010)

Unofficial transliteration from Chinese name for identification purposes only
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Guangzhou Outstanding Entrepreneur* (BN T EBDER)
(2011)

Nationwide Outstanding Entrepreneur* (2 B{EF B ER)
(2012)

Guangzhou Outstanding Contribution Award for Science and
Technology* ( BN M B2 #4728 1 B BA£2) (2012)

Outstanding Industrial Province of Science and Technology in
the PRC’s iron and steel industry* (R B T2 EFRET
%) (2012)

Guangzhou Figure of Focus* (3 X% A%) (2012)

The Outstanding Entrepreneur for the Competition of the Top
10 Guangzhou Construction Project in 2012* (2012F E B &
BETIHIRSHHEESPER) (2013)

*

Outstanding Contribution Award for Innovation in Guangzhou

(BN R 81 8 Bk B2 5% B R 22) (2013)

Top 10 Guangdong Economic Influential Individuals in 2013*

(2013FER T REEREAY)

Nationwide “May 1st” Labour Award* (2B — 481 =)
(2014)

s

Gold Prize of the 8th International Invention Exhibition* ( 2\
[E Bl 2B & & 1% ) (2014)

14th World Outstanding Chinese Award* ( £+ P0 & t R4 H
# A 42) (2015)

National Model Worker* (2 B4 )5 &5 ) (2015)

Guangzhou Entrepreneurial Entrepreneur for 30 years* ( & /!
RBIZE30F N BB EK) (2016)

Gold Prize of the 19th International Invention Exhibition* ( &

TN E BB 38R € 58) (2016)

Unofficial transliteration from Chinese name for identification purposes only
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«  Yu Shan Outstanding Contribution Award* ( £ [l & i & & £%)
(2016)

« 2016 Guangzhou Industry Leader* (2016 E EMN M EXEE
AA) (2017)

. The Most Socially Responsible Entrepreneur in Guangzhou*
(BMN&xBEMHEEERPER) (2017)

«  Top Ten Economic Persons in Guangzhou* (&M + A4 % &
EAY) (2018)

As at the date of this annual report, Mr Chen is the sole director
and sole shareholder of Bournam Profits Limited, which is
interested in 701,911,000 shares of the Company. Together with
Mr Chen’s personal interest of 4,350,000 shares of the Company,
Mr Chen has a total interest of 706,261,000 shares of the
Company.

Ms Chen Zhao Nian (BR Jk )

Ms CHEN Zhao Nian (FRJK4% ), aged 43, is an executive
Director. She is the daughter of Mr Chen Chang (being chairman
of the Board and an executive Director) and also the sister
of Ms Chen Zhao Hua (being executive Director). Ms Chen is
primarily responsible for the daily management and operations
of the Group. Ms Chen joined the Group in October 2002 as vice
general manager after her graduation. Ms Chen obtained her
bachelor's degree in arts from the University of Central Lancashire
in the United Kingdom in June 2000 and her master’'s degree
in accounting from Leeds Metropolitan University in the United
Kingdom in October 2002. Ms. Chen has taken up the following
public duties and has received the following awards:

* Unofficial transliteration from Chinese name for identification purposes only
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Public duties: N

«  Member of the Standing Committee of 16th Session of NPC in e BMNTEBEFTAABEAREFZ (ZE——F)
Panyu, Guangzhou* (BN M &HBEE FXEAKREZE) (2011)

«  Executive member of the Guangzhou Glory Society* (& I e BMNTmAXEZEXRESRS (ZE—Z-F)
REBERESIEE) (2012)

«  Vice chairwoman of the Federation of Industry & Commerce - BNTESRIMEHAgNBIERE(ZZE—=
in Panyu District of Guangzhou* (EMNTHREE ITHEHLE S )
BEIEF) (2012)

«  President of the Youth Association of Panyu Merchants and - EERBERHAESTFEmEER(ZE—Z=4)
Entrepreneurs in Panyu District* (FEEEEmaAl (5T Hee
) (2012)

+  Member of the 12th Executive Committee for Guangzhou e ENMNmBERE+ZERTZEEZE(ZE—=
Women* (EMMimZE+_EHITEEEEE) (2012) F)

«  Chairlady of the Guangzhou Association of Women s BENmALERBEgR(ZT—=%)
Entrepreneurs* (EM M Z ¥R H &) (2013)

+  Representative of Guangzhou in the 11th All-China Women - HEZEBIZESEETEEREMNREX(Z
Federation Conference* (R E2EGLZHMAEE T —ELHE T——f)

M) (2013)

«  Committee member of the Guangzhou Committee of the 12th - HEARKGHESHRET—_EEMNTZESZE
Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference* (1B A B(ZE—mF)
RBGAHEEHRET_—_EENTEZESZEE) (2014)

«  Guangzhou Deputy Director of the Federation of Young s BMNTIABSBFAERZEETKIAEZA(Z
Entrepreneurs Committee* (BM M IH B SEFLERZE R — M)

BEIEM) (2014)

. Committee member of the 12th Guangdong Provincial . =
Women’s Federation, the Executive Committee* ( & &R & {7 Bt &
BE+_EREZGFEEEE) (2014)

+  Vice President of Guangdong Province Private Enterprises - BEREREBECGCEREFERERESIER(ZE

Investment Development Association* ( ER & K& ¥ 15 & % —hE)
RIEEERIER) (2015)

* Unofficial transliteration from Chinese name for identification purposes only
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Vice President of Guangdong Province Association of Women
Entrepreneurs* (ER&E XX RIHEEIEK) (2015)

Executive Vice President of Guangdong Province Association
of Public Affairs* (ER&E BB AmREEEHEIER) (2015)

Vice President of Guangzhou Taxpayers Association* ( & /N
M AMEEIER) (2015)

Representative of the 15th People’s Congress of Guangzhou

City* (EMMmET+EEBARRETARKEAREK) (2016)

President of Guangdong Women and Children’s Fund* (&%
ERZAREESEEER) (2017)

Member of the 12th Executive Committee for National
Women’s Federation* (2B mEHE+ B TEZEELE)
(2018)

Member of the 13th Executive Committee for Guangzhou
Women'’s Federation* (BN MFEHE T =ZEHNTEZE®RZLZE)
(2019)

Honorary President of the Youth Association of Panyu
Merchants and Entrepreneurs in Panyu District* ( &/ T & &
EEMAXETEHEELEEFR) (2019)

Committee member of the 13th Guangdong Provincial
Women’s Federation, the Executive Committee* (& 5 & tm B

FTZERZGEHLE) (2019)

Vice President and member of the 14th Executive Committee
for Guangzhou Women’s Federation* (BN T &S R iFE &
THERITEZESRBEEF) (2020)

Awards:

*

— =
=
=

the 8th Civilised Family with Five Distinctive Merits by the All-
China Women’s Federation* (&2 EFLAB A S E/\ERIT
XK EE) (2012)

Unofficial transliteration from Chinese name for identification purposes only
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Female Pace Setter with Great Contribution (National Level)*
(ZEMERENZE L) (2013)

Most Charismatic Woman in 60 years of Guangzhou Loving
Hearts* ( 28} & 604 & A K 1 22 1% ) (2013)

Guangzhou Outstanding Entrepreneur Honors* ( EM T EF >
%K) (2013)

Guangdong Outstanding Women Entrepreneur Honours* ( &

REBHELLEK") (2013)

March 8th Flag Bearer’ of Guangzhou* (/&N “ = /\AL &
F”) (2010-2013)

Outstanding Women Entrepreneur* (£ A2 214 ) (2014)

Guangdong Province Top Ten Outstanding Scholarly Home*

(ERE“TREFEEFZR") (2014)

Ten Outstanding Young Entrepreneur* (+{EEFEFFLER)
(2015)

Guangdong Top Ten “Charity Contribution Award”™ (& & + 1%
“HEFRE) (2015)

Top 10 Guangdong Business New Individuals in 2015* (2015
ERE R+ R AY) (2016)

Diamond Award of Charity Figures* (2016FE&Z AME A
#2) (2016)

Guangzhou New Generation Outstanding Entrepreneur* (&
MIFTEREBEREK) (2016)

Outstanding CEO (20164 [ {4t CEO ) (2016)

* Unofficial transliteration from Chinese name for identification purposes only
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« the 1st National Civilized Family* (5 —E2 B XHARE)
(2016)

«  Award of 2nd Bauhinia Women Entrepreneur* (5 — @& # &
PERE) (2017)

. 2017 District “Industry Talent Urgently Needed Shortage”™
(2017FE R [EXESFTERAL | HIE) (2017)

«  Panyu District Integrity Family Award* (& 8 & B2 R 2 #%)
(2018)

. Top 10 Guangzhou Most Beautiful Philanthropist Families*
(2018FEEM T+ RERFEERERE) (2018)

. Charity Love Award by Guangdong Province Association of
Women Entrepreneurs* (ER AL CERBPE RS E L)
(2019)

. Charity Award by Guangdong Province Association of Women
Entrepreneurs, Guangdong Province Women and Children’s
Fund* (EREXBEZRHE BEREBRAEESR-BEAL)
(2019)

Ms Chen Zhao Hua (B Jk )

Ms CHEN Zhao Hua (FRJKEE) | aged 41, is an executive Director.
She is the daughter of Mr Chen Chang (being the Chairman of the
Company and executive Director) and also the sister of Ms Chen
Zhao Nian (being executive Director). Ms Chen is primarily
responsible for handling overseas marketing activities, sales and
business relationships with customers as well as sales agents.
Ms Chen joined the Group in December 2002 after her graduation.
Ms Chen obtained a bachelor’'s degree in international business
from the University of Central Lancashire, the United Kingdom in
June 2001, a master’s degree in international business Law from
the University of Nottingham, the United Kingdom in December
2002 and a master's degree in business administration of senior
management from University of Tsinghua, Beijing, the PRC in June
2016. Ms Chen is the executive vice president of the Guangdong
International Overseas Chinese Chamber of Commerce.

*

Unofficial transliteration from Chinese name for identification purposes only
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr Chen Ping (B ¥)

Mr CHEN Ping () , aged 54, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 23 January 2010. Mr Chen is also the
chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member of the
Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee of the Company.
Mr Chen graduated from the Jinan University, the PRC in 1984
majoring in finance and later obtained a doctoral degree in finance
in Nankai University, the PRC in December 1990. Mr Chen has
lectured at the Lingnan College, Sun Yat-Sen University for
more than 28 years in Guangdong Province, the PRC, teaching
international finance. He is currently the head of Marine Economic
Research Centre of Sun Yat-Sen University (/8 /¥ &8 % 35 &
£x) . Mr Chen also assumed various posts in societies and clubs
concerning economics and finance, such as a council member
at International Finance Society of China* (FEIEE S RES) ,
International Finance Society* (EIf¥ ¢ @2 € ) and China Society
of World Economics* (FF El itt FALEEE ) . Mr Chen is also
engaged in academic researches with focuses on finance theories
and policies, global economics and so forth, and has published a
number of essays and publications. As an experienced professor,
Mr Chen has won various awards for the lecture materials used
and also for the essays published. In 1997, Mr Chen’s teaching
materials entitled International finance* ( (Bl & &) ) was
awarded National Educational Achievement Award — Second
Class* (B R#EKE — % %) by the Committee of Education of the
PRC. In May 2002, Mr Chen’s paper entitled Study on the effect of
merger and acquisition of listed companies on wealth* ( { ETH A
AIFEGFEL U BE M BT S AR 9E) ) was selected for the Best Paper
Award of the 9th Global Finance Association Annual Conference
by the 9th GFA Annual Conference Program Committee. In
2005, Mr Chen’ s teaching and research achievements entitled
Exploration and practice of educational internationalisation* ( (%
BHEENFEZREETE) ) was awarded Guangdong Province
Educational Achievement Award — First Class* (ER&A#HEBK R
—Z4%) . In 2006, Mr Chen was selected as talented person for
Ministry of Education New Century Outstanding Person Support
Scheme* (M B B H AL EF A A #5128/ . In 2007, Mr Chen
received Bao Steel Outstanding Teacher Award* (5 il - /£ /E (B
F A1 4E) . Mr Chen was an independent director of Guangzhou
Zhujiang Brewery Group Co., Ltd.* (BMEKTEBERMDER A A]) ,
a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, with effect
from 10 October 2016. Mr Chen was also an independent director
of Shenzhen Universe (Group) Co. Ltd CRIIT X (£ &) XD
BMRAA]), a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange
(stock code: 000023), with effect from 15 July 2019.
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Mr Tian Xiao Ren (HE )

Mr TIAN Xiao Ren (FHE:#]), aged 66, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 1 August 2014. Mr Tian
is also the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a
member of the Audit Committee and Nomination Committee
of the Company. Mr Tian graduated from Zhejiang Radio and
Television University in the PRC in 1985 and studied the Master
of Business Administration Degree at Hangzhou University in the
PRC from 1995 to 1998. He was appointed as vice chairman of
Bank of China Group Investment Company Limited from 2006 to
2013. Prior to 2006, Mr Tian was the president of Bank of China
of Guangdong Province and Jiangxi Province, the PRC and the
vice-president of Bank of China of Zhejiang Province, the PRC for
26 years. He has over 32 years of experience in the banking and
financial field. Mr Tian is now a senior economist in the PRC and is
entitled to the special subsidy awarded by the state council of the
People’s Republic of China in recognition of his contribution to the

economy of China.

Mr Au Yeung Kwong Wah (B 5 E %)

Mr. Au Yeung Kwong Wah ([Eif% &%), aged 55, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 1 October 2019.
Mr Au Yeung is also the chairman of the Audit Committee of the
Company. Mr. Au Yeung obtained a bachelor’s degree in commerce
from the Bond University in Australia in September 1996, a
master’s degree in accountancy from the Chinese University
of Hong Kong in December 2000, a postgraduate diploma
in corporate administration from the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University in December 2005 and an EMBA degree from the
Chinese University of Hong Kong in December 2008. Mr. Au Yeung
is a member of CPA Australia and the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. He has over 20 years of experience
in auditing and financial control through his prior employments
with accounting firms and listed companies in Hong Kong. Mr. Au
Yeung was an independent non-executive director of Modern
Media Holdings Limited, a company listed on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (stock code: 72), until his resignation with
effect 30 September 2019.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms Liu Yonghe ( Zl5k )

Ms LIU Yonghe (#I3k#i) , aged 51, joined PCKSP in June 1994
and had worked as accounting staff and financial manager. Ms Liu
has acquired profound experience in financial management,
accounting and auditing during her employment with PCKSP
for over 24 years. Ms Liu is now responsible for cash flow
and working capital control of the Group. She completed her
professional accounting education at Lanzhou University of
Finance and Economics, the PRC in 1990 with a bachelor’s degree
in economics and obtained professional qualification as assistant
accountant in 1991. Ms Liu has over 27 years of experience in the
accounting and finance industry. She was awarded the “March 8th
Flag Bearer” in 1999 and 2002, and the post she held was awarded
as the Women’s Exemplary Post by the Guangzhou Women'’s
Union in March 2005. In October 2009, Ms Liu obtained a master’s
degree in the Executive Master of Business Administration (EMBA)
programme at the Asia International Open University (Macau).

Ms Wong Pui Shan ( Z 3 )

Ms WONG Pui Shan ( £ ¥iHft) , aged 43, joined the Group in April
2011 as the chief financial officer and company secretary of the
Company. She is responsible for corporate finance management
and company secretarial work of the Group. Ms Wong received her
Master of Science in Finance from the Chinese University of Hong
Kong and Bachelor of Arts Degree (Hons) in Accountancy from
the Hong Kong Polytechnic University. She is a fellow member
of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, a member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the
Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and the Institute
of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators. Prior to joining the
Company, she had served international audit firms for four years
and listed companies as financial controller and company secretary
for more than 17 years.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms Wong Pui Shan ( 5 i)

Ms WONG is the company secretary of the Company. Ms Wong
is working for the Company on a full time basis. Details of her
biography are set out above in this section.

Ms Wong has complied with the relevant professional training
requirement under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

46 CHU KONG PETROLEUM AND NATURAL GAS STEEL PIPE HOLDINGS LIMITED

BREEE

Bkt

Bkt 515 R— N NAEERAMATRKT
WE BESFABRRYBEE B LITNERIKTH
ETRA-_THF EVHEE SHARBTER
ETE2ENER -JXTRAEFAEERERERE
BESES -BR—NWATFRHEBHIME R TK
B REEHE DERKESRELBM IR - NAN—
FREHEEAMEXER BRI R EFRUBAE
BHEB_+EFREB-BR-ANANFN_TZT
FHRIARI=ZNAEF| R _ZETHF=H HIE
MUKENME LSS RMEXAE R _ZF
NETA FLELEERDMOCRFDBERIARE:
ESefImeERBLaf-

Tzt

MLt 8% R E——FOAMAREE  #
EARARAMBRERRAAWE - RARAKENEE
MHBERRARAWETIE - TXLRBEPNARER
GHMBERLRBAETIABNGE T2 (KB)XE
TEN -BREBEFHFAREMAEERER &
AEHMAE BEARMNEREREEFAMER
TRAEBREGE -NMBEARAR  KEXEKZ
BARTEMERRY LT AR EENEAE R QAW
ERBE T LF-

DEAWE

ERMLE
FRLRARANRANE - TXTRARALBT
fE- HBERTIN AL EX

FTREEHE ETARAEI 20 EBERIFINZE K-

Annual Report 2019



REPORT OF DIRECTORS

EEEHREE

The Directors hereby present their report and the audited financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of the subsidiaries of the Company include
manufacture and sales of welded steel pipes. The Group is also
engaged in the property development and investment.

Details of the company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 December
2019 are set out in note 1 to the financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The Group’s loss for the year ended 31 December 2019 and the
state of affairs of the Group at that date are set out in the financial
statements on pages 93 to 246.

The Directors did not recommend payment of dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2019 (2018: Nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group as well as discussion
and analysis of the Group’s performance during the year
under review can be found in the “Chairman’s Statement” and
“Management Discussion and Analysis” set out on pages 6 to 10
and pages 16 to 35 respectively.

The Group will continue focus on its steel pipe business by
diversifying its product usage and market segment. For property
development, the Group will continue to sell units of Phase Il GDC
and receive rental income from shops of Phase | GDC.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE
The Group is highly aware of the importance of environment
protection and has not noted any material non-compliance
with all relevant laws and regulations in relation to its business
including health and safety, workplace conditions, employment
and the environment. The Group has implemented environmental
protection measures to reduce energy consumption, treat sewage
before recycling and discharge, and sell wasted steel products to
recycling companies. Further details of the Group’s environmental
policies and performance can be found in the “Environmental,
Social and Governance Report” set out on pages 83 to 92.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS
During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group was
not aware of any non-compliance with any relevant laws and
regulations that might have a significant impact on the businesses
of the Group.
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RELATIONS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS
AND SUPPLIERS

Employees: The Group remunerates its employees based on
their performance, experience and prevailing industry practice.
Our package includes salaries, medical insurance, discretionary
bonuses, on-job training, other benefits as well as mandatory
provident funds schemes for employees in Hong Kong and
state-managed retirement benefit schemes for employees in the
PRC. Our current relationship with our employees and the labour
unions are good and are based on mutual support and respect.

Customers: We have built strong, long-standing relationships with
our major customers, and established a strong customer base.
We have obtained numerous patents, awards and recognitions,
international certificates and long standing international and
nationwide track record to establish our stable customer base.
We are industry pioneer and are the first and only steel pipe
manufacturer in the PRC to manufacture and successfully develop
deep sea welded steel pipes for the use at a water depth of 3,500m
and a qualified supplier of Petrobras and Petronas. We believe
that this can enable us to establish and maintain market leadership
in the steel pipe industry.

Suppliers: We choose our suppliers of raw materials mainly based
on the prices and quality of raw materials offered by different
suppliers. We issue purchase orders to our suppliers that set out
the quantities, prices and specifications of the products to be
purchased, delivery arrangement, and credit terms at arms’ length
negotiations between the parties based on normal commercial
terms. We believe the relationship between us and our major
suppliers is good and stable. Most of our procurements were paid
in RMB.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results, assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the
audited financial statements, is set out on pages 247 to 248. This
summary does not form part of the audited financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the year are set out in note 13 to the financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the movements in the Company’s share capital during
the year are set out in note 32 to the financial statements.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s financial condition and results of operations would
be affected by a number of factors. The principal risks and
uncertainties relating to the Group are set out below:

. The Group’s revenue of steel pipe business is dependent on
securing sales orders for new projects through biddings from
customers. Most of our revenue is generated from pipeline or
other infrastructure projects that are mainly project-originated
and non-recurring in nature. Our revenue will be affected if we
cannot successfully obtain biddings from customers.

. The Group does not have any long term contracts with its
customers of steel pipe business. If the Group’s customers
choose not to engage the Group in the future, the Group’s
steel pipe business operations, financial results and
profitability will be affected.

. The Group’s revenue of property business is dependent on
the policy of PRC government. Any change of PRC policy will
affect the property business operations, financial results and
profitability.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group during the
year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

At 31 December 2019, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to the Shareholders in accordance with the Articles of
Association of the Company (“Articles of Association”) were nil.

The reserves of the Group available for distribution depend on
the dividend distributable by the Company’s subsidiaries. For
dividend purpose, the amount which the Company’s subsidiaries
in the PRC can legally distribute by way of dividend is determined
by reference to their distributable profits as reflected in the PRC
statutory financial statements which are prepared in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the PRC. These
distributable profits differ from those that are reflected in the
Group’s financial statements prepared in accordance with the
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”).
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TAX RELIEF B R R

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to AR R FE A REE B AR RAR G5 w1 R % T
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s shares. A A IE o

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS FERFRHEER

For the year ended 31 December 2019, sales to the Group’s HE-_ZT-NFT-A=+T—BLFE FA&EEHA
five largest customers accounted for 45% of the total revenue AEPHHEBELHASEE LK ARL5%  HhFxA
of the Group, and sales to the largest customer included therein EPREEREGE24% MASE A RHERNRERE
amounted to 24%. Purchases from the Group’s five largest EAREBEBHEERD46% EFRERN&ARERZ
suppliers accounted for 46% of the total cost of sales of the Group, RIBREE17% EFHEREENHEA L HEMRKR
and purchases from the largest supplier included therein amounted R(RESFAAN BEARARRIDEHITROHEES% K
to 17%. None of the Directors or any of their associates or any R EEAREERRAAEPRAAHEGTHHESRT
Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own AERE-

more than 5% of the number of the Company’s issued shares) had
any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest customers and
five largest suppliers.

DIRECTORS =5

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report are NTAFARBERAREAHNES:

as follows:

Executive Directors: HITES:

Mr. Chen Chang (Chairman) PRESLE (£/F)

Ms. Chen Zhao Nian R IK 20+

Ms. Chen Zhao Hua BRIk EE 22+

Independent Non-executive Directors: BUkHTES:

Mr. Chen Ping PR A&

Mr. Tian Xiao Ren M B &5t 4

Mr. Au Yeung Kwong Wah (appointed on 1 October 2019) BEEELEE (RZZE—-—NEFTA—BEZE)

Mr. See Tak Wah (resigned on 1 October 2019) EEEEE (RZE—NF+HA—B&E)

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence BIFE EMABIEI MG A AR B WEIPR L L HEE
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules from Mr. Chen Ping, HEERRGEELEENFEHAIRRE  RRAR
Mr. Tian Xiao Ren and Mr. Au Yeung Kwong Wah, and as at the date EHH ARABRBBEETBE LA

of this report, the Company considers them to be independent.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management are
set out in the section headed “Profile of Directors and Senior
Management” on pages 36 to 46 of this annual report.

RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

In accordance with article 105(A) of the Articles of Association,
Ms. Chen Zhao Hua and Mr. Tian Xiao Ren will retire and, being
eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming
AGM of the Company.

According to code provision A.4.3 of the Corporate Governance
Code as set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules, if an
independent non-executive Director serves more than nine years,
any further appointment of such independent non-executive
Director should be subject to a separate resolution to be approved
by the shareholders.

Mr. Chen Ping has served as an independent non-executive
Director for more than nine years. The Company has received from
Mr. Chen Ping a confirmation of independence according to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. Mr. Chen Ping has not engaged in any
executive management of the Group. Taking into consideration
of his independent scope of work in the past years, the Board
considers Mr. Chen Ping to be independent under the Listing Rules
despite the fact that he has served the Company for more than
nine years. The Board believes that his continued tenure brings
considerable stability to the Board and the Board has benefited
greatly from the presence of Mr. Chen Ping who has over time
given valuable insight into the Group.

Pursuant to article 109 of the Articles of Association, Mr. Au Yeung
Kwong Wah, being appointed by the Board as independent non-
executive Director with effect from 1 October 2019, shall hold
office only until the forthcoming AGM and is eligible to offer himself
for re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

A separate resolution will be proposed for the re-election of each

of Ms. Chen Zhao Hua, Mr. Tian Xiao Ren, Mr. Chen Ping and
Mr. Au Yeung Kwong Wah at the forthcoming AGM.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of our executive Directors has renewed the service contract
with the Company for a term of three years on 1 February
2019. Our independent non-executive Directors has the letter of
appointment or re-appointment with the Company for a term of
two years and is subject to termination by either party giving not
less than one month’s written notice. The Nomination Committee
and the Remuneration Committee have reviewed the terms of
service contracts and letters of appointment or reappointment of all
Directors.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
AGM has a service contract with the Company which is not
determinable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The remuneration of the Directors is determined with reference
to the Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance and the
results of the Group.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors are set out in note 9 to
the financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S BEENERTHRAERROARMEABRA R
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES BEHENEZRAR
AND UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2019, the interests or short positions of the RZE—NF+_A=+—H ARRAEFASHT
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares or BMABERARQAISHEEEEZE (ERREFSF RBAERK
underlying shares or, as the case may be, the percentage in the Pl (E571E) ([BFFRBEERADMAETZRE)Z
equity interest and debentures of the Company or its associated ARG R (RTBERAmE) REAERRESFZ
corporations (within the meaning of the Securities and Futures BT BAEREESFRBEERMEXVIBEHETRED
Ordinance (Chapter 571) (the’SF0Q”)), which were required to HEMSEARNRRERFAzE=KARE (BERSR
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to BESFLAGHRI 2 HBEECEBEFERREAES 2
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and BmRKE) HIBBES R EE GH F35216 70 8
short positions which they have taken or deemed to have under RARBRIEZ GO FE 2 &L MR IR ™8RRI
such provisions of the SFO), or which were required, pursuant to B FMBETAERETEFXFNEESTH ([EXE
Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register maintained by SFADBMNEARRRARBRATZESTAR T

the Company referred to therein, or which were required, pursuant
to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors (the
“‘Model Code”) of Listed Issuers contained in the Listing Rules,
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange were as

follows:

Shares of the Company PANET): i)

Percentage of
shareholding
Number of in the Company

Name of Director Capacity Position shares held RAEQFH

EEnA 514 ¥a BERGEAE BFERETSL

Chen Chang Interest of controlled corporation (note 1) Long 701,911,000 69.42%

B & —MER AR 2 EE (K1) HE

Personal interest Long 4,350,000 0.43%
(PN Sy

Note: M sE -

1.  These shares are held by Bournam Profits Limited, the entire issued 1.  ZZW1) HBournam Profits Limited334 - H &2 22 %
share capital of which is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Chen TRAEREXEZERERER - BREZSFRAEKR
Chang. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Chen Chang is deemed to be - fR & 4t A 3743 A7 Bournam Profits Limited £ 5 £
interested in the 701,911,000 shares held by Bournam Profits Limited. 701,911,0000% f& 17 7 #E A #e s o
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Shares of Associated Corporation

Mr. Chen Chang beneficially owns the entire issued share capital
of Bournam Profits Limited, which is the beneficial owner of about
69.85% of the issued shares of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN MATERIAL
CONTRACTS

No transactions, arrangement or material contracts, to which
the Company, or any of its holding companies, subsidiaries and
fellow subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or an entity
connected with a Director is or was materially interested, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year ended 31 December 2019.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

None of the Directors or any of their respective close associates,
has engaged in any business that competes or may compete with
the business of the Group, or has any other conflict of interest with
the Group.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group were
entered into or existed during the year.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 23 January 2010, pursuant to the resolutions in writing passed
by the then sole shareholder of the Company, the Company
adopted its share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme” or
the “Scheme”). The details of the Scheme are disclosed below
pursuant to the requirements under Chapter 17 of the Listing
Rules:

1. Purpose of the Share Option Scheme: the purpose of the
Scheme is to enable the Group to grant options to selected
participants as incentives or rewards for their contribution to
the Group.

54 CHU KONG PETROLEUM AND NATURAL GAS STEEL PIPE HOLDINGS LIMITED

L E R4

f&R 2 5t 4 E 25 % 5 Bournam Profits Limited 2 22
BITRA  ZRRRERRL6.85%CHITRNZE
WA AN

EEREAGHNER

ARABHEERMZER AR HBRRREZRWNB QA
BEITURBE_T-NFT_A=t—RLEFEF
REFACMEEER MEFAREZHELER
REFEEXRAZRARXECHEBEEARDENRS X
BEREXGH-

EERRFEBNES

EFANEFRANTIMNETHEALIMERFTEARE
BEBBRIAEBRBEFNERAEBREAEERE
EAEMAEER-

BEEEHN
FAMBIT YR FETAEBAKEEZHREBARD
EBERETBRNAL -

BREE

RZZB-—Z2F-RB-+=H BREAXRAERFME K
RBBNEMRBR ARARMEBREE (T8
Petgst 8l R [5t8]) - AR ENFBERELTR
AIE1TENRERBEMNT :

1. BREFE B FTEE R AR E R AL HE
M2EERNBRE AERHROREEHAE
BB R

Annual Report 2019



REPORT OF DIRECTORS
EXERES

Participants of the Share Option Scheme include:

(a) any employee (whether full time or part time, including
any executive Director but excluding any non-executive
Director) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or any
equity entity (“Invested Entity”) in which any members of
the Group holds an equity interest;

(b) any non-executive directors (including independent
non-executive directors) of the Company, any of its
subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;

(c) any supplier of goods or services to any member of the
Group or any Invested Entity;

(d) any customer of the Group or any Invested Entity;

(e) any person or entity that provides research, development
or other technological support to the Group or any
Invested Entity;

(f) any shareholder of any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity or any holder of any securities issued by
any member of the Group or any Invested Entity;

(g) any adviser (professional or otherwise) or consultant to
any area of business or business development of the
Group or any Invested Entity; and

(h) any other group or classes of participants who have
contributed or may contribute by way of joint venture,
business alliance or other business arrangement and
growth of the Group.

Total number of shares available for issue under the Share
Option Scheme: the total number of shares of the Company
which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be
granted under the Share Option Scheme and other share
option scheme of the Group (if any) must not in aggregate
exceed 10% of the shares in issue on the day on which
trading of the shares commence on the Main Board (i.e. not
exceeding 100,000,000 shares). Up to the date of this annual
report, no options have been granted under the Share Option
Scheme and thus the total number of shares available for
issue under the Share Option Scheme remained 100,000,000
shares, representing about 9.89% of the issued share capital
of the Company as at the date of the annual report.
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4. Maximum entitlement of each participant under the Share
Option Scheme: for any 12-month period, shall not exceed 1%
of the issued share capital of the Company for the time being.

5. Period within which the securities must be taken up under
an option: an option may be accepted by a participant within
21 days from the date of the offer of grant of the option. An
option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of
the Share Option Scheme at any time during a period to be
determined and notified by the Directors to each grantee,
which period may commence on a day after the date upon
which the offer for the grant of options is made but shall end
in any event not later than 10 years from the date of grant
of the option subject to the provisions for early termination
thereof.

6. The minimum period for which an option must be held before
it can be exercised: unless otherwise determined by the
Directors and stated in the offer of the grant of options to a
grantee, there is no such minimum period.

7. The amount payable on application or acceptance of the
option: a nominal consideration of HK$1 is payable on
acceptance of the grant of an option.

8. Basis for determining the exercise price: such price will be a
price determined by the Directors, but shall not be less than
the highest of (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of
the offer of grant; (ii) the average closing price of the shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations for the five
trading days immediately preceding the date of the offer of
grant; and (iii) the nominal value of a Share.

9. The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme: the Scheme
has a life of 10 years commencing on 23 January 2010, being
the date on which the Share Option Scheme was adopted.
The scheme expired on 22 January 2020.

From the date of adoption of the Share Option Scheme and up to
31 December 2019, no share option has been granted or agreed to
be granted to any person under the Share Option Scheme.
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME B% 17 32 B 51 &1

On 22 March 2012, the Board approved the adoption of the share RIZE——F=ZfF-+_-_H EFeHEFRNRHDIE
award scheme (the “Share Award Scheme”). BhEt & (TR D BEmEt &) -

1. Purpose of the Share Award Scheme: the purpose of the
Share Award Scheme is to recognise the contributions by and
to give incentives to certain eligible persons in order to retain
them for the continuing operation, growth and development
of the Group and to attract suitable personnel for further
development of the Group.

2. Operation of the Share Award Scheme: the Share Award
Scheme shall be administered by the Board in accordance
with the rules of the Share Award Scheme. The trustee
shall hold the shares and the income derived therefrom in
accordance with the terms of the trust deed.

The Board may select any grantee for participation in the
Share Award Scheme as a selected grantee (the “Selected
Grantee”) and determine the number of awarded shares and
inform the trustee and the Selected Grantee(s) accordingly.

The Board shall either before or after identification of the
Selected Grantee(s) (i) cause the Company to directly instruct
a licensed securities dealer to purchase the awarded shares
and settle payment for the awarded shares and deliver the
awarded shares to the trustee subsequently; or (ii) cause
to be paid to the trustee (either by way of contribution or
loan from the Company’s funds) (a) the sum of purchasing
the shares and the related purchase expenses or (b) the
nominal or such other amount required for the subscription
of the awarded shares by the trustee as soon as practicable
to purchase the awarded shares required (the “Reference
Amount”).

Within 30 business days on which the trading of the shares
has not been suspended (or such longer period as the Trustee
and the Board may agree from time to time) after receiving
the reference amount, the Board shall instruct the trustee
to apply the same towards the subscription of shares at the
benchmarked price as stipulated in the Listing Rules from
time to time or the purchase of the awarded shares from the
market during a specific period and at a specific price range
as instructed by the Company.

— TN

B 2R Sl 2 By RO BREHEI 2B/ 2
REETAEBATEEZERMYE B R EHL T8
B BRUGEBREEERTEB ZHELE 18
EREBERMN LRSI AEAT MAE — P H
PAREEER-

i REFHEZEE: RO RBAEBHESES
REKDEZERAE ZRNEE -ZEABREE
ARBEFFERDRBHELE ZRA -

EFTeUHEEMARARCEERARA (&
BEABRAD B2 RBERORBE S RRER
BROEE  YHEAEITEARLEEARA -

E=ZgRYEREETARAZARZE ()R
EARRERERFERESX 5 BB A LR
I i B2 B 4D 4508 15 3 AR S SR B A X9 52
FEA () REEATERTEBRABARAE
AEFOTEXERZ TN RAZFEAXN (a) BA
Ry RERBER X ZEML (b) XX ARBE
BROABEzZEEXEMESE NEBAMTR
Bk (2EE£5]) -

REBSEeRERBENIBELEEE2=+EZ
EHORIAABREFTSARTEHE 2 BRYME
N EFERETXTIADARZESE UK
ERRAUARTAZEEEBRRBRD R
EHMBARARBERZEEERBE KH5
BB

BIARAARMEZRERDA S/



REPORT OF DIRECTORS

EEEWSE

Awarded shares and related income held by the trustee
upon the trust and which are referable to a Selected Grantee
shall vest to that Selected Grantee on the vesting date.
The Board may also, in its absolute discretion, determine
the performance, operating and financial targets and other
criteria, if any, to be satisfied by the Selected Grantee before
the awarded shares can vest.

The trustee shall not be obliged to exercise any voting rights
and powers in respect of any shares held under the trust
(including but not limited to the awarded shares, the returned
shares, any bonus shares and scrip shares) until such shares
have been transferred to the relevant Selected Grantee.

Participants of the Share Award Scheme: any employee or
director (including, without limitation, any executive, non-
executive or independent non-executive directors) of any
member of the Group (the “Eligible Persons”).

Share Award Scheme limit: the Board shall not make any
further award of awarded shares which will result in the
number of shares awarded by the Board under the Share
Award Scheme representing more than ten per cent. of the
issued share capital of the Company as at the first date
of each financial year during the term of the Share Award
Scheme.

Maximum entitlement of each participant under the Share
Award Scheme: the maximum number of shares which may
be awarded to an award or awards to a Selected Grantee who
is an independent non-executive Director of the Company
at any one time shall not in aggregate exceed 0.1% of the
issued share capital of the Company as at the first date of
the relevant financial year of the Company and the aggregate
value of which shall not exceed HK$5,000,000 (based on the
closing price of the shares on the business day immediately
preceding the vesting date) as at the vesting date.

The maximum number of shares which may be subject to an
award or awards to any Selected Grantee at any one time
shall not in aggregate exceed 1% of the issued share capital
of the Company as at the first date of the relevant financial
year of the Company.

The duration of the Share Award Scheme: subject to any
early termination of the Share Award Scheme as may be
determined by the Board, the Share Award Scheme shall be
valid and effective for a term of 10 years commencing on
22 March 2012.
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From the date of adoption of the Share Award Scheme and up to
31 December 2019, no share has been awarded or granted to any
person under the Share Award Scheme.

ARRANGEMENTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save for the Share Option Scheme and Share Award Scheme, at
no time during the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries
a party to any arrangements which would enable the Directors
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

INTEREST AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2019, so far as the Directors are aware, the
following persons or corporations (not being a Director or a chief
executive of the Company) have an interest or short position in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the
register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO or have
otherwise been notified to the Company:

Shares of the Company

BEROBRFERKEAEEE_T-AF+ A
=t+—RB HERERORZBHFTE AEFMALRE
AR AR -

W RE IR 40 S 18 25 B9 & B

B BB AR R At 8 R AR 2R B AT 815N AR B S E AR AT
BARRFEFREMSEEAMETIEMNLE REESR
B 2 B SE A EARA A B B8 B9 R0 B AE 7 1 &

S

Bl

TERRRAROREERONVEZER XA

RZZ-AF+_A=+—HB BEEMH TIA
THRAR (LIFEFRARRTRAER) RAR R RN
KA ER DR ARERS M E &0 5£3361%
ATHENELMOHESTANE AR A NERE IR

Name

BE /BB

Bournam Profits Limited

Hammer Capital Private
Investments Limited
(Hammer Capital)

EEERNEEERBERAT

(TBRBFEXR])

Cheung Siu Fai

R

Tsang Ling Kay Rodney

2o

* Unofficial transliteration from Chinese name for identification purpose only

— B NEFERE

Capacity
&4

Beneficial owner (note 1)

EmEAA (MED

Beneficial owner (Note 2)

EmEAA (E2)

Interest of controlled
corporation (Note 2)
R EE R (MFr2)

Interest of controlled
corporation (Note 2)
ZEEE R (MEE2)

E\ .
AR E KRG
Percentage of
Numbers of shareholding
shares held in the Company
Position BERG EARAR
Br #E REBDL
Long 701,911,000 69.42%
e
Long 373,000,000 36.89%
e
Long 373,000,000 36.89%
e
Long 373,000,000 36.89%
wE
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Note:

The entire share capital of Bournam is solely and beneficially owned
by Mr. Chen Chang. Mr. Chen is deemed under the SFO to be
interested in the 701,911,000 shares held by Bournam.

On 18 October 2018, the Company issued unlisted warrants in the
aggregate amount of HK$313,320,000 to Hammer Capital, which
confer the holder the right to subscribe for up to 373,000,000 Shares.

On 22 June 2018, the Company entered into the loan amendment
deed with Hammer Capital for a further advance of HK$250 million to
the Company. In return for the further advance, the Company agreed
to issue the unlisted warrants to Hammer Capital. Each unlisted
warrant will give the holder the right to subscribe for an ordinary share
of HK$0.1 each in the share capital of the Company. The warrants
confer upon the holder the right to subscribe for up to HK$313,320,000
for new shares at the initial subscription price of HK$0.84. Accordingly,
a maximum number of 373,000,000 warrant shares (the aggregate
nominal value of such shares being HK$37,300,000) can be issued
upon exercise in full of the subscription rights. The issue price of the
unlisted warrants was HK$0.168 per warrant. The proceeds from the
issue price of unlisted warrants was used to settle expenses incurred
in connection with the loan amendment deed. As at the date of this
annual report, no warrant has been exercised. Each of Mr. Cheung
Siu Fai and Mr. Tsang Ling Kay Rodney had 50% control of Hammer
Capital and deemed to be interested in the Shares which Hammer
Capital was interested in by virtue of the SFO. Please refer to the
Company’s announcements dated 22 June 2018 and 25 June 2018
and the Company’s circular dated 17 September 2018 for further
details regarding the issue of unlisted warrants.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES
During the year ended 31 December 2019, neither the Company,

nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold any of the

Company’s listed securities.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Principal corporate governance practices as adopted by the

Com

pany are set out in the Corporate Governance Report on

pages 63 to 82.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands.

COMPLIANCE WITH MODEL CODE FOR
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. Following a specific
enquiry, all the Directors confirmed that they have complied with
the Model Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2019.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

On 30 December 2016, the Group entered into a purchase
agreement with Guangzhou City Pearl River Machine Tool Works
Co., Ltd.* (BMNM K IR B R 2 7)) (“GZMT”) for the purchase
of spare parts and production line (“Purchase Transaction”) from
the latter for the maintenance of machines, installation of rolling
line electrical drive system equipment and transformation of steel
transportation system of bimetal composite plate processing plant
in Lianyungang, the PRC. The consideration for the Purchase
Transaction is approximately RMB173.6 million. The purchase of
the spare parts and production line is mainly for the construction
of the bimetal composite plate processing plant in Lianyungang,
the PRC as per the Company’s announcement dated 27 April 2017
and the circular dated 2 June 2017. GZMT is a limited liability
company incorporated in the PRC and is principally engaged in
the manufacture and sales of machine tools. GZMT is ultimately,
wholly and beneficially, owned by Mr. Chen Chang, the controlling
shareholder and chairman of the Company, and is therefore an
associate of Mr. Chen Chang and a connected person of the
Company. The Purchase Transaction constituted a connected and
discloseable transaction of the Company was duly passed by the
independent shareholders of the Company at the extraordinary
general meeting on 19 June 2017. As at 31 December 2019, the
amount due from a related party of approximately RMB84.5 million
was the advance payment to GZMT for the Purchase Transaction.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors as at the latest practicable
date prior to the issue of this report, the Company has maintained
the prescribed public float under the Listing Rules.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, there has been an
outbreak of the Corona Virus Disease 2019 (“COVID-19") around
the world. The Group considers this outbreak to be a non-adjusting
event after reporting period. The Group has been closely
monitoring its impact on the operations. As the COVID-19 has been
rapidly evolving, the related impact on the Group’s consolidated
results of operations, cash flows and financial condition for the
year 2020 could not be reasonably estimated at this stage. The
Directors will remain alert to the development of the COVID-19 and
take all possible and reasonable measures as appropriate.

Apart from above, there are no significant events subsequent
to 31 December 2019 which would materially affect the Group’s
operating and financial performance as of the date of consolidated
financial statements.

AUDITORS

The Company has appointed Ernst & Young as auditors of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2019. A resolution will
be proposed for approval by shareholders at the forthcoming AGM
to re-appoint Ernst & Young as auditors of the Company.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Chen Chang
Chairman
Hong Kong

30 March 2020
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The Board is committed to maintaining a good standard of
corporate governance practices and business ethics in the firm
belief that they are essential for maintaining and promoting
investors’ confidence and maximising shareholders’ returns.

The Company has adopted the code provisions in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules as its own code of corporate governance. The Board
considers that up to the date of this annual report, in the opinion
of the Board, saved as disclosed in section “Chairman and Chief
Executive” below, the Company has complied with the CG Code.
The Company will continue to enhance its corporate governance
practices appropriate to the conduct and growth of its business
and to review its corporate governance practices from time to time
to ensure they comply with the evolving regulatory requirements
and to meet the rising expectations of the Shareholders and other
stakeholders.

The following summarises the Company’s corporate governance
practices.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

(A) Board of Directors
Responsibilities and Delegation
The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of
the Company, overseeing the Group’s businesses, strategic
decisions, internal control, risk management systems,
monitoring the performance of senior management and
determining the policy for corporate governance. The
management is responsible for daily operations of the Group
under the leadership of the Chairman. The Directors have
the responsibility to act objectively in the interests of the
Company.

All Directors have carried out their duties in good faith, in
compliance with applicable laws and regulations and in the
interests of the Company and its shareholders at all times.

The Board has delegated various responsibilities to the Board
committees including the Audit Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee. Further details
of these Committees are set out below in section B of this
corporate governance report.

The Company had arranged Directors and Officers Liability
Insurance for the Directors and officers of the Company.
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Board Composition EFEAA
The Board members during the year ended 31 December BHE-_ZT-NEF+A=+—HBLEFEREEX
2019 and up to the date of this report are as follows: WERHIEIEEEXEHIMT:
Executive Directors: TES:
Mr. Chen Chang Chairman of the Board and Chief BRE & ExgFR RITHAR
Executive Officer, Member of FTHEEER
the Remuneration Committee and REZEGKE

Nomination Committee

Ms. Chen Zhao Nian BRIKEF 22+

Ms. Chen Zhao Hua BRICEE 22+

Independent Non-Executive Directors: BYFYITES:

Mr. Chen Ping Chairman of the Nomination PR S Tm%?ﬁ 2t fE BREER
Committee and Member of FMEZEENE

the Audit Committee and
Remuneration Committee

Mr. Au Yeung Chairman of the Audit Committee ENCY S BEREBEEERE
Kwong Wah
Mr. Tian Xiao Ren Chairman of the Remuneration FARE ) 5 £ YMEEEXF BHXRE
Committee, Member of EgkRELZEENE
the Audit Committee and
Nomination Committee
The Board currently comprises three executive Directors and EECEH AT EER R B UIERITE
three independent non-executive Directors from different EHEN BERETRANEBREZERE RS
business and professional fields. Mr. Chen Chang, Ms. Chen S BRAKFLLERBEIKELZLTIR—KRKEKE -
Zhao Nian and Ms. Chen Zhao Hua are members of the same BREFLERRKFR T RERIELTHRER
family. Mr. Chen Chang is the father of both Ms. Chen Zhao
Nian and Ms. Chen Zhao Hua.
Save as disclosed, there is no other relationship among bBREMFBREN EFSNE AT EEMEAR-
members of the Board. The profiles of each Director and the BNESNERERES CRNBERIENRAIERE
relationships among the Directors are set out in the “Profile EREHAEREERRE] —&-
of Directors and Senior Management” section in this annual
report.
The Directors, including the independent non-executive EEZ(REBUFNTES ) AEETSHRTE
Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business M BEBENEBLER MEREEBS UE
experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for EEOMBEANEERE -BUFNTEEAH
its efficient and effective delivery of the Board functions. The HEETGAEN =D 22— UE-—HEBEESH
number of independent non-executive Directors constitutes BRESHB R 2 B ERB PR RAR
more than one-third of the Board. A list containing the names A48 %5 www.pck.com.cn & pek.todayir.com i o

of the Directors and their roles and functions is published
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company at
www.pck.com.cn and pck.todayir.com.
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The Company has received annual confirmation from each of
the independent non-executive Directors of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers that all of the independent non-executive Directors
are independent.

Upon reviewing the directorships and major commitments
of each Director, and the attendance rate of each Director
at the meetings of the Board and its committees, the Board
is satisfied that all Directors have spent sufficient time in
performing their responsibilities during 2019.

Board Meetings and Board Practices

The Company has adopted the practice of holding Board
meetings regularly for at least four times a year at
approximately quarterly intervals. Ad-hoc meetings will also
be convened if necessary to discuss the overall strategy as
well as financial performance of the Group. Notice of Board
meeting is sent to all Directors at least 14 days prior to a
regular Board meeting. Reasonable notice will be given
to the Directors for ad-hoc Board meetings. Directors may
participate either in person or through electronic means of
communication.

Agenda and Board papers together with all appropriate,
complete and reliable information will be provided to all the
Directors at least 3 days before meetings. All the Directors
will be provided with sufficient resources to discharge their
duties, and, upon reasonable request, the Directors will be
able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expenses. All Directors
will have the opportunity to include matters in the agenda
for Board meetings. The company secretary of the Company
is responsible for keeping the minutes of Board meetings
and meetings of Board committees. All minutes are open for
inspection by any Director at reasonable time on reasonable
notice.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019, six Board
meetings were held.
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The Company’s Articles of Association contain provisions
requiring Directors to abstain from voting and not to be
counted in the quorum at meetings for approving transactions
in which such Directors or any of their associates have a
material interest. According to current Board practices, any
material transaction, which involves a conflict of interests for
a substantial shareholder or a Director, will be considered and
dealt with by the Board at a duly convened Board meeting.

Chairman and Chief Executive

The Company is aware of the requirement under paragraph
A.2.1 of the CG Code that the roles of chairman and chief
executive should be separated and should not be performed
by the same individual. The Company does not separately
have any officer with the title of “chief executive”. Mr. Chen
Chang, the Chairman and founder of the Group, is also
responsible for the leadership and effective running of the
Board, ensuring that all material issues are decided by the
Board in a conducive manner. The Board will meet regularly
to consider major matters affecting the operations of the
Group. The Board considers that this structure will not impair
the balance of power and authority between the Board and
the management of the Company. The roles of the respective
executive Directors and senior management, who are in
charge of different functions complement the role of the
chairman and chief executive. The Board is of the view that
this structure provides the Group with strong and consistent
leadership, facilitates effective and efficient planning and
implementation of business decisions and strategies, and
ensures the generation of shareholders’ benefits.

The Board shall nevertheless review the structure from time
to time to ensure appropriate move is being taken should
suitable circumstance arise.

Appointments, Re-election and Removal of Directors
The Board is responsible for selection and approval of
candidates for appointment as Directors. The Company has
established a Nomination Committee on 22 March 2012. The
Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing Board
composition including the board diversity policy, evaluating the
balance of skills, knowledge and experience of the Board and
making recommendations on the appointment of Directors.
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Each of the executive Directors has renewed his/her service
contract with the Company for a period of three years
commencing from 1 February 2019. All of their appointments
are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in
accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has been
appointed or re-appointed for a term of two years, and are
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance
with the Articles of Association of the Company.

The Nomination Committee has reviewed the re-appointments/
appointment of both executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors and recommended to the Board of
Directors for decision.

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, all
Directors shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years and any new Director appointed to fill
a causal vacancy shall submit himself/herself for re-election
by shareholders at the first general meeting after appointment.
In accordance with the Articles of Association, Ms Chen Zhao
Hua, and Mr. Tian Xiao Ren will retire and, being eligible, will
offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming AGM of the
Company.
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Pursuant to Code Provision A.4.3 of the CG Code, if an
independent non-executive Director serves more than
nine years, his further appointment should be subject to a
separate resolution to be approved by the Shareholders. As
such, although Mr. Chen Ping has served as an independent
non-executive Director for more than nine years, the Board
consider that Mr. Chen Ping is a person of integrity and
independent in judgement and character. He is independent
of management and free from any business or other
relationships or circumstances which could materially interfere
with the exercise of their independent judgement. The
Board considers that Mr. Chen Ping meets the independent
guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, and is of
the view that their independence is not affected by his tenure
with the Company. The Board believes that his valuable
experience in the Group’s business and his professional
knowledge will continue to generate significant contribution to
the Board, the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

Pursuant to article 109 of the Articles of Association, Mr. Au
Yeung Kwong Wah, being appointed by the Board as Director
with effect from 1 October 2019, shall hold office only until the
forthcoming AGM and is eligible to offer himself for re-election
at the forthcoming AGM.

Pursuant to Code Provision A.4.3 of the CG Code and in
accordance to the Company’s Articles of Association, a
separate resolution will be proposed for the re-election of
each of Ms. Chen Zhao Hua, Mr. Tian Xiao Ren, Mr. Chen
Ping and Mr. Au Yeung Kwong Wah at the forthcoming AGM
of the Company.

Training Induction and Continuing Development of
Directors

The Directors have endeavoured to keep abreast of the
changes in their responsibilities as a Director and of the
business activities and development of the Company.
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Each newly appointed Director receives formal,
comprehensive and tailored induction on the first occasion
of his/her appointment to ensure appropriate understanding
of the business and operations of the Company and full
awareness of director’s responsibilities and obligations under
the Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements.

Directors are continually updated on developments in the
statutory and regulatory regime and the business environment
to facilitate the discharge of their responsibilities. The
Directors have provided to the Company their records of
continuous professional development during the year ended
31 December 2019.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, all Directors
attended seminars and training courses in relation to
corporate governance, Listing Rules update or financial
markets update arranged by professional firms/institutions.
Records of continuing professional development have been
maintained by the company secretary. Besides, the company
secretary also conducted briefings on corporate governance,
directors’ duties and responsibilities and provided materials
for Listing Rules amendments to all Directors for their
reference.

Model Code for Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code by Directors of
Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules. Following a specific enquiry, all the
Directors has confirmed that they have complied with the
Model Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2019.

When the Company is aware of any restricted period for
dealings in the Company’s securities, the Company will notify
its Directors in advance.
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(B)

Non-Competition Undertakings

The independent non-executive Directors have also reviewed
the confirmations given by Mr Chen Chang and Bournam,
being controlling shareholders of the Company, in respect
of each of their compliance with the non-competition
undertakings as disclosed in the prospectus of the Company
dated 28 January 2010. The independent non-executive
Directors are satisfied that the controlling shareholders
have fully complied with the terms of the non-competition
undertakings and no new competing business was reported
by the controlling shareholders throughout the year ended
31 December 2019.

Board Committees

The Board has established three committees, namely the
Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and Remuneration
Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the
Company’s affairs. All Board committees of the Company
are established with defined written terms of reference. The
terms of reference of the Board committees are posted on the

websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The majority of the members of each Board committee are
independent non-executive Directors.

Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to
discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are
able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at the Company’s expense.

Audit Committee

The audit committee of the Board (the “Audit Committee”)
consists of three independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr Chen Ping, Mr Au Yeung Kwong Wah (appointed on
1 October 2019) and Mr Tian Xiao Ren. Mr Au Yeung Kwong
Wah is the Chairman of the Audit Committee. The primary
duties of the Audit Committee are to review and supervise the
financial reporting process and the internal control and risk
management procedures and systems of our Group. The Audit
Committee has reviewed the Company’s audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019
and the condensed unaudited consolidated interim financial
statements for the six months ended 30 June 2019, including
the accounting principles and practices adopted by the
Company and the Group.

(B)
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The main duties of the Audit Committee include the following:

. To review the financial statements and reports and
consider any significant or unusual items raised by the
internal auditor or external auditors before submission to
the Board;

. To review the relationship with the external auditors
by reference to the work performed by the auditors,
their fees and terms of engagement, and make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
re-appointment and removal of external auditors; and

. To review the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Company’s financial reporting system, risk management
and internal control systems and associated procedures.

The Audit Committee held four meetings during the year
ended 31 December 2019, of which two meetings with
external auditors’ presence, and all members of the Audit
Committee attended all meetings. At the meetings, it reviewed
the financial reporting and compliance procedures, the report
of the internal auditor on the Company’s internal control
and risk management systems and processes, and the
re-appointment of the external auditors. No major issue on the
internal control system of the Group has been identified.

There were no material uncertainties or events or conditions
that might cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern at the end of 2019 and the date
of this report.

There was no disagreement between the Audit Committee
and the Directors in respect of matters about selection,

appointment, resignation or dismissal of an external auditor.

The Company had established a whistleblowing policy
and system for employees to raise concerns of possible
improprieties where all concerns are addressed to the Audit
Committee.

The Company’s annual results for the year ended
31 December 2019 and interim results for the six months
ended 30 June 2019 have been reviewed by the Audit
Committee.
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Nomination Committee

The Company recognises the benefits of a board that
compose of a balance of skills, experience, expertise
and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the business
development of the Company. The Board has adopted a
board diversity policy in 2013. The Board has reviewed
its composition and considered a number of aspects,
including gender, age, educational background, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service in
accordance with its board diversity policy. The Board consider
that the existing board composition is well diversified and
appropriate to the business development of the Company.

The Company established the Nomination Committee on
22 March 2012 in compliance with Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules. The Nomination Committee consists of three members,
namely Mr Chen Ping, Mr Tian Xiao Ren and Mr Chen Chang.
Mr Chen Ping is the chairman of the Nomination Committee.
The majority of them are independent non-executive Directors.

The primary functions of the Nomination Committee are
to review and monitor the structure, size and composition
(including the skills, knowledge and experience) of the
Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy and
make recommendations to the Board on matters relating
to the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and
succession planning for Directors, assess the independence
of independent non-executive Directors, and review the board
diversity policy and review the measurable objectives that the
Board has set for implementing the board diversity policy, and
the progress on achieving the objectives.

During the year and up to the date of the annual report,
the Nomination Committee has reviewed the composition
of the Board and made recommendations to the Board for
the re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for
the chairman, assessed the independence of independent
non-executive Directors and reviewed the board diversity
policy determined the policy for nomination of directors,
nomination procedure process and criteria to select and
recommend candidates.

The Nomination Committee held two meetings during the year
ended 31 December 2019 and all members of the Committee
attended the meetings.
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According to the Nomination Policy adopted by the Company,
appointments of Board members will be made on a merit
basis and candidates will be considered against objective
criteria. The selection criteria used in assessing the suitability
of a candidate include:

. the candidate’s academic background and qualifications
(including professional qualifications, skills and
knowledge which are relevant to the Company’s business
and corporate strategy);

. the candidate’s relevant experience in the industry;

. the candidate’s character and integrity;

. the candidate’s willingness and capacity to devote
adequate time in discharge of a director’s duties;

. whether the candidate can contribute to the Board a
diversity of perspectives, including but not limited to
gender, age, race, cultural and educational background,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service;

. (where the candidate is proposed to be appointed
as an independent non-executive Director) whether
the candidate is in compliance with the criteria of
independence under the Listing Rules; and

. any other factors as may be determined by the Board
from time to time.

In terms of nomination procedures, any Board member
may nominate or invite a candidate for appointment as a
Director to be considered by the Nomination Committee.
The Nomination Committee will then evaluate the personal
profile of the candidate based on the selection criteria set out
above, undertake due diligence in respect of such candidate
and make recommendation for the Board’s consideration
and approval. For nomination of independent non-executive
Director, the Nomination Committee will also assess the
candidate’s independence in accordance with the CG Code
and the Listing Rules. For re-appointment of retiring Directors,
the Nomination Committee will review the candidate’s overall
contribution and performance (including the candidate’s
attendance at Board committee meetings, Board meetings
and general meetings, his/her level of participation and
performance on the Board), and make recommendations
to the Board and shareholders for re-election at general
meetings.

— TN

REBEARXFRMOEERBR EFFNENEE
AR ABEERER RIBEBREES B EE
EFaRBENARE - AUFEEREANTELER
B

¢ BRAMBESRRAR(RERAAT
EBROERMABIARENR RERA
#)

c REANETEARZER:

c REAMMERBIE

- EEAETBRENMERRARBEFEIAE
TEEZBE:

- EEAECEHERESTSEMIRI@EZE
Bl BRETRRER  Fik - Bk XL
ERBEBER FELR W ARNMRBE
(B

g (BREAREZZERBIUIENTES)
HEGNHAELEMARATHEAZBLEL: &

© BEFETEEIEMEMEAMES-

miRREFME EAEFEREBATRANES
REAECTES UHRRZEGEF REE
HERRE DR TEREFGREANEAER
HZBEEAETRBAS URHEFSEZN
HENRZ - REBBUFNTESEM S A
ZEEMEREEEE AT R R LR R &
BANBYM - REFZEREEEMS RE
ZEERRIREANEBERERE (B8R
BALRFEFEZREER EF8aMRE
REg b,/ MH2EREREFTSRER)  URERE
BEFGMBRRRBRRRS LEEEE-

KIABAAREESEREGRLAT 73



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

SRERRE

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee consists of three members,
namely Mr Chen Ping, Mr Tian Xiao Ren and Mr Chen Chang.
Mr Tian Xiao Ren is the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee. The majority of them are independent

non-executive Directors.

The primary functions of the Remuneration Committee are
to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
of our Directors and senior management and determine
on behalf of the Board specific remuneration packages
and conditions of employment for our Directors and senior
management. Remuneration will be determined by reference
to the duties and level of responsibilities as well as market
practice and conditions. None of the Directors themselves

approve their own remuneration.

During the year and up to the date of the annual report,
the Remuneration Committee has reviewed the Group’s
remuneration policy, assessed the performance of executive
Directors and reviewed the remuneration package of
the executive Directors and senior management and
recommended to the Board on the remuneration packages of
the executive Directors and senior management.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, two meetings of
the Remuneration Committee were held and all members
attended the meetings.

Corporate Governance Function

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties of the Company. Terms of reference
adopted by the Board include the duties of the Board on
corporate governance functions to develop and review the
Group’s policies and practices on corporate governance, to
review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and the senior management
and to review the Group’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.
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(C)

-
=

N R

The attendance of individual members of the Board and other
Board Committees meetings for the financial year ended
31 December 2019 is set out in the table below:

AGM
BRREFAE
Executive Directors WES
Mr Chen Chang BRE &L
(Chairman of the Board) (EZF2FfE) 11
Ms Chen Zhao Nian BkERL 11
Ms Chen Zhao Hua RkELL 111
Independent Non-executive BUFATES
Directors
Mr Chen Ping BRF LA 10
Mr See Tak Wah BEEEE (RZT-NEF
(resigned on 1 October 2019)  +A—HET) 1N
Mr Tian Xiao Ren AEg%E 11
Mr Au Yeung Kwong Wah BIEEELE (RZZ-NF
(appointed on 1 October 2019) +A—HEZ ) N/A T A

Chairman of the Board had a meeting with the independent
non-executive Directors without the presence of other
Executive Directors (save as the chairman himself) during the
year ended 31 December 2019.

Accountability and Audit

Financial Reporting

The Board, supported by the chief financial officer and the
finance department of the Group, is responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements of the Company and
the Group. In the preparation of financial statements, IFRSs
have been adopted and the appropriate accounting policies
and statutory requirements have been consistently complied
with. The Board aims to present a clear and balanced
assessment of the Group’s performance in the annual and
interim reports to the shareholders, and make appropriate
disclosure and announcements in a timely manner.

HE_Z-NWF+_A=+—BLLMBFE &
EEhAMEEZEGRNELRERBEAHIIM
T

Meeting attended/held

HE/BTEE

Audit Nomination  Remuneration

Board Committee Committee Committee
Exg ENEEE REZEE ¥MzEe
6/6 N/A 13 2/2 212
6/6 N/A 1 F N/A T F N/A 1 F
516 N/A 1 F N/A 13 F N/A 1 F
6/6 4/4 212 212
515 313 N/A 1 F N/A 13 F
6/6 4/4 212 212
17 17 N/A i A N/A i A
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Directors’ Responsibility on the Financial Statements
The Directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation
of financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019
with a view to ensuring that such financial statements give
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and
of the results and cash flows for that period. The Company’s
accounts are prepared in accordance with all relevant
statutory requirements and suitable accounting standards.

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that appropriate
accounting policies are selected and applied consistently;
judgements and estimates made are prudent and reasonable;
and the financial statements are prepared on a going concern
basis.

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about
their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is
set out in the Independent Auditor's Report on pages 93 to
102 of this annual report.

Management had provided monthly updates to Directors for
giving a balanced and understandable assessment of the
Company’s performance, position and prospects to enable the
Directors to discharge their duties.

Independent Auditors

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the remuneration
paid or payable to the independent auditors, Ernst & Young,
for services rendered is broken down below:

Audit services ZH R TE
Others =i

EFHYBEHREHENL
EFXREREHE T -NFt_A=1t—HI
FREUBBENGER UBRRZSVHBREEER
D RERAREE B FHIR A R HIRA A R
RenE - ARRNEKENREBEABEBBEER
ENERGEARE -

EZRREREEN BEREESEEK F
HBEERAEMN ARG ARBBRSELE
AERRUMBEREK -

B A7 2 B) SNS A% BAM S5 70 B 5 B 7% K FR R
BEFENBRERN ANFERFEIZAE102H [HL
RBERE] -

ERBCMEZRUSARMEN BEARRAZ
KRR RRARATRERDER SRR
NEEREITHERE -

B EE
RBE-FT-NF+_A=+t—HLLFE M
RUEBRBENHENBLRZBE L KETMER
PSR AT -

2019
—g-n%
HKD’000
F7

2,380
2,480

Total =

4,860
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(D) Internal Controls

(E)

The Board has overall responsibilities for maintaining a
sound and effective internal control system of the Group. The
Company has an internal audit department to ensure effective
internal control system of the Group. The Group’s system
of internal control includes a defined management structure
with limits of authority, and is designed to help the Group
achieve its business objectives, safeguard its assets against
unauthorised use or disposition, ensure the maintenance
of proper accounting records for the provision of reliable
financial information for internal use or for publication, and
ensure compliance with relevant laws and regulations. The
system is designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute,
assurance against material misstatement or loss, and to
manage rather than eliminate risks of failure in the Group’s
operational systems and in the achievement of the Group’s
business objectives.

The Board has reviewed the internal audit report on
quarterly basis and assessed the effectiveness (according
to its magnitude and significance) of the Group’s internal
control system which covered all material controls, including
financial, operational and compliance controls as well as risk
management functions during the year ended 31 December
2019. No major issue was raised which may affect
shareholders.

The Company has internal procedures on reporting
and disseminating inside information and maintaining

confidentiality.

Company Secretary

The Board appoints its Company Secretary in accordance
with the Company’s Articles of Association and in compliance
with the requirements of the Listing Rules. Biographical
details of the current Company Secretary is set out in the
section headed “Directors and senior management” on page
36 to 46 of this annual report. The Company Secretary has
complied with the professional training requirement as set out
in the Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules during the year ended
31 December 2019.
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(F) Shareholders’ Rights (F) BERREF

The Board welcomes shareholders to present their views
and shareholders may at any time submit their questions
and concerns about the Group. Enquiries may be put to the
Board by contacting the Company Secretary through our
shareholders’ email at ir@zhujiang.com.hk. Shareholder(s)
holding not less than one-tenth of Company’s paid-up capital
may request the Board to convene an extraordinary general
meeting. The objects of the meeting must be stated in the
related requisition deposited at the Company’s registered
office and addressing to the Company Secretary at the
Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong. The
extraordinary general meeting will be held within 2 months
after the deposition of such requisition.

Procedures for a shareholder to propose a person
for election as a Director

Subject to the laws and the provisions of the Company’s
Articles of Association, the Company may from time to time
in general meeting by ordinary resolution elect any person to
be a Director either to fill a casual vacancy or as an additional
Director. A shareholder may propose a person for election as
a Director by lodging the following documents to the Board
or Company Secretary at our Hong Kong office at Room
1, 15/F., Tower 3, China Hong Kong City, 33 Canton Road,
Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong: 1) a notice in writing
of the intention to propose that person (with full name and
biographical details as required by Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing
Rules) for election as a Director; and 2) a notice in writing
by that person of his willingness to be elected as a Director.
Such notices shall be lodged at least 7 clear days before the
date of the general meeting and the period for lodgement of
such notices shall commence no earlier than the day after the
dispatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed for
such election and shall be at least 7 clear days in length.

To safeguard shareholder interests and rights, a separate
resolution is proposed for each substantial separate issue
at shareholder meetings, including the election of individual
Directors.

All resolutions put forward at shareholder meetings will be
voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results
will be posted on the websites of the Company and of the
Stock Exchange after each shareholder meeting.
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(G) REEMARERRNER

(G) Investor Relations and Communication With

Shareholders

The Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investor understanding of the Group’s business performance
and strategies. The Company also recognises the importance
of transparency and timely disclosure of corporate information,
which will enable shareholders and investors to make the best

investment decisions.

To promote effective communication, the Company maintains
a website at http://www.pck.com.cn or http://pck.todayir.com,
where up-to-date information and updates on the Company’s
business operations and developments, financial information,
corporate governance practices and other information are
posted. A shareholder communication policy is in place to
ensure that shareholders are provided with ready, equal and
timely access to information of the Company. The policy is
available on the Company’s website.

The Company endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue
with its shareholders and in particular, through AGMs or other
general meetings to communicate with the shareholders.
Shareholders are encouraged to participate in general
meetings or to appoint proxies to attend and vote at meetings
for and on their behalf. The chairman of the Board as well as
the chairman of the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee
and Remuneration Committee will make themselves available
at the AGM to meet with the shareholders.

The forthcoming AGM of the Company will be held on
Thursday, 18 June 2020. The notice of AGM will be sent to
shareholders at least 20 clear business days before the AGM.

The Company attended conferences, roadshows and media
interviews to keep the Shareholders and potential investors
informed of the latest development of the Group. The head
of investor relation will be the primary contact point for
communications with investors and analysts.

The Company will continue to maintain an open and effective
investor communication policy and to update investors on
relevant information on the Group’s business in a timely
manner, subject to relevant regulatory requirements.
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Memorandum and Articles of Association

There was no change in the constitutional documents of
the Company during the year. The latest version of the
Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company is
posted on the Company’s website.

2019 Annual General Meeting

The Board is committed to the constructive use of the AGM
as a forum to meet shareholders. The chairman of the Board
and the chairmans of the Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee and the external
auditors attended the 2019 AGM.

At the 2019 AGM, the Company proposed separate
resolutions on the issues considered. Resolutions passed
at the 2019 AGM were as follows: (i) received the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2018 together with the reports of the Directors
and auditors of the Company; (ii) re-elected Mr Chen Chang
as executive Director, Mr Chen Ping and Mr See Tak Wah
as independent non-executive Directors and authorised the
Board to fix the Directors’ remuneration; (iii) reappointed
Ernst & Young as auditors of the Company and authorised
the Directors to fix its remuneration; (iv) approved a general
mandate for the Directors to allot and issue of new shares
of an amount not exceeding 20 per cent of the issued share
capital of the Company as at the date of the 2019 AGM; (v)
approved a general mandate for the Directors to repurchase
shares of an amount not exceeding 10 per cent of the
aggregate nominal amount of the Company’s issued share
capital as at the date of the 2019 AGM; (vi) extended the
general mandate granted to the Directors of the Company
to allot, issue, and deal with additional shares in the share
capital of the Company by an amount not exceeding the
amount of the shares repurchased by the Company. All
resolutions were passed by way of a poll conducted by the
Company’s registrar. The poll voting results of the 2019 AGM
were available on the Company’s website.
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(H)

U

The 2020 annual general meeting (2020 AGM”) of the
Company will be held at Portion 2, 12/F., The Center, 99
Queen’s Road Central,
2020 at 10:30 a.m.

Hong Kong on Thursday, 18 June

All Shareholders are encouraged to attend the 2020 AGM and
exercise their rights to vote. Shareholders are invited to ask
questions relating to the business of the meeting. Details of
the resolutions to be considered in the 2020 AGM will be set
out in a circular to be sent out to the Shareholders together
with the 2019 annual report.

Others

Share Interests of Senior Management

As confirmed with the senior management of the Company,
they did not hold shares of the Company as at 31 December
2019.

Sufficiency of Public Float
The Company has maintained the prescribed public float
under the Listing Rules as at 31 December 2019.

Dividend Policy
In order to enhance transparency of the Company and
facilitate the shareholders of the Company and investors to
make informed investment decisions relating to the Company,
the Board adopted a dividend policy on 28 March 2019
(“Dividend Policy”).

According to the Dividend Policy, when determining whether
to declare any dividend in the future and the amount of
dividend to be declared, the Company shall consider a

number of factors, including but not limited to:
. the Group’s actual and expected financial results;
. the general economic conditions and other internal or

external factors that may have an impact on the business
or financial performance and position of the Company;
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. the Company’s business operation strategy, including
expected working capital requirements, capital
expenditure requirements and future expansion plans;

. the Company’s liquidity position;

. retained earnings and distributable profit reserves of the
Company;

e the contractual restrictions on the payment of dividends
imposed by the Company’s lenders and other institutions;
and

o any other factors that the Board considers to be
applicable from time to time.

The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend
distribution proportion or distribution ratio. The declaration,
payment and amount of dividends will be subject to the
Board’s discretion. The Board will review the Dividend Policy
on a regular basis.
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The Group cares about the community and adheres to an
ingrained culture of fulfilling its social responsibilities by giving a
much-needed boost to the environment in Guangdong Province,
China and other regions in which it operates.

This session is prepared in accordance with Appendix 27
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG
Guide”) of the Listing Rules. The Board is pleased to present our
performance and progress on the environmental and social aspects
from 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2019.

This ESG session would separate into two subject areas-(A)
environmental and (B) social and each subject area included
relevant aspects as follow:

A. ENVIRONMENTAL

A.1 Emissions
Carbon Dioxide Emissions
The Group has been focusing on minimizing emission of
pollutants and waste such as carbon dioxide and packaging
materials in order to efficiently consume resources and to
comply with relevant laws.

For the energy indirect emissions, the Greenhouse gases
(GHG) emissions associated with the electricity purchase in
PRC are provided by the relevant provider of electricity.

Emission factor

HHETF

Industry’s region
TEHE

Electricity supplied by China
REHENE

0.63 kg/unit (kWh)

The Group would consume electricity for lighting the
manufacturing bases powering the equipment and
machineries. Therefore, carbon dioxide or green gas would be
indirectly produced when the Group consumes electricity. The
Group has implemented the policies to reduce the emission of
the carbon dioxide as follow:

1) The design of new factory in Lianyungang and Zhuhai

is allowing more natural light and ventilation in order to

reduce use of electricity;
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A.2

A.3

2) The light and equipment would be turned off during
luncheon rest time.

Waste management

The Group remains focused on environmental protection
and complied with local legislation and standards for
environmental protection, e.g. Environmental Protection of
the People’s Republic of China Prevention (/B A R X F1[E]
EIE (R %) , Control of Atmospheric Pollution {f % A R 4
MBI KG@5 28 87%) . Our production bases are featured
with high-end sewage treatment equipment. Sewage will be
treated before recycling and discharge.

Use of Resources

The major resources used by the Group relates to electricity,
water and petrol. The Group aims at and has been reducing
consumption of various resources. Resources consumption by
the Group during the year is listed in the table below:

Resources Consumption

BERHE

Electricity consumption
Water consumption
K

Petrol

b

The Company will assess on staff to reduce the environment
impact from the major resources.

The Environmental and Natural Resources

The Group endeavors to calculate the amount of materials
needed for our production based on the principle of minimizing
surplus materials. In addition, the Group puts in place a scrap
metal recycling mechanism to sell the wasted steel produced
in our process of production to recycling companies.
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SOCIAL

Employment

The Group has committed in cultivating a good workplace
practice free from discrimination and providing equal
opportunities for all regardless of age, gender, race, colour,
sexual orientation, disability or marital status to increase
employee satisfaction.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had 1,162 (2018:1,110)
employees.

General administration
and others

—ARATER R EoA
25%

Procurement
REE
2% R&D
iz
0%
Quality control ————
B Finance
4% B 15
2%
Sales and marketing
HHE RIS HE
4%

The Group has also adopted principles in hiring new
employees regardless of colour, religion, gender, nationality,
race for selection, hiring, training, compensation and
promotion.

The Group has complied with the Labour Law of the People’s
Republic of China (R #E AR £ MEI &)%) |, Labour Contract
Law of People’s Republic of China (FZE AR KB L E 4 [
7%) and other relevant laws.
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B.2

Our employment contract specified the terms including
compensation and dismissal, working hours, rest periods and
other benefits and welfare of our staff. The Group’s employee
handbook distributed to employees also includes information
of policies on compensation and dismissal, employment
benefits, rights on termination, business conduct and leave

benefits.

Health and Safety

The Group has complied with the laws and regulations
and adopted the Health Safety and Environmental (“HSE”)
management policy, in an effort to prevent pollution, to ensure
people’s health and safety, and to promote sustainable
development. Our target is to achieve zero accidents, zero
injuries and zero losses in order to meet the international HSE
management standard.

The Group’s employees reside in the neighbourhood areas.
Within our plant zone, there are gardening landscape, fish
ponds and recreational facilities, which offer a comfortable
environment and a sports ground for our employees.

Occupational Safety

We have adopted the HSE risk identification, risk assessment
and control procedures to manage our occupational safety
risk. The Group’s management is responsible for organising
periodic risk identification and evaluation exercises, and
is responsible for sorting, aggregation and distribution of
relevant information, which includes the identification of risk
factors for occupational safety and health, risk assessment on
operating conditions, possibility of accidents, the formulation
of operational control procedures, contingency plans, safety
level standards, as well as training and education issues.

The Group has kept records and documents relating to risk
management, including the “Control procedures of the new,
rebuilding and extension projects”, “Risk sources identification
and risk evaluation form” and “List of major risks” for staff
reference.

The Group always finds great importance in occupational
In 2019,
the Group hosted trainings and rehearsals in productions

safety and regularly provides training for staff.

bases for fire alert, so as to enhance safety awareness
and emergency response, and held hazards identification
programs and assemblies of risk management activities.

B.2
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B.3 Development and Training B.3 &R RZI

Staff Development and Training

Through meetings, trainings and notifications on notice
board, the Group promotes its safety philosophy and amiable
working environment among various departments and teams.
We offer our employees access to learning and understanding
about the Group, so that each employee and contractors
of the Group or visitors can recognize their responsibilities
and obligations in the aspect of improving the environment
and enhancing occupational health and safety performance.
We make great efforts on improving the environment and
occupational safety.

Our adherence to the HSE management policy is a testimony
of the greatest commitment of the Group towards environment
and occupational health and safety. This policy is available
for review by employees at any time. In the year, the Group
further improved site management standards, achieved the
goal of dedicated management, and further promoted the 6S
management model in the Company. Project meetings were
kicked off in the production sites of Zhuhai and Lianyungang.

The Group endeavours to enhance the skills of each
employee in various aspects by providing staff trainings,
which include the “Weekly Star” and “Weekly Talk”. A wide
array of training courses is provided for employees to
strengthen their work-related knowledge and skills. Also, the
Group hosted an “advanced employee’s election”, whereby
each of the employees obtaining a certificate of honorary was
offered an outdoor training opportunity. To enable excellent
employees to take up management positions and to bolster
our team’s management capabilities, the Company also
organised the “team leader for production and management
training” courses during the year.

The Group has set up a labour union to further promote
spiritual positive energy with various social activities.
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B.4

To reinforce the employees’ sense of belongings to the Group,
a wide range of sport events are provided by the Group for its
employees every year, including basketball and table tennis
contests and a game of tug-of-war, etc. In addition, we have
provided activities that are of educational significance and
served to enhance the work performance of our employees,

» o«

including the “Business Oral English”, “Training and Assembly

for Fire”, “Sales Training”, “Joint Training and Team Building
Program for Financial Department”, and “Annual Sales
Meeting”, etc. The Zhuhai Company of the Group also
held the third quarter award ceremony of “Set an example
around you and consolidate the strength of the Company”.
The Company honored the advanced teams and individuals
emerging from various functions with great ceremony, and
called on all employees to learn from such advanced teams
and individuals. The Zhuhai Company also organized a warm
spring trip for the 8th March Women’s Day.

We encourage our employees to take an active part in local
community activities, including the “Green Enterprise Cup”
Table Tennis and Badminton Tournament of Panyu District
Youth Entrepreneur Association and the private enterprises
working concern group activities. Various events were held,
including the second “We Are Family-PCK" friendly wall
donation, the hike of female employees for the 8th March
International Women’s Day, the Lantern Festival Fair jointly
held by the Lianyungang base of Chu Kong Steel Pipe and
the Community Workstation of the Neighborhood Center of
Xuwei New Area, and the employee-oriented “1st May Caring
Show” organized by the Artistic Association of Zhuhai Trade
Union.

Labour Standards

The Group has complied with the Labour Law of the People’s
Republic of China (% A R £ FE 4 &%) , Labour Contract
Law of People’s Republic of China {(FZFE AR LFE L EHE R
7% ) and other relevant laws. The Group has not employed
any staff aged under 16.

Staff Code

The staff code of the Group is prepared based on the PRC
labour law and is in line with the national standards of
the PRC. The Group has also been providing its staff with
guidance in accordance with the national legislation.

B.4
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B.5

B.6

Supply Chain Management

The Group has maintained proven track records of high
production efficiency and timely delivery. We have established
deep and cordial relationships with our suppliers. The
Group keeps a list of qualified suppliers, whose appraisal is
based on their track record of compliance with international
standards and the Group’s past cooperation relationship
with them. To improve logistics efficiency, the Company has
established a self-operated wharf in the Zhuhai production
base and formed a joint venture company to construct and
operate a port in Lianyungang production base for the delivery
of steel products and the receipt of raw materials.

Product Responsibility

Product quality

With its state-of-art technology, equipment, management and
well-established reputation, the Group is dedicated to the
provision of high-quality products and services that satisfy
customers’ needs. Our product quality has met a number
of international standards. We are also the only domestic
welded steel pipe manufacturer being granted five national
honors, namely the “Superior Quality Award for Actual
Quality of Metallurgical Products”, “Gold Cup Prize for Actual
Quality of Metallurgical Products”, “High and New Technology
Enterprise”, “National Recognized Enterprise Technology
Center”, and National Key New Products and hosts a
“Academician Workstation”. We are the main drafter of the
national standard for longitudinal welded steel pipes in China.
Meanwhile, with the setting up of the “Post-doctoral Research
Station” and “Academician Workstation”, the Company
strives to further enhance its product quality and extends the
application of its products.
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B.7

The Group strictly upholds the 1ISO9001 quality management
system. With the use of advanced testing equipment, and the
conduct of on-line and off-line testing as well as mechanical
and chemical properties testing, we inspect the products at
each production process stage in accordance with the best
product quality requirements through a myriad of tests, such
as steel ultrasonic testing, ultrasonic welding detection, weld
X-ray inspection system, hydrostatic testing and flattening
test. Upon obtaining post-test data, we will make a rigorous
analysis on product quality, so as to ensure that each product
meets customer requirements. We have built a testing
center in compliance with the national standards, and the
center has been recognised by China National Accreditation
Service for Conformity Assessment (CNAS). The Group’s
testing center is equipped with a wide variety of laboratory
equipment, including universal materials testing machine, low
temperature impact material testing machine, drop weight
tear test (DWTT) machine, hydrogen induced cracking (HIC)
testing, sulfide stress corrosion cracking (SSC), crack tip
opening displacement (CTOD) test, computer-controlled
chemical composition vacuum direct reading spectrometer
and microscope. Achieving six standards, our measuring
chamber has passed through the ISO10012: 2003 AAA
measurement management system certification. This proves
that our measuring instruments are of high qualification
and effectiveness. The Group’s testing centre has passed
the “National safety quality standardisation” and obtained
the “TUV SUD Metal Materials Laboratory Accreditation
Certificate”. Our products, an unfailing symbol of quality,
are blessed with unparalleled reputation in the international
market under the “PCK” brand.

Anti-corruption

The operation of various departments of the Group is in
compliance with legal regulations and legislations. We
have established a whistle blowing policy, which enables
our employees to express their views to the management
anonymously.
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B.8 Community Investment B.8 HtERE
Contribution to the Community [E]gg# B
The Group has been playing an active role in charitable AEE-—ERGLETBHEREERREMER
activities in Panyu, Guangdong Province, China and other @ ANES E%U AR - F R REIRET
regions in which we operate. During the year, with the BH%E XEBEREBELTY EEEMNTH
organisation of a couple of educational, sports, cultural e ”&%Wl\ HEMBEZ T REHTER-
and charitable activities, we promoted the exuberance TEEBIE

of Guangzhou City, thus enhancing foreign interest in
Guangzhou and fostering urban development. These activities

included:

«  Sponsoring Panyu District “PCK Cup” 1st, 2nd and 3rd . EPFEERIUMAMNIE— — ZEEEI
Table Tennis Contest &

«  Sponsoring Zhujiang “PCK Cup” 1st and 2nd World Go . EBPIHKENRIEF— —EERAEHEER
Team Championships =y

«  Sponsoring “Golden Dragon City Cup” 1st and 2nd . EBRISEEMN]FEF— ZEEAE

Dragon Boats Championships

«  Sponsoring the 9th Table Tennis Competition of “Mayor’s - EBEDHEMNMEAEIMENA]IEEXAHR
Cup” of Guangzhou P10 5

«  Exclusively supporting the 2nd National Calligraphy s BEXFIRFZF_RBRELAGEERELE
Poster Exhibition and Invited Exhibition, to promote the BREMEEREN EARKXE -
art of calligraphy and inherit national cultures.

In addition, the Group also participated in the assessment by SON RE BTN HET 2 B MR E

the government and other organisations. During the year, we EFRINEE:

participated in:

+  Supporting the events related to Chinese Bonsai Art s XHFEHEIESARSHARPERREME
organized by the Flower Bonsai Society of China E

+ Supporting the events organized by Baiyue Art s IREEEAHBMHBHEED

Association of Panyu District

—NFFERS RIAMAARMEZRERLF
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. “Panyu District Mayor Quality Award Assessment
Management Approach” granted with the Quality Award
by the provincial government

. “Guangdong Enterprise with integrity”

The Group has also encouraged its employees to actively
participate in community activities in Guangdong Province,
including:

. Participating the seventh “Guangzhou’s Mayor Cup” for
table tennis tournament sponsored by Chu Kong Steel
Pipe Group

C Joining the photographic contest arranged by the district

. Participating the “Charity Hiking” activity arranged by the
City of Guangzhou

. Arranging a “Paternity Day” on the Nation’s Day

. Arranging the “Mid-Autumn Celebration” activity

. Joining the “International Dragon Boat” competition
arranged by the City of Guangzhou

. Participating in the Charity Projects of Guangzhou
Association of Women Entrepreneurs

. Participating in the poverty alleviation activities organized
by Guangzhou Federation of Industry and Commerce,
Guangzhou Women's Federation, Guangzhou
Association Of Women Entrepreneurs and District
Federation of Industry and Commerce

. Participating in the poverty alleviation projects organized
by Guangdong Women And Children’s Foundation,
Guangzhou Women’s Federation and Guangzhou
Association Of Women Entrepreneurs

Charity Fund

In April 2013, the Group established a charitable fund, named
as the “Chu Kong Steel Pipe Group Co., Ltd. — Blessing
Charity Fund”, aiming to improve the living environment of
single mothers and orphans and assisting single mothers for
seeking job.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B AR

/l Ernst & Young

22/F CITIC Tower

1 Tim Mei Avenue, Central

Hong Kong

Tel: +852 2846 9888
§i Fax: +852 2868 4432

www.ey.com

To the shareholders of Chu Kong Petroleum and Natural Gas
Steel Pipe Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Chu
Kong Petroleum and Natural Gas Steel Pipe Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages
103 to 246, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2019, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2019, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (the “IASB”) and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to note 2.1 to the consolidated financial
statements, which indicates that the Group incurred a net loss
of RMB142,089,000 during the year ended 31 December 2019.
As at 31 December 2019, the Group recorded net current assets
of RMB140,628,000, included therein were the bank and other
borrowings of RMB1,116,889,000 and fixed rate bonds and notes
of RMB170,404,000 which were due for repayment or renewal
within the next twelve months after 31 December 2019. As stated
in note 2.1, these events or conditions, along with other matters
as set forth in note 2.1, indicate that a material uncertainty exists
that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this
matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. In addition
to the matter described in the Material uncertainty related to going
concern section, we have determined the matters described below
to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our report.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our
audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks
of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements.
The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures
performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for
our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.
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Key audit matter

BREREHR

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

YE B RRERE

As at 31 December 2019, the Group recorded property, plant
and equipment with a net book value of RMB2,604,239,000,
among which RMB2,600,943,000 represented property, plant
and equipment of the steel pipes segment. During the year,
the steel pipes segment recorded a loss of RMB341,190,000
which indicated possible impairment for the non-current assets
included in the steel pipes segment.
RZE-NEF+ZA=+—H8 E5EHEDE BEERRER
HFE A ARM2604,239,0007T - H+ A R #2,600,943,0007T
RFESH2DE BELRE-FR HEDHTHEBEEAR
#341,190,0007T - BRI E D E 2 IEMBNE E AT AL H R IRE -

Management estimated the recoverable amounts of these
property, plant and equipment using the value-in-use model.
The estimated value in use was dependent on management’s
determination on the Group’s future events and its measures
to improve its efficiency of cash flow management,
macroeconomic assumptions about future demands of steel
pipe products, the discount rate and exchange rates as well
as the production levels and operating costs. These estimates
were particularly significant due to the uncertain economic
outlook, product price volatility, forecasted future production
and market demand. The outcome of impairment assessment
can vary significantly when different assumptions are applied.
A@F%%ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁmﬁ#&#%% B KFREN R OIS
oAt AEBEERARNEREHESEBARRENRBEERS
mEEE&$ZEMnﬁ%mE$m$Xﬁ*Zt§%EF“
MIRERERUAREEKRKFREERNRNZIRE -AREER S
Eﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ\ﬁﬂ%ﬂi%&ﬁE$*$$i~a%%ﬁtﬁ
OB AERTEERERTRREMEXNBEEEZR -

Relevant disclosures are included in note 3 “Significant
Accounting Judgements and Estimates” and note 13 “Property,
Plant and Equipment” to the financial statements.
BRBBEHNMBRAMEI [EEgHE KA RHFE13
Z I BEREE] -

—NEEERE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EENERNMTEERRERSR

We performed the following procedures to address this
matter:
EEEHITU TR ARR IR RE

Reviewed management’s impairment assessment by
comparing the carrying values of the property, plant
and equipment and their value in use, evaluated the
assumptions and methodologies (long-term growth
rate, budgeted prices based on the market trend
and budgeted sales quantity based on the existing
production capacity) adopted by management;
FERUEBYE BEEAXE RAEREERER &
BEEE  RMETE FEEREERACBRRERTE (R
HERE ERMEBRET v HEERREARKRAE
BRETECEEE)

Involved our valuation specialists to assist us in
evaluating the discount rate and the methodology used
in the calculation of the value in use;
BRELEERBYE SN HIBE XL
74

BEREEZS

Evaluated the data used in management’s forecast by
reference to any committed future events and business
development plan which may impact the projected
cash flows;
2EMARTEEFRSRENTAEABRREGRED
BRsE AHMEERERRAFARAZE8E:

Evaluated the projected cash flows with reference to
the sales orders on hand, industry trend, market index,
latest operating costs incurred; and
DERGHEE TEBY TIHEH FAEENS
EEKA FIMEREFREERE R

Performed sensitivity analysis to determine whether
any change in significant input would give significant
impact on the estimates.

ETHRESN UEEEAMERE ABBNE
HEFAELEEATE-
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Key audit matter

BREREHE

Impairment of trade receivables

B ENIFRZZ B E

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had trade receivables of
RMB422,936,000, of which RMB19,434,000 was provided for
impairment.

RIZBE-NE+TA=+—RH EXEEEEIREERARE
422,936,0007T - E R A R #19,434,0007T B 1 L 5 (B B 5 -

The calculation of the expected credit losses (“ECLs”) for
trade receivables, including the assessment of the historical
observed default rates and forecast economic conditions
involves significant management judgements and estimates.
HAEESRUWERRCEBEEFR ([RPEEBE]) (BT
EREERINENETRFAUAKERR) PRERNEREH
i M ffi 5t o

Specific factors which management would consider include
the ageing of the balances, past collection history and
other available information related to the forecast economic
conditions. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in
circumstances and forecast economic conditions.
EEEEENABARBEAKRKR BEERCHEARERFD
HEBBEASERGENEN -BHEEBREZ 2 FHREE(L
Ko RS B R AT BUR B

Relevant disclosures are included in note 3 “Significant
Accounting Judgements and Estimates” and note 22 “Trade
and Bills Receivables” to the financial statements.
BRARBEBHN B RERME3 [EE G HE R b K22
2 BSRERBIRERRERERE] -

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EENERNMTEERRERSR

We performed the following procedures to address this
matter:
EEEMITUTEF AR ILERE:

. Assessed the Group’s internal controls over the
credit control of trade receivables and recalculated
the provision matrix of ECLs to check mathematic
accuracy;

e HEESEEHZESERKEREEER 2B wE
Mt ERMEEER 2 BERE AEEB BT H AR
M

<

. Reviewed the credit terms and historical payment
patterns of different categories of the customers to
assess the groupings of customer segments with
similar loss patterns;

- RATRABENEFHNEEGRREBESMNER AT
BERUBERAERSH 294

. Examined the underlying data used in the provision
matrix by checking to the corresponding ageing,
historical repayment records and subsequent
settlements on a sampling basis; and

- FERBERESHEENRER BTERESEREELE
EERBEREMRANEBEE: &

. Assessed the forward-looking adjustments by
analysing the deviation between forward-looking
factors and the Group’s historical default rate.

e BRESTHRUEZEREEEBREENXZHNGEE
AT -
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Key audit matter

BREREHR

Deferred tax assets
BEALHIHE E

As at 31 December 2019, the balance of deferred tax assets of
the Group was RMB210,943,000.

RZZE-NFF+ZA=+—H ESBEERCHEEERTEAAR
#210,943,0007C °

As set out in note 20 to the financial statements, the recognition
of deferred tax assets related to tax losses of a subsidiary of
the Group which held a piece of land in Mainland China.

AN SRR FI20FTE BMRMBEERBEENLEEEET —
FMBARIMNBIEEIEEM ZMBARFAERE A —EHhSE -

Based on the redevelopment plan announced by the
relevant government, management expected that significant
taxable income will arise which could utilise certain of the
subsidiary’s tax losses carried forward from the previous years.
Management estimated the likelihood of the realisation of these
deferred tax assets by evaluating the duration which allows tax
losses of different years to be utilised before they will expire.
BBERFEBNAMONERZNE EREERASELEETERNERTK
AN WRAERABEFEAENMNBATNSE THIEBE BIRE
FHBAE AR NRFENRIAEE R R A 2 AT AR ERH
A EFRZERTEREEEN AT -

We focused on this area because of the inherent uncertainties
involved in forecasting future taxable income.

EE@TZES FZHRBERARRERBTKRA L REE T #
R

Relevant disclosures are included in note 3 “Significant
Accounting Judgements and Estimates” and note 20 “Deferred
Tax” to the financial statements.

ERARBEHENVERRMESZ [E2 G HE K] RKTE20
Z TEERIA

— TN

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EENERNMTEERRERSR

We performed the following procedures to address this
matter:
EEEHITU TR ARRR LRI RE

. Examined whether the land held by the subsidiary of
the Group was subject to redevelopment as set out in
the relevant published government document to check
the future taxable income to arise;

- HEESENBARBANTHESRRBEBINR
MXHEITER RS E LR RERTA

. Checked the available tax losses carried forward by
the subsidiary and inspected the respective expiry
dates of these tax losses by checking to the relevant
communication from the tax authorities;

. REMBRARGEHENATRARERE UTEBREHBEH
HEREBRN REZEHEBENEREIHE

. Obtained management’s estimation of the taxable
income in future periods and the estimated tax losses
which could likely be utilised before they will expire;
and

o BEISEIEE YR K AR RE AR WA BV 5 LA K FT B AE B
HiRIE A AT R R R

. Involved our internal tax expert to evaluate, under the
prevailing tax rules, whether the subsidiary is entitled
to utilise its available tax losses when the estimated
future taxable income arises.

- BRFREENANIBBERBBERITH ARG B
NRAREBBEEMGFORKERT W AEEREREA
AHRIEEE-

BIRMARRMEZRERAT 97



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

18 M % B R

Key audit matter

BREREHE

Estimation of fair value of investment properties

REYREZ XN FlEEG

The Group has commercial properties located in Mainland
China. Such investment properties were measured at fair
value and their carrying amounts were RMB407,000,000 as at
31 December 2019.
EEERTBEAENRAYE - ZREMER_ZT—NFT A
=+ —BEAFEE  HREERAKE407,000,0007T

Significant estimates and judgements are required by
management to determine the fair value of the investment
properties. To support management’s determination of the
fair value, the Group engaged an external valuer to perform
the valuation on the investment properties at the end of the
reporting period.
EREREFLERGIRAGANEERENENATE BX
HEBEREATE EXENREARZTEINLEMHIKRE
MEEITIEE

Relevant disclosures are included in note 3 “Significant
Accounting Judgements and Estimates”, note 16 “Investment
Property” to the financial statements.

EHABBEHN M BRIz EE G 26 RfbhE]  H5E16
ZEME] -

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EENERNMTEERRERSR

We performed the following procedures to address this
matter:

FEEEHRITIA TR 7 ABR UL R

. Evaluated the objectivity, independence and
competency of the external valuer engaged by the
Group; and

e HEESEMBEFZIIBEEMOHETSE BUMLE
R

. Involved our internal valuation specialists to assist
us in assessing the methodologies and assumptions
adopted in the valuation for estimating the fair value of
the investment properties and performed benchmarking
of the market value of the investment properties held
by the Group to other comparable properties.

s HEANNEEER BHEESTLEEREMELTE
RAARAN T ERRR THEEBFANKREVED
BEERAEMA BB EETEELR -
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liguidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee

in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our report is
made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

g Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,

or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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«  Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the s HEFHARBECESTERMNBEHEDER -
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit WIREBEFMEHNEREE AEREFEEEHK
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists BREBNERTEEE MAkYEEEEE
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt KENRENBERNERRE - NRESERR/GFEE
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we ANIAREEN BN EEZHMBETIRBFA
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to EHEFEGEEMBRERTNEEREEN RESR
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures ?ﬁﬁééﬁﬂ?\ﬁ A ESALAEEREERN
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures ZHMBE EENEREERNBEZEAMERS
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are H JJ:FfrHX E’J%V BBERM RREHHIBR
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our BHESEE T EEFELE-

auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

«  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the - BV BBREROBREI BN AERAD
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, PREBEEEMN URGEMBREEET AL RE
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent HAXSKREHE-

the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

«  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the s BESEERNEBKIINUGEERENTS
financial information of the entities or business activities HEMEZRE NHGEEMBREERER-
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated EZEEERE EERNTEEER - BEEHE
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, BEREEEHEE-
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other EEHERLZEQEBIEEREER HHETH &

matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant REZEREEE RDESSENEZHBMAEH A

audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal PRSI B E T E R ERE
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we ENMEZZEGREIEN HAEZSEHEEH
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding ﬁil&ﬁ’ﬁﬁfﬂﬁ%%ﬁﬁ WELRF BB E 6B E
independence and to communicate with them all relationships WZ%A S EBEEBEMBERREMEIE AR (M
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our ) MR b # 5 it o

independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

—NEFERE BIRmmAAGMEERERAT 101



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

18 M % B R

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Hui Kin Fai, Stephen.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

30 March 2020
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

Year ended 31 December 2019 &2 —ZT—hF+-_A=+—HILFE

2019 2018
—E-hF —E-N\F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

ik=s ARBTR ARETT

REVENUE A 5 1,193,961 1,681,566
Cost of sales SHE AR (981,769) (1,358,041)
Gross profit EF 212,192 323,525
Other income and gains PN 5 441,747 81,579
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHEAX (55,821) (63,744)
Administrative expenses THREA (336,042) (437,020)
Exchange gain, net FE 5 WS B8 23,528 16,241
Finance costs Bl & B AR 8 (450,058) (374,468)
Fair value gain on investment properties KEMEZ R FEKR 16 78,008 21,779
Fair value gain/(loss) on a derivative fTEeMIAZAFERR (EE)

financial instrument 31 19,260 (22,984)
Other expenses HtER 6 (69,388) (93,432)
Share of loss of a joint venture B —MAERRER 19 (18,655) (2,724)
LOSS BEFORE TAX FRELATE R 7 (155,229) (551,248)
Income tax credit FE/RER 1 13,140 52,313
LOSS FOR THE YEAR REEEE (142,089) (498,935)
Attributable to: AT AL AR

Owners of the parent ISYNEIETFS PN (138,888) (498,813)

Non-controlling interests FEIERR (3,201) (122)

(142,089) (498,935)

LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO BATEBEREAEEA

ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF EEERESE
THE PARENT
RMB RMB
AR AR
Basic and diluted BEARREE 12 (0.14) T (0.49) 7T
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

meEEZHEWAXR

Year ended 31 December 2019 &#iZ—Z—hF+-_A=+—HILFE

2019 2018
—E-hE —N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBT R ARBFT
LOSS FOR THE YEAR KEEEE (142,089) (498,935)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS Hth2HEER
Other comprehensive loss that FRE B B fE] A 58 2 %7 77 20 2 18 75 A1
may be reclassified to profit or loss Hi 2 EEE -
in subsequent periods:
Exchange differences on translation of MEIINEXEBEENENY 58
foreign operations (26,494) (134,589)
Net other comprehensive loss that REERRTEEN S BEERN
may be reclassified to profit or loss Ht2mEBFE
in subsequent periods (26,494) (134,589)
Other comprehensive income that will not be REBEHRIKTEN»BERERN
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods: E fi 2 M Uk # :
Exchange differences on translation of RARRMBHRERMEZINEEEED
the Company’s financial statements into fENZ5
presentation currency 5,171 17,732
Net other comprehensive income that will not be REERRRTENSBEEEEN
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods  Hth & [ Ui %5 % 58 5,171 17,732
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FANMKRBERAMEEER
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX (21,323) (116,857)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE YEAR R ZHEEBHAE (163,412) (615,792)
Attributable to: BT AT
Owners of the parent ISI/NSIEREWN (160,211) (615,670)
Non-controlling interests FEE R = (3,201) (122)
(163,412) (615,792)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e BRI R

31 December 2019 —Z—hG&+-A=+—H

2019 2018
—E-NF —T—)\F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 ARBT ARBF T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - WEREE 13 2,604,239 2,805,810
Investment properties REMEHE 16 407,000 1,160,000
Right-of-use assets FPREEE 18 1,114,551 =
Long term prepayments and deposits REBNRBERES 17 85,975 111,320
Prepaid land lease payments B tHEE 18 - 1,087,394
Investment in a joint venture R—EEERRIZEKRE 19 13,177 31,832
Deferred tax assets RERTEE E 20 210,943 161,600
Pledged deposits BEMEe 24 - 80,000
Total non-current assets FRBEERE 4,435,885 5,437,956
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Properties under development ?XJE ek 14 1,822,964 1,691,699
Completed properties held for sale ERFEME 15 383,977 749,869
Inventories 7(_ 21 219,102 223,057
Trade and bills receivables EFRRBRERKLEREE 22 403,775 540,225
Prepayments, other receivables and FENFIE -  EMERREBEREMEE
other assets 23 916,170 674,844
Due from a related party JFE L2 [ B 75 BIR 38 84,522 84,676
Pledged and restricted bank balances BEEAELZR %ll R1T 4584 24 164,826 539,060
Cash and cash equivalents ReRReEEY 24 58,585 66,907
Total current assets REBEEHE 4,053,921 4,570,337
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBEE
Trade and bills payables B SEMNERREN R 25 379,935 688,464
Other payables and accruals Hith e A R ETE R 28 628,847 738,660
Contract liabilities AHEE 27 1,159,070 896,765
Derivative financial instrument PTEESHMT A 31 3,724 22,984
Fixed rate bonds and notes EBEHFIMEER 29 170,404 =
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings T ERITRHMEE 26 1,116,889 2,012,848
Due to a director ENESEHIE 38 88,857 118,944
Tax payable FERT IR 365,567 131,381
Total current liabilities mEN B EEE 3,913,293 4,610,046
NET CURRENT ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) REBEE(A\)FHE 140,628 (39,709)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EEABERRBERE
LIABILITIES 4,576,513 5,398,247

—NEEERE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e BRI &

31 December 2019 —Z—hAE+-_A=+—8H

2019 2018
—E-hF —E-N\F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
oS ARET T AR®EF T
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBEE
Due to a director & & E5IE 38 50,000 -
Fixed rate bonds and notes EBEHFIMEE 29 7,631 157,406
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings T ERITRHMEE 26 3,753,975 4,084,871
Deferred tax liabilities EEREERE 20 368,023 574,798
Government grants BT 78 B 30 341,915 350,899
Total non-current liabilities EnBaEes 4,521,544 5,167,974
Net assets EEFE 54,969 230,273
EQUITY EE
Equity attributable to owners of the parent A TG AEBLER
Issued capital BEITRIR A 32 88,856 88,856
Reserves Eke] 33 (33,887) 129,997
54,969 218,853
Non-controlling interests FEFE R = - 11,420
Total equity B 54,969 230,273

CHEN CHANG
BRE
Director

EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

RERBREHR

Year ended 31 December 2018

HE-_ZT-N\F+T-_A=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BREAEFARR
Asset Exchange Non-
Issued Share  revaluation  Contributed Capital Statutory Accumulated  fluctuation controlling
capital premium* reserve’* surplus* reserve* reserve fund* losses* reserve* Total interests Total
BEARA  RDER*  EfERT  REER  AXBE AEARE  ZAERT RBRE @it FnREs @it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTL ARBTR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR AR%T:R
(Note 32) (note (a))
(Hi5£32) (W3t (@)
At 1 January 2018 R=F-\§-F-H 88,856 767,097 1,153,715 224,589 57,607 165276 (1,563,776) (58,841) 834,523 11,542 846,065
Loss for the year REEFR = = = = = - (498813) - (498813) (122)  (498,935)
Other comprehensive loss for the year REREM2ERE
Exchange differences on translation of RENEEREENERZR
foreign operations - - - - - - (134,589)  (134,589) - (134,589)
Exchange differences related to ARAHBRKAER]
the Company’s financial statements EHEENERZE
into presentation currency - - - - - - 17,732 17,732 - 17,732
Total comprehensive loss for the year TEEREERAR - - - - - (498,813)  (116,857)  (615,670) (122) (615792
Transfer of asset revaluation reserve upon ERENELER BREE
sale of relevant properties B - - (79,775) - - - 79,775 - - - -
At 31 December 2018 RZE-N¥+-A=1-H 88,856 767,097 1,073,940 224,589 57,607 165276 (1,982,814) (175,698) 218,853 11,420 230,213
Year ended 31 December 2019 BHE-ZT—hFT-A=+—HILEFE
Attributable to owners of the parent
SRAEFARE
Asset Exchange Non-
Issued Share  revaluation  Contributed Capital Statutory Accumulated  fluctuation controlling
capital premium* reserve® surplus* reserve* reserve fund* losses* reserve* Total interests Total
BE Ex
BEARA  ROEE EREGRT  RHEH  EARE ERAEET  ZHEBET RIRE &t EERER &5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR AR%TR ARETR ARETR AR¥T:R
(Note 32) (note (a))
(H3t32) (M3t ()
At 1 January 2019 R=F-hE-F-H 88,856 767,097 1,073,940 224,589 57,607 165276 (1,982,814) (175,698) 218,853 11,420 230,273
Loss for the year AEEER = = = = = - (138,888) - (138,888) (3201)  (142,089)
Other comprehensive loss for the year TERENRERE
Exchange differences on translation of RENEEBEEMEL 28
foreign operations - - - - - - - (26,494) (26,494) - (26,494)
Exchange differences related to KRR BREAE LS
the Company's financial statements ENELNELZE
into presentation currency - - - - - - - 5171 5171 - 5171
Total comprehensive loss for the year rEEREE - - - - - - (138,888) (21,323)  (160,211) (3201)  (163,412)
Acquisition of non-controlling interests WEEERES - - - - (3,673) - - (3,673) (8,219) (11,892)
Transfer of asset revaluation reserve upon EEENELER BREE
sale of relevant properties Efitif - - (457,200) - - - 457,200 - - - -
At 31 December 2019 RZE-AF+ZA=+-A 88,856 767,097 616,740 224,589 53,934 165,276 (1,664,502) (197,021) 54,969 - 54,969
& The asset revaluation reserve arose from a change in use from an & ERYERBSREFE AR AFTEIRNEEDEM

owner-occupied property to an investment property carried at fair

value.

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of

RMB(33,887,000) (2018: RMB129,997,000) in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

—E-NFFERE

EXRESHREE-

* O RERERE

A RE-

B

BEVBERARFPAERARE
33,887,0007T (= ZF — N\ F: AR ¥129,997,0007T) /Y

RIGBRARAEZRERAT
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
ZEY EYTE:

Note: B 5

(a) In accordance with the Company Law of the People’s Republic of (a) WBEFREARLMBE ([RBE])QAEE RARRE
China (the “PRC”), the Company’s subsidiaries registered in the PRC Eﬂﬁﬁ’ﬂﬁ%’“ CERBRBEFEEEFEN (KEB
are required to appropriate 10% of the annual statutory net profit after FFEENTAEBERZ) M0 BEALZEAER - EAKE
tax (after offsetting any prior years’ losses) to the statutory reserve @E’J ﬁ%k—ﬂﬁﬁfufﬁﬁl"m%% BAEERTH#
fund. When the balance of an entity’s reserve fund reaches 50% of its BRERANELZEABRE AF BEUARBEHBEFE Eﬁ
registered capital, any further appropriation is optional. The statutory T,E o i ﬂﬂ?ﬂﬂ§$ R HEAERAEE AR L
reserve fund can be utilised to offset prior years’ losses or to increase BEMTRSRE ZEREBARFEIMELRR25% ©

the registered capital. However, such balance of the statutory reserve
fund must be maintained at a minimum of 25% of the registered
capital after such usage.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

SERTRER

Year ended 31 December 2019 &2 —ZT—hF+-_A=+—HILFE

2019 2018
ZE-hF —E-)N\F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR®BT ARBFIT
CASH FLOWS FROM RETHFBRERE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax B Bt AT &S 1B (155,229) (551,248)
Adjustments for: BT ERE:
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HENEB AR ZEE 6 20,107 25,865
Loss on deregister of subsidiaries B ARIHEER CEE 6 - 14,008
Finance costs B & A AN 8 450,058 374,468
Share of loss of a joint venture Eih—EAaE R REE 19 18,655 2,724
Bank interest income RITHLEWA 5 (23,794) (26,812)
Government grant income T 48 Bl A 5 (34,764) (46,534)
Gain on resumption of land use rights E 4t AR e
to the local authority & B UE A 5 (368,305) =
Loss on disposal of items of LEWE BEREEBEEEZ
property, plant and equipment BB 6 - 19,533
Depreciation of property, V- BERZETE
plant and equipment 13 98,973 140,406
Depreciation of right-of-use assets/ FHREEENE
amortisation of prepaid land TEAF L 0 7 & 5
lease payments 18 33,263 25,407
Fair value gain on investment properties wEMEZ N FERE 16 (78,008) (21,779)
Fair value (gain)/loss on a derivative PTEemI Az ATE
financial instrument (Wezs) B8 31 (19,260) 22,984
Impairment of trade receivables 5 MW R FOR A 22 3,845 2,450
Impairment of other receivables H b B W ERIE R E 23 37,615 4,603
(16,844) (13,925)
Decrease in inventories FERL 3,955 65,648
(Increase)/decrease in properties BRAWE LN R
under development (57,801) 1,008,316
Decrease/(Increase) in completed AR EMER D (M)
properties held for sale 36,900 (749,869)
Decrease/(Increase) in trade and B RWERR R EREE
bills receivables WA () 132,605 (211,078)
Decrease in prepayments, other TR - H e YR IE
receivables and other assets HEmEERD 92,750 40,705
Decrease in pledged and B R ZREIRITAE R
restricted bank balances 454,234 46,949
(Decrease)/increase in trade and ZHRNERRENRE
bills payables (A, 18 hn (311,529) 18,115
Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities, EHBE - HMEANFIER
other payables and accruals FEETE AN CRd) 176,519 (181,684)

— TN
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

AERETMEBR

Year ended 31 December 2019 #ZEZ =T —hF+-A=+—HIFE

2019 2018
—E2-hF —E-N\F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
iiE=3 AR®BT AR®EFT
Cash generated from operations KEEERS 510,789 23,177
Interest received 2 W F B 23,794 26,812
Interest paid 2RFE 18 (794) =
Corporate income tax paid BEEEMENR (4,628) (2,181)
Land appreciation tax paid AT T I E (1,408) (4,194)
Net cash flows from operating activities CEEHEERSREFR 527,753 43,614
CASH FLOWS FROM REZHFBRERE
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Receipt from financial assets measured WER A AT ABRFTEH
at fair value through profit or loss TREE 200 500,000
Purchase of financial assets measured BERATEFABRITEDN
at fair value through profit or loss TREE (200) (500,000)
Purchases of items of property, BEME WELLHEEE
plant and equipment (49,389) (25,009)
Proceeds from disposal of items of HEWME WER&XEEBEBMSE
property, plant and equipment A 458 5,420
Disposal of a subsidiary HE B A 34 4,061 5,452
Decrease/(Increase) in an amount JE U BE B 5 SR IECR D (3B )
due from a related party 154 (108)
Receipt of government grants W BRI 44 B 30 25,780 22,320
Receipt of compensation for land resumption  WER 1+ i U 7% 2 #8 (8 3X 1,230,000 =
Net cash flows from investing RETEHBREREFH
activities 1,211,064 8,075
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

|‘/ Iﬁlﬁl)lbi%

Year ended 31 December 2019 #iZ—ZT—hF+-_A=+—HILFE

2019 2018
—E2-hF —E-N\F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR®BT AR®EFT
CASH FLOWS FROM METBHAERERE
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
New bank loans and other borrowings IRITERLEMEER 1,117,525 3,647,290
Repayment of bank loans and EEIRTT m&ﬁﬁﬁ%‘;”
other borrowings (2,269,572) (3,011,193)
Proceeds from issue of bonds BITESFTIS A 6,158 =
Repayment of bonds BEE - (197,660)
Dividends paid 2R E (1,482) =
Interest paid BAFE (527,801) (386,416)
(Decrease)/increase in an amount due to EEZESRRIE CRD) 18m
a director (83,587) 11,950
Interest element of sale and EREEEE RS D
leaseback liabilities - (4,344)
Principal portion of lease payments MENRZAEH D (2,219) =
Capital element of sale and ERMEDaEZEART D
leaseback liabilities - (111,410)
Net cash flows used in financing activities BMEZEBHFFARSRETHE (1,760,978) (51,783)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND ReRRSEENRL FE
CASH EQUIVALENTS (22,161) (94)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net  §MEFI| R 8 8) » 5 2% (E 13,839 30,609
Cash and cash equivalents FNRERBRESEEYD
at beginning of year 66,907 36,392
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRRERREEEY
AT END OF YEAR 58,585 66,907
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF ReRReEENERIN
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances H& RIRITHE 24 58,585 66,907

—NEEERE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B REERAR AL

31 December 2019 —Z—AF+=-A=+

H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Chu Kong Petroleum and Natural Gas Steel Pipe Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman
Islands on 9 January 2008 as an exempted company with
limited liability under the Companies Law, Cap.22 (Law 3 of
1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands.
The Company’s registered office address is Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111,
Cayman Islands.

The Company and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are
involved in the following principal activities:

. manufacture and sale of welded steel pipes and the
provision of related manufacturing services

. property development and investment

In the opinion of the directors, the holding company and the
ultimate holding company of the Company is Bournam Profits
Limited (“Bournam”), which was incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands.

Information about subsidiaries
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

1. RAREEER
KIAMAKARMEZERER LA ([RAF])
RZZZENFE-ANBREFREHEEN 22
BERAVE(—NAR—FEBIFRED  KiFa RiE
FERESHESHMKIABERENARAT -
XA A FE I S R 2 # 4k & Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman,
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands °

ARBAREMBAR (GHIAKRE])TENRSE

AT EREE :

- HERHERRRRHERREHBBARE
AR5

- MEZRERE
EERAR ARANERRAAREFEERIA R

Bournam Profits Limited ([Bournam | ) ' &% A &

RRBRE LR S EMMKIL -

ERHMEBLRZER
ARBEEMBRBZFHBEOT :

follows:
Place and date
of incorporation/ Nominal value of
establishment issued ordinary Percentage of
and place of Iregistered equity attributable
Company name operations share capital to the Company  Principal activities
AR i B R BRAEER ERR
NRER AR ERBE HEMRAEE REBDHE TEXHR
Direct Indirect
BE &
% %
Lessonstart Enterprises British Virgin Islands US$300 100 — Investment holding
Limited RBRLRS 3005 T REER
NMNEEEBERLQA
Lucknow Consultants Limited British Virgin Islands Us$10 - 100 Investment holding
KEERES \E REEK
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PR AR MIRE

31 December 2019 —Z—hG&+-A=+—H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. RAREEER (&)
(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued) BARNE AR ZER (8)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as ARABIEENMBATZHFBEWT: (&)

follows: (Continued)

Place and date
of incorporation/
establishment

Nominal value of

issued ordinary

Percentage of

and place of Iregistered equity attributable
Company name operations share capital to the Company  Principal activities
H Lt R BRATEER EARE
NCIEE BHURE R R =R A EE REBD L TEEHR
Direct Indirect
HE Gk
% %
Crown Central Holdings Hong Kong HK$1,000 - 100 Trading of steel
Limited BE 1,000 T pipes
KPEBBRAT HEES
Chu Kong Steel Pipe Hong Kong HK$100,000 - 100 Investment holding
Group Co., Ltd. BE 100,000/ 7T and trading of
KIMESEERRAA steel pipes
REERREEE
Panyu Chu Kong Steel Pipe The PRC/ HK$1,937,500,000 - 80 Manufacture and
Co., Ltd. (“PCKSP”) (Note 1) Mainland China 1,937,500,0007% 7T sale of welded
EBRIMEARAR FE A steel pipes
(IESIME]) (M) HERHEE
Guangzhou Pearl River The PRC/ HK$5,000,000 - 100 Manufacture and
Petrol-Fittings Co., Ltd. Mainland China 5,000,000/ 7T sale of petrol
BMEZ A A{E & B E fittings
BERAQA HERHEALEHS

— TN
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

U E Y

31 December 2019 —E—hF+=-A=+—H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. ARIREBEEFR (&)
(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued) BARNE AR ZER (8)
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as ARBIEENMBARZFBEWT: (&)

follows: (Continued)

Place and date

of incorporation/ Nominal value of
establishment issued ordinary Percentage of
and place of Iregistered equity attributable
Company name operations share capital to the Company  Principal activities
H Lt R BRTEER EARE
NCIEE B R & E S RAEE REBD L TEXHK
Direct Indirect
HE ) &
% %
Guangzhou Pearl River The PRC/ HK$21,000,000 - 100 Manufacture and
OCTG Co., Ltd. Mainland China 21,000,000/ 7T sale of oil country
BNZHAAHBEE B, B st tubular goods
BRRA] HERHE
AHmEM
Guangzhou Pearl River The PRC/ HK$10,000,000 - 100 Steel pipe casing
Petroleum Steel Pipe Mainland China 10,000,000/ 7T and lining services
Coating Co., Ltd. FE A HE R #E R
BMZ IR A hmHE DR B2 B R 7S
BRAR
Guangzhou Pearl River The PRC/ HK$50,000,000 - 100 Manufacture and
Petroleum Steel Pipe Mainland China 50,000,000/ 7T sale of welded
Co., Ltd. HEHE R steel pipes
BMZ A A E HERHE
BERQA BREENE
Panyu Chu Kong Steel Pipe The PRC/ RMB1,110,000,000 - 100 Manufacture and
(Lianyungang) Co., Ltd. Mainland China AR #1,110,000,0007T sale of welded
(“PCKSP (Lianyungang)”) HE BRI steel pipes
EBWIME (EEB)ARAA HERHE
([EBHIWE GEEX)]) BREENE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PR AR MIRE

31 December 2019 —Z—hG&+-A=+—H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. RAREEER (&)
(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued) BARNE AR ZER (8)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as ARABIEENMBATZHFBEWT: (&)

follows: (Continued)

Place and date
of incorporation/
establishment

Nominal value of
issued ordinary

Percentage of

and place of Iregistered equity attributable
Company name operations share capital to the Company  Principal activities
H Lt R BRATEER AREER
NCIEE BHURE R R =R A EE REBD L TEEHR
Direct Indirect
HE F:3
% %

Guangzhou Panyu Chu The PRC/ RMB20,600,000 - 100 Steel pipe casing
Kong Hualong Petroleum Mainland China AR #20,600,0007T and lining service
Steel Pipe Anti-Corrosion HE/HERL 1B B o A B
Co., Ltd. (“Hualong ZERE
Anti-Corrosion”)

BMTESKIEELGORE
BRERAR ([EEHE])

Panyu Chu Kong Steel Pipe The PRC/ HK$1,088,402,072 - 100 Manufacture and
(Zhuhai) Co., Ltd. Mainland China 1,088,402,072/% 7T sale of welded
(“PCKSP (Zhuhai)’) FE PR steel pipes

ERWIME (KE)ARAT HERHE

(EBHIME (%8)]) BRRBRENE

Lianyungang Kaidi Heavy The PRC/ RMB470,000,000 - 100 Manufacture
Equipment Technology Mainland China AR #470,000,0007C and sale of steel
Co., Ltd. (“Kaidi") HEHE R pipes equipment

BEBYIBEINEERADA and metallurgy

(r&hsl) equipment
HERHEMER
Rip e

— TN
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

U E Y

31 December 2019 —Z—hF+=-A=+—H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. RAREEER (&)
(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued) BARNE AR ZER (8)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as ARABIEENMBATZHFBEOT: (£&)

follows: (Continued)

Place and date
of incorporation/
establishment

Nominal value of
issued ordinary

Percentage of

and place of Iregistered equity attributable
Company name operations share capital to the Company  Principal activities
H Lt R BRATEER EARE
NCIEE BHURE R R =R A E REBD L TEXHK
Direct Indirect
HE GF:3
% %
Lianyungang Pearl River The PRC/ HKD$303,000,000 - 100 Manufacture and
Petrol-Fittings Co., Ltd. Mainland China 303,000,0007% 7T sale of tubular
BEALHRARLEMS T B piles
BRAR HERHEEN
Guangdong Pearl Steel The PRC/ RMB50,000,000 - 100 Property
Investment Management Mainland China A R #50,000,0007T development and
Co., Ltd. (“Pearl Steel R A investment
Investment”) (Note 2) MERERIRE
BRHMIKEERFRAA
([ZRME ) (K5E2)
Nanjing Rongyu Group Co., Ltd. ~ The PRC/ RMB75,000,000 - 100 Manufacture and
(“Nanjing Rongyu Group”) Mainland China AR #75,000,0007T sale of welded
ARANEEERAR HEHE R steel products
((ERRHEE]) HERHE
BEFEMYER
Nanjing City Qixia Hill Roll The PRC/ RMB20,316,500 - 100 Manufacture and
Steeling Co., Ltd. Mainland China AR #20,316,5007T sale of
(“Nanjing City Qixia Hill") FEREAM screw-thread
mMRmEELEMAERAA steels
(MExmEEL]) B3 I S B AU M
Chu Kong Steel Pipe The PRC/ HK$30,000,000 - 100 Manufacture and
(Nanjing) Co., Ltd. Mainland China 30,000,0007% 7T sale of welded
KIME (BR)BRAA HEHE R steel products
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PR AR MIRE

31 December 2019

T-NEF+

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows: (Continued)

Company name

NREH

Ningbo Sanhe Steel Pipe
Co., Ltd. (“Ningbo Sanhe
BR=EHERRAT
(IER=41)

A=+—8

)

Guangzhou Zhu Gang Property
Management Co., Ltd. (“Zhu
Gang Property Management”)

BMNRMNEEEER DA
([HREMEER])

Zhuhai Zhugang Wharf
Co., Ltd. (“Zhugang Wha
KB AYRER A
(TEREMASEE )

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets
of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in

rf”)

Place and date
of incorporation/
establishment
and place of
operations
H Lt R
B R E X E

The PRC/
Mainland China
FE/ R E A,

The PRC/
Mainland China
HE R E A,

The PRC/
Mainland China
HE R E A,

1. RAREEER (8

ERWE AR ZER (8)

Nominal value of
issued ordinary
Iregistered
share capital
BRATEER
=R A EE

RMB20,000,000
AR #20,000,0007T

RMB5,000,000
A K #5,000,0007T

RMB3,000,000
AR #3,000,0007T

the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive

length.

Note 1:

Panyu Chu Kong Steel Pipe Co., Ltd. H B/ LHE GR A5 (‘PCKSP”)

PCKSP has been accounted for as a 100%-owned subsidiary of the
Group (2018: 100%). It is engaged in the manufacture and sale of
welded steel pipes business and holds a piece of land in Mainland

China.

— TN

e

ERBINEER/E
BEEFENIERDZARARMNBAREE:
EERB JHEMHBARFBESEEIIRS
RIT&K

Percentage of
equity attributable
to the Company

QT EG
REESL
Direct Indirect
HiE %
% %
- 100
- 100
- 100

dh B2 486
B

AATNEEMBARZABMT  (H)

Principal activities

TEEH

Manufacture and
sale of welded
steel products

BUERHERRIRE

i E

Property management

MEERE

Port service

O R

EBHIMEERAR ([EBHIME])

BEERIHMECAKRERALARBEZZEMBAR (=
—N\F2E) RORINERREZMENERHEE
% URPEANMEE B o

FRARBERBRAE

=

=

BIAMARAREAEEZRBRAAF
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B REERAR AL

31 December 2019 —Z—hF+=-A=+—H

1.

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)
Note 1: (Continued)

On 12 February 2018, the Group entered into a disposal agreement
with a third party, Guangdong Yuecai Trust Co., Limited (“Yuecai
Trust”) for the disposal of a 20% equity interest for a consideration
of HK$240 million, contingent to certain future events which are set
out in the responding agreement. Details have been disclosed in the
Company’s circular issued on 27 March 2018. The related transactions
constituted very substantial disposal transactions under the relevant
Listing Rules and have been approved by the shareholders on 19 April
2018 (the “2018 Disposal Transactions”).

On 27 February 2019, the Group entered into another disposal
agreement with Yuecai Trust and certain other related companies of
Yuecai Trust for the disposal of the remaining 80% equity interest
in PCKSP for a total consideration of RMB2,448 million. Details
have been disclosed in the Company’s circular issued on 25 March
2019. The related transactions constituted very substantial disposal
transactions under the relevant Listing Rules and have been
approved by the shareholders on 16 April 2019 (the “2019 Disposal
Transactions”).

The 2018 and 2019 Disposal Transactions were considered not
completed as at 31 December 2019 because there were still
conditions yet to be fulfilled by the Group. One of the conditions to
be fulfilled by the Group is the successful change of the use of the
land held by PCKSP from “industrial” to “residential and commercial”.
Nevertheless, as part of the 2018 and 2019 Disposal Transactions,
the following transactions and actions have taken place which had an
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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EERAR (TEMERDITC—BLERSE  URE
240,000,000 7t 1 520% B& # - 17 T 18 FE 19 & Fr &k 2
ETRREUHME-FHBEUALHEARAR_T—N\F=
AZ++tBHENAEX - RIFBABLETRA BHZH
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RZT—NF_A-++A AEEREBFEERELH
ERENETHMBERRUS —HHEHE LWER
B A R %£2,448,000,0007T ) & & B ZxL 5 #2 T80%
BiE-HBEEREBERARAR_TE—NAF=A=-THA
BHMBR-RBEEEETRA BB SEXIETE
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R-_TE—AF+—A=+—8 T N\ER=-FT—AN
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PR AR MIRE

31 December 2019

1.

-
=

N R

F-NFT=A=+-8

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)
Note 1: (Continued)

On 2 February 2018, Yuecai Trust transferred an aggregate amount
of RMB240 million to PCKSP and PCKSP has filed statutory business
registration to allot its 20% shareholding to Yuecai Trust. Thereafter,
Yuecai Trust became a 20% legal shareholder of PCKSP. However,
according to the agreement, Yuecai Trust is entitled to the right of
putting the 20% equity interest in PCKSP to the Group until the 2018
Disposal Transactions are completed. Accordingly, notwithstanding
the fact that Yuecai Trust is the 20% legal shareholder of PCKSP, the
Group continued to consolidate 100% assets and liabilities of PCKSP
for the year ended 31 December 2019 and 2018. The RMB240
million was accounted for as a loan and presented as a “Loan from
a third party” in the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 December 2019 and 2018. According to an underlying loan
agreement entered into between Yuecai Trust and the Group, the loan
is repayable in three years and bears interest at 11.25% per annum
for the first two years and 10.25% per annum for the third year. (See
note 26 for details of the loan).

On the same date, 2 February 2018, Yuecai Trust further advanced
another loan to PCKSP at the amount of RMB1.44 billion for a period
of three years bearing interest at a rate of 11.25% per annum for the
first two years and at a rate of 10.25% per annum for the third year.
(See note 26 for details of the loan).

Subsequently, additional loans of RMB54 million, RMB82 million and
RMB282 million with the same term as before have been granted to
the Group on 31 October 2018, 5 November 2018 and 1 March 2019,
respectively. (See note 26 for details of the loans).

In the event that the land held by PCKSP could not be changed from
“industrial” to “commercial and residential” use within three years after
the dates of the respective agreements, Yuecai Trust has the right
to request the Group to repurchase all the equity interest in PCKSP
at the consideration equal to the principal amounts of the loans
aforementioned plus all interest accrued but unpaid within 30 days
after the issue of notice from it regarding the failure of the change of
land use.

Upon the fulfilment of the pre-requisite condition, the 2018 and 2019
Disposal Transactions will be regarded as completed. Management
estimated a gain of approximately RMB2 billion will arise based on the
prevailing market information of the underlying asset of PCKSP. Upon
completion of the 2018 and 2019 Disposal Transactions, the Group
will cease to own any shareholdings in PCKSP.

RAREEESR (8

BRMERTRZEN (4)
GEARNE D)

RZZE-—N\FZAZH BVEREAESKRIHNEE S
58 A AR 240,000,000t KB MES K TS
BIREEEEER A E20% & AR S Bl 45 BAIHE
ot EMEREKNATEBHRIMERN20%EERE -
BR BEHBH BEMEREEKESHRINE NH20%
BESKAEE BEE-T—\EFHEXHTR - Bt
BERMEARESITMEM20% A EFHE BN
EERBE-_Z-NEFR-_T-N\F+-_A=+—8
HFEEBEAHEERIHNEMNI0%EEMERE A
R 240,000,000 —ZE—hER-_FT—N\E+=-A
=t HAEGEMBBRRTPINAERLZNA[E=
BR] BEEMERERASENINEEERRZE B
HEE=FNEE EMFHNFEMNEEI1.25% E=1F
B 2 %310.25% ° (BB RMFERME26) -

RRAB(ZE—-NE-_A-RB) BHERE—FM
ERERIMELENAHE=FH AR%1,440,000,000
TEF BEMEFANRA1M2% - F-FHNFF XA
10.25% ° (A E XK 15 RMi7126) -

Hg AEER=_T—N\F+A=+—RH - ZT—N
FT+—AREANZZZE-—NE=A—B25EEFTA
R #54,000,0007T * A R #82,000,0007T f1 A R #
282,000,000t MR BAE K- (EAERMFIB R
26) °

MREEAMZEEREN =FANEEK LI [ T3]
REERRIBENEEIRE MEMERBEEENR
AEERBERKIMENDHBEE REERLAE
RORE N EMBRAERIANNE BEEZEHH
R % E K B AR 30R A A -

WMERREHEE —E-—NEN_T—NFLEXSZH
WELRRETK - EREMGFT REZRHRIMELH
BEMNEAMISEER  BEELARE2,000,000,0007T
Mz - ER_E-N\FER_T-AFEHEXHE K
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B REERAR AL

31 December 2019 —Z—hF+=-A=+—H

2.1

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)
Note 2:

Guangdong Pearl Steel Investment Management Co., Ltd. & 5 Tk 8] 1%
ZEEIEAR AT (“Pearl Steel Investment”)

Pearl Steel Investment has been accounted for as a 100%-owned
subsidiary of the Group (2018: 100%). It is engaged in property
development and investment business, holding a property
development project named Golden Dragon City (“GDC”) in Mainland
China.

On 20 June 2019, the Group entered into a land resumption
compensation agreement (“Land Resumption Compensation
Agreement”) with Guangzhou City Panyu District Land Development
Centre (“GPDLDC”), pursuant to which GPDLDC will resume, and
the Group will sell the land of Phase Ill GDC at a compensation of
RMB1.52 billion, of which details were disclosed in the Company’s
circular issued on 06 November 2019. The related transactions
constituted very substantial disposal transactions under the relevant
Listing Rules and have been approved by the shareholders on
28 November 2019. As at 31 December 2019, the Group has received
compensation amounting to RMB1,230,000,000. The land transfer
procedures were completed in 2019.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with IFRSs issued by the IASB, International Accounting
Standards and Standing Interpretations Committee
Interpretations approved by the International Accounting
Standards Committee that remain in effect, and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They
have been prepared under the historical cost convention,
except for investment properties and a derivative financial
instrument which have been measured at fair value. These
financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”) and
all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when
otherwise indicated.

2.1
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PR AR MIRE

31 December 2019 —Z—hG&+-A=+—H

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued) 21 REEE (®)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2019. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control
is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power over
the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the
current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders
of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the
Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results
in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All
intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B REERAR AL

31 December 2019 —Z—hF+=-A=+—H

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued) 21 REEXE (®)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control described above.
A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a
loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and
(iii) the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity;
and recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received,
(ii) the fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any
resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share
of components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

Going concern basis

The Group recorded a consolidated loss of RMB142,089,000
for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: loss of
RMB498,935,000). As at 31 December 2019, the Group
recorded of net current assets of RMB140,628,000 (2018:
net current liabilities of RMB39,709,000), included therein
were the bank and other borrowings of RMB1,116,889,000
(2018: RMB2,012,848,000) and fixed rate bonds and notes of
RMB170,404,000 (2018: Nil) which were due for repayment
or renewal within the next twelve months after 31 December
2019.

In view of these circumstances, the directors of the Company
have considered the future liquidity and performance of the
Group and its available sources of finance in assessing
whether the Group will have sufficient financial resources to
continue as a going concern.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PR AR MIRE

31 December 2019 —Z—hG&+-A=+—H

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued) 21 REEE (®)

Going concern basis (Continued)

The directors of the Company have prepared a cash flow
forecast for the Group which covers a period of twelve months
from the end of the reporting period. Taking into account the
possible disposal of PCKSP which could provide additional
funds for the Group, coupled with the positive cash flow from
the Group’s steel pipes business and the continued sale
of the Group’s existing real estate projects, the directors
considered that the Group will have sufficient working capital
to finance its operations and meet its financial obligations as
and when they fall due. Accordingly, the consolidated financial
statements of the Group have been prepared on a going
concern basis.

However, the sale of PCKSP is subject to the fulfilment of
certain conditions, among which some of these conditions
cannot be controlled by the Group, such as the successful
change of land use on the land owned by PCKSP. Further,
the current market situation is uncertain and vulnerable, it
may also further impact the Group’s future sales. The validity
of the going concern assumption on which the consolidated
financial statements are prepared is dependent on favourable
outcomes of the events as described above.

Should the going concern assumption be inappropriate,
adjustments may have to be made to reflect the situation that
assets may need to be realised at amounts other than those
they are currently recorded in the consolidated statement of
financial position. In addition, the Group may have to provide
for any further liabilities that might arise, and to reclassify
non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current
assets and current liabilities, respectively. The effects of
these adjustments have not been reflected in the consolidated
financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B REERAR AL

31 December 2019 —Z—hF+=-A=+—H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised

standards for the first time for the current year’s consolidated

financial statements.

IFRS 16

IFRIC 23

Amendments to IFRS 9

Amendments to IAS 19

Amendments to IAS 28

Annual Improvements
2015-2017 Cycle

Leases

Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments

Prepayment Features with
Negative Compensation

Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement

Long-term Interests in Associates
and Joint Ventures

Amendments to IFRS 3, IFRS 11,
IAS 12 and IAS 23

Other than as explained below regarding the impact of

IFRS 16 Leases and IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax

Treatments, the new and revised standards do not have

significant impact on the consolidated financial statements of
the Group. The nature and impact of the IFRS 16 and IFRIC

23 are described as below:

(a) IFRS 16 replaces IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining
whether an Arrangement contains a Lease, SIC 15

Operating Leases — Incentives and SIC 27 Evaluating

the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form

of a Lease. The standard sets out the principles for the

recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure

of leases and requires lessees to account for all leases

under a single on-balance sheet model to recognise and

measure right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, except

for certain recognition exemptions. Lessor accounting

under IFRS 16 is substantially unchanged from IAS 17.

Lessors continue to classify leases as either operating or

finance leases using similar principles as in IAS 17.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PR AR MIRE

31 December 2019

A=+—8

F-NFT

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(a)

(Continued)

The Group adopted IFRS 16 using the modified
retrospective method of adoption with the date of initial
application of 1 January 2019. Under this method, the
standard is applied retrospectively with the cumulative
effect of initial adoption as an adjustment to the opening
balance of retained earnings at 1 January 2019, and the
comparative information for 2018 was not restated and
continues to be reported under IAS 17.

New definition of a lease

Under IFRS 16, a contract is, or contains a lease if the
contract conveys a right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.
Control is conveyed where the customer has both the
right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits
from use of the identified asset and the right to direct the
use of the identified asset. The Group elected to use the
transition practical expedient allowing the standard to be
applied only to contracts that were previously identified
as leases applying IAS 17 and IFRIC 4 at the date of
initial application. Contracts that were not identified as
leases under IAS 17 and IFRIC 4 were not reassessed.
Therefore, the definition of a lease under IFRS 16 has
been applied only to contracts entered into or changed
on or after 1 January 2019.

— TN

22 EM RSB RE (&)

(a)

(%)

AEBE_E-NE-A—BNKEARH
ERBETNER T ERMBRET KRS
ERIE165E - RIFUL 7705 AE BB E M
ZEA M RANRA R EER TN
F-A—BHVREBENNFHE —F—N\
FHUEBREMRTEIN S EEIZBER S
EREATHRE R -

HENHER

RIZER B RELERNF165E - e DO HE
— BB [ VR I 2 R R B B R O R N R
RERRE AZANAABEHE-ER
FREEEDRSERZCHINEEELN
BAMAREBENE R TEZE BN EEN
ERE EHEEE AEEERERBR
BERBEEMNL AFEERER A BERSZ
R e MR ST AT E R B et ERE175%
AERMERERBZESF49HAAH
ENAH  RRBEKR G ERFE175 M E
RN B HREREZBERIRAR RHER
BRREEFHFGH Bt BRPHHREE
A1 THENERCERARE_Z
—NF-A-BRZETIHEENAL -

BIRMAARRMEZRERAT 125



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B REERAR AL

31 December 2019 —Z—hF+=-A=+—H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES (Continued)
(a) (Continued) (a) (&)

22 8t BIRSBHRTE (&)

As a lessee — Leases previously classified as
operating leases
Nature of the effect of adoption of IFRS 16

The Group has lease contracts for various items of
factory and office premises. As a lessee, the Group
previously classified leases as either finance leases or
operating leases based on the assessment of whether
the lease transferred substantially all the rewards and
risks of ownership of assets to the Group. Under IFRS
16, the Group applies a single approach to recognise and
measure right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for all
leases, except for two elective exemptions for leases of
low value assets (elected on a lease by lease basis) and
short-term leases (elected by class of underlying asset).
The Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities for (i) leases of low-value
assets; and (ii) leases, that at the commencement date,
have a lease term of 12 months or less. Instead, the
Group recognises the lease payments associated with
those leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over
the lease term.

Impacts on transition

Lease liabilities at 1 January 2019 were recognised
based on the present value of the remaining lease
payments, discounted using the incremental borrowing
rate at 1 January 2019 and included in interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings.

The right-of-use assets were measured at the amount
of the lease liability, adjusted by the amount of any
prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to the
lease recognised in the statement of financial position
immediately before 1 January 2019. All these assets
were assessed for any impairment based on IAS 36 on
that date. The Group elected to present the right-of-use
assets separately in the statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PR AR MIRE

31 December 2019 —Z—hG&+-A=+—H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 22 B BRBHREE (&)

DISCLOSURES (Continued)
(a) (Continued)

(@) (#&)

The impacts arising from the adoption of IFRS 16 as at RZE-NF-A-—BRABERVBERS
i

1 January 2019 are as follows:

EHE1GREENZEM T

N

Increase/
(decrease)
#m,/ CRd)
RMB’000
ARBEFT
Assets BE
Increase in right-of-use assets B RAEEE 1,093,029
Decrease in prepaid land lease payments AN LHEE (1,087,394)
Increase in total assets HINBEE 5,635
Liabilities =R
Increase in interest-bearing bank and EMETSRITREMEE
other borrowings 5,635
Increase in total liabilities ®EmneEaE 5,635

Decrease in retained earnings

BB 1 =

— T NEFERE

BWIRMARRREZRERAT 127



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

N -
B RS R M EE
31 December 2019 —E—hF+=-A=+—H
2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 22 BT HREHREE (@)
DISCLOSURES (Continued)
(a) (Continued) (a) (&)
The lease liabilities as at 1 January 2019 reconciled to RZE-—NAF—A—BAMEAEaBEER -
the operating lease commitments as at 31 December - NFTZA=T—HHEEHERE
2018 are as follows: HWEEWMT
RMB’000
ARBEF T
Operating lease commitments REB-NF+-A=Z+-HHNRKEHERE
as at 31 December 2018 9,342
Less: e
Commitments relating to short-term leases and RHEERFBEAR - —NF
those leases with a remaining lease +Z A=+ —BRZAERNEE R RE
term ended on or before 31 December 2019 (322)
9,020
Weighted average incremental borrowing rate RZZE-NF—A—BaNEFIEE
as at 1 January 2019 CEES 9.51%
Discounted operating lease commitments RZE-NF-A—BBREEHERE
at 1 January 2019 5,635
Lease liabilities as at 1 January 2019 R-E-hAF-—A—BWHEEERE 5,635
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PR AR MIRE

31 December 2019

T-nE+=A=+—A

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(b)

IFRIC 23 addresses the accounting for income taxes
(current and deferred) when tax treatments involve
uncertainty that affects the application of IAS 12
(often referred to as “uncertain tax positions”). The
interpretation does not apply to taxes or levies outside
the scope of IAS 12, nor does it specifically include
requirements relating to interest and penalties associated
with uncertain tax treatments. The interpretation
specifically addresses (i) whether an entity considers
uncertain tax treatments separately; (ii) the assumptions
an entity makes about the examination of tax treatments
by taxation authorities; (iii) how an entity determines
taxable profits or tax losses, tax bases, unused tax
losses, unused tax credits and tax rates; and (iv) how
an entity considers changes in facts and circumstances.
Upon adoption of the interpretation, the Group
considered whether it has any uncertain tax positions
arising from the transfer pricing on its intergroup sales.
Based on the Group’s tax compliance and transfer
pricing study, the Group determined that it is probable
that its transfer pricing policy will be accepted by the
tax authorities. Accordingly, the interpretation did not
have any significant impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group.

—NEEERE

22 EM RSB RE (&)

(b)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B REERAR AL

31 December 2019 —Z—hF+=-A=+—H

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised

IFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in

these financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 3

Amendments to IFRS 9,

IAS 39 and IFRS 7

Amendments to IFRS 10

and IAS 28

IFRS 17

Amendments to
IAS 1 and IAS 8

Amendments to IAS 1

Definition of a Business’

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform’

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Insurance Contracts?

Definition of Material

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current?

i Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2020

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2021

g No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for

adoption

< Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2022

Further information about the IFRSs that are expected to be

applicable to the Group is described below.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PR AR MIRE

31 December 2019 —Z—hG&+-A=+—H

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 23 EHEMEERERNZE R M B HRELE

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to IFRS 3 clarify and provide additional guidance
on the definition of a business. The amendments clarify that
for an integrated set of activities and assets to be considered
a business, it must include, at a minimum, an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute
to the ability to create output. A business can exist without
including all of the inputs and processes needed to create
outputs. The amendments remove the assessment of whether
market participants are capable of acquiring the business and
continue to produce outputs. Instead, the focus is on whether
acquired inputs and acquired substantive processes together
significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs. The
amendments have also narrowed the definition of outputs to
focus on goods or services provided to customers, investment
income or other income from ordinary activities. Furthermore,
the amendments provide guidance to assess whether an
acquired process is substantive and introduce an optional fair
value concentration test to permit a simplified assessment
of whether an acquired set of activities and assets is not
a business. The Group expects to adopt the amendments
prospectively from 1 January 2020. Since the amendments
apply prospectively to transactions or other events that occur
on or after the date of first application, the Group will not be
affected by these amendments on the date of transition.

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 address
the effects of interbank offered rate reform on financial
reporting. The amendments provide temporary reliefs which
enable hedge accounting to continue during the period of
uncertainty before the replacement of an existing interest
rate benchmark. In addition, the amendments require
companies to provide additional information to investors
about their hedging relationships which are directly affected
by these uncertainties. The amendments are effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020. Early
application is permitted. The amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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B REERAR AL

31 December 2019 —Z—hF+=-A=+—H

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 23 EHEMEERERNZE R M B IHRELE

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 address an inconsistency
between the requirements in IFRS 10 and in IAS 28 in dealing
with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and
its associate or joint venture. The amendments require a full
recognition of a gain or loss when the sale or contribution of
assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture
constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets
that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting
from the transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or
loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in
that associate or joint venture. The amendments are to be
applied prospectively. The previous mandatory effective date
of amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 was removed by the
IASB in December 2015 and a new mandatory effective date
will be determined after the completion of a broader review
of accounting for associates and joint ventures. However, the
amendments are available for adoption now.

Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 provide a new definition of
material. The new definition states that information is material
if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be
expected to influence decisions that the primary users of
general purpose financial statements make on the basis
of those financial statements. The amendments clarify
that materiality will depend on the nature or magnitude
of information. A misstatement of information is material
if it could reasonably be expected to influence decisions
made by the primary users. The Group expects to adopt
the amendments prospectively from 1 January 2020. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact
on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 1 clarify that the classification of liabilities
as current or non-current is based on rights that are in
existence at the end of the reporting period. The amendments
also specify that classification is unaffected by expectations
about whether an entity will exercise its right to defer
settlement of a liability and explain that rights are in existence
if covenants are complied with at the end of the reporting
period. Furthermore, the amendments introduce a definition of
‘settlement’ to make clear that settlement refers to the transfer
to the counterparty of cash, equity instruments, other assets
or services. The amendments are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2022 with earlier application
permitted. The amendments are to be applied retrospectively.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PR AR MIRE

31 December 2019 —Z—hG&+-A=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESHHEBE

POLICIES

Investment in a joint venture

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights
to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group’s investment in a joint venture is stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the Group’s
share of net assets under the equity method of accounting,
less any impairment losses.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of a joint venture is included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, respectively. In addition,
when there has been a change recognised directly in the
equity of the joint venture, the Group recognises its share of
any changes, when applicable, in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting
from transactions between the Group and its joint venture are
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s investment in the joint
venture, except where unrealised losses provide evidence of
an impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising from
the acquisition of the joint venture is included as part of the
Group’s investment in a joint venture.

If an investment in a joint venture becomes an investment
in an associate or vice versa, the retained interest is not
remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be
accounted for under the equity method. In all other cases,
upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint
control over the joint venture, the Group measures and
recognises any retained investment at its fair value. Any
difference between the carrying amount of the associate or
joint venture upon loss of significant influence or joint control
and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds
from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.
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31 December 2019 —Z—hF+=-A=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FEETHERBE (#)

POLICIES (Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. For each business combination,
the Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling
interests in the acquiree that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of net
assets in the event of liquidation either at fair value or at
the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. All other components of non-controlling interests are
measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed
as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification
and designation in accordance with the contractual terms,
economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the
acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded
derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition
date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss.
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PR AR MIRE

31 December 2019 —Z—hG&+-A=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FESHBERBE (|

POLICIES (Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is
not remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for
within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of
the Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree
over the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other items
is lower than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the
difference is, after reassessment, recognised in profit or loss
as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be
impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at 31 December. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is,
from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s
cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that
are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group
are assigned to those units or groups of units.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESHERBE (|

POLICIES (Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)
Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is
recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not
reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit
(or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured
based on the relative value of the operation disposed of and
the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties and derivative
financial instruments at fair value at the end of each reporting
period. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The
fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place
either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in
the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous
market for the asset or liability. The principal or the most
advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The
fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the
assumptions that market participants would use when pricing
the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in
their economic best interest.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 T EEHHERE (@)
POLICIES (Continued)
Fair value measurement (Continued) AFEFE (F)
A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into FeMBEECZATFHEFEEZERMISLEEAR
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic TRZEESINzERRRESR KIEZEE
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by ETS—AREAZEERIESARERALZ
selling it to another market participant that would use the M2 EEE S 2 KBS e

asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in AEBFEABRANTRBANGELE MES
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available RHEBHAEATE UREFEHEBITERE
to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant ABBRREER D ERNAIERE ABE -

observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable

inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured AFERVBREFEIRENMEEERAR
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised ERHATEFEREBEZN xR AZEK
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based TR TR ERAFEERT HLE:

on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value

measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active F—Hf — BEEREENEBENERTS
markets for identical assets or liabilities PATHRERE (RAE)

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the EH — REHATENEAEEATFE
lowest level input that is significant to the AEESXHEEBRR&ERA
fair value measurement is observable, either B2 mERE
directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the F=H — BBEHLATEAEEERFEL
lowest level input that is significant to the fair PRI R K ER AR HEFE

value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial HREAVBREUCEEAXNBRZEERE
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines B AEEREREARBEHRAFETER
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the RESAXEREWASBBRBEMG D HAR
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest EEER AT LIRER-

level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as
a whole) at the end of each reporting period.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESHERBE (|

POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, deferred tax assets, financial assets, investment
properties, goodwill), the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of
the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its
fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash
inflows that are largely independent of those from other
assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss
is charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in
which it arises in those expense categories consistent with
the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may
have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable
amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher
than the carrying amount that would have been determined
(net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of
such an impairment loss is credited to the statement of profit
or loss in the period in which it arises, unless the asset is
carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of
the impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the
relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of

the Group or of a parent of the Group;
or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the

benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

24 FEETHERBE (#)

POLICIES (Continued)
Related parties (Continued)
(b) (Continued)

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services

to the Group or to the parent of the Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property,
plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and any
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to the statement of profit or
loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where
the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a
major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the
asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of property,
plant and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals,
the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FESHBERBE (|

POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(Continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to
its residual value over its estimated useful life. The estimated
useful lives and residual values used for this purpose are as
follows:

Buildings

gF

Plant and machinery

5 Nt 28

Office and other equipment
WA= REARE

Motor vehicles

At

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the
year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the
net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant
asset.

Construction in progress represents buildings, plant and
machinery under construction, which are stated at cost
less any impairment losses, and are not depreciated. Cost
comprises the direct costs of construction and capitalised
borrowing costs on related borrowed funds during the period
of construction. Construction in progress is reclassified to the
appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for use.
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st Al A F FeAEE

5~45 years 5%~10%
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3~16 years 1%~10%
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3~16 years 1%~10%
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4~10 years 5%~10%
4~104F

EME BMELRSEBEENSBSSETRAEH
FH ZBENRARAEBEREEESSHT DR
i & 26 B 3T & - FIEREE - A 2 A F 81 i
EFFELESEMBEEFLERETRF NS
B (@A) -

BELEVIHHEANYE BERREEBBEE
M EARED - HFEHER S E R HIRARK
OB iy A AS AR IEHE SR - FE AR L FERR X
HEENR - FERBERTERN L SN HRAE
WEMEE EFHEENSEMSHIEFRER
FREEMNZER-

ERIRERELEZERTHNET BHER#S H
BRABEMREEBRIE BETEHE KA
BRERAENEZERNARBRABEESZ
BRMEERRN - EEIRRIRTRELE B
B BERRAEERNNDE BERKRE-

BIARRAARMEZRARLT 141



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B REERAR AL

31 December 2019 —Z—hF+=-A=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESHERBE (|

POLICIES (Continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings
(including the leasehold property held as right-of-use asset
(2018: leasehold property under an operating lease) which
would otherwise meet the definition of an investment property)
held to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation,
rather than for use in the production or supply of goods or
services or for administrative purposes; or for sale in the
ordinary course of business. Such properties are measured
initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to
initial recognition, investment properties are stated at fair
value, which reflects market conditions at the end of the
reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in the statement of profit
or loss in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in the statement of profit
or loss in the year of the retirement or disposal.

For a transfer from investment properties to owner-occupied
properties or inventories, the deemed cost of a property
for subsequent accounting is its fair value at the date of
change in use. If a property occupied by the Group as an
owner-occupied property becomes an investment property,
the Group accounts for such property in accordance with
the policy stated under “Property, plant and equipment
and depreciation” for owned property and/or accounts for
such property in accordance with the policy stated under
“Right-of-use assets” for property held as a right-of-use asset
up to the date of change in use, and any difference at that
date between the carrying amount and the fair value of the
property is accounted for as a revaluation in accordance
with the policy stated under “Property, plant and equipment
and depreciation” above. For a transfer from inventories to
investment properties, any difference between the fair value
of the property at that date and its previous carrying amount
is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FESHBERBE (|

POLICIES (Continued)

Lease (applicable from 1 January 2019)

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease
liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets.

(a) Right-of-use assets
Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset
is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured
at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement
of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes
the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct
costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated useful
lives of the assets as follows:
Factory and leasehold land 10 to 50 years

Office premises 2 to 3 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group
by the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the
exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated
using the estimated useful life of the asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FESHEHEBE (&)
POLICIES (Continued)

Lease (applicable from 1 January 2019) (Continued)
Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b) Lease liabilities

HE(BZZE—-NE—A—HBEEAR) (&)
AEFEBRHEA (F)
(b) HEEE

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease payments
to be made over the lease term. The lease payments
include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable
lease payments that depend on an index or a rate,
and amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the
exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain
to be exercised by the Group and payments of penalties
for termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the
Group exercising the option to terminate. The variable
lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate
are recognised as an expense in the period in which the
event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date because the interest rate
implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in
lease payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate) or a change
in assessment of an option to purchase the underlying
asset.

The Group’s lease liabilities are included in
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FESHBERBE (|

POLICIES (Continued)

Lease (applicable from 1 January 2019) (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and
equipment (that is those leases that have a lease term
of 12 months or less from the commencement date and
do not contain a purchase option). It also applies the
recognition exemption for leases of low-value assets that
are considered to be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease
inception (or when there is a lease modification) each of its
leases as either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset
are classified as operating leases. When a contract contains
lease and non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each component on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted
for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is
included in revenue in the statement of profit or loss due to
its operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease
term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents
are recognised as revenue in the period in which they are

earned.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESHERBE (|

POLICIES (Continued)

Lease (applicable before 1 January 2019)

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets to the Group, other than legal title, are
accounted for as finance leases. At the inception of a finance
lease, the cost of the leased asset is capitalised at the present
value of the minimum lease payments and recorded together
with the obligation, excluding the interest element, to reflect
the purchase and financing. Assets held under capitalised
finance leases, including prepaid land lease payments under
finance leases, are included in property, plant and equipment,
and depreciated over the shorter of the lease terms and the
estimated useful lives of the assets. The finance costs of such
leases are charged to the statement of profit or loss so as
to provide a constant periodic rate of charge over the lease
terms.

Assets acquired through hire purchase contracts of a
financing nature are accounted for as finance leases, but are
depreciated over their estimated useful lives.

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted for
as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor, assets
leased by the Group under operating leases are included in
non-current assets, and rentals receivable under the operating
leases are credited to the statement of profit or loss on the
straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where the Group
is the lessee, rentals payable under operating leases net of
any incentives received from the lessor are charged to the
statement of profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the
lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments represent the cost of land use
rights paid to the PRC government authorities. Prepaid land
lease payments under operating leases are initially stated at
cost and subsequently recognised on the straight-line basis

over the lease terms.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FEETEHERBE (#)

POLICIES (Continued)

Properties under development

Properties under development represent properties being
developed for sale and are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost comprises the prepaid land lease
payments or cost of land together with any other direct costs
attributable to the development of the properties and other
related expenses capitalised during the development period.
Net realisable value is determined by the directors based on
the prevailing market prices on an individual property basis
less estimated costs of completion and costs to be incurred in
selling the property.

Properties under development are classified as current
assets unless the construction period of the relevant property
development project is expected to complete beyond the
normal operating cycle. Once the development of these
properties is completed, these properties are transferred to
completed properties held for sale.

Revenue is only recognised upon completion of the
development. Sales deposits/instalments received and
receivable from purchasers in respect of the pre-sale of
properties under development prior to the completion of the
development are included in current liabilities.

If a property under development is intended to be redeveloped
into an owner-managed property, it is transferred to
construction in progress at the carrying amount.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESHERBE (|

POLICIES (Continued)

Completed properties held for sale

Completed properties for sale are stated at the lower of
cost and net realisable value. Cost includes all development
expenditure, applicable borrowing costs and other direct
costs attributable to such properties. Cost is determined by
an apportionment of the total costs of land and buildings
attributable to unsold properties. Net realisable value is
determined by the directors based on the prevailing market
prices on an individual property basis less costs to be
incurred in selling the property.

If an item of completed property held for sale becomes
owner-managed, it is transferred to property, plant and
equipment at the carrying amount.

For a transfer from an item of completed property held for
sale to investment property that will be carried at fair value
as its use has changed as evidenced by the commencement
of an operating lease, any difference between the fair value
of the property at that date and its previous carrying amount
shall be recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or
loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FESHBERBE (|

POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the Group
initially measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in
the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or
loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component or for which the Group
has applied the practical expedient are measured at the
transaction price determined under IFRS 15 in accordance
with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are
not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through
profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines whether
cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows,
selling the financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified
and measured at amortised cost are held within a business
model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified
and measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income are held within a business model with the objective
of both holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling.
Financial assets which are not held within the aforementioned
business models are classified and measured at fair value
through profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESHERBE (|

POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement
of profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or
impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income (debt instruments)

For debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income, interest income, foreign exchange
revaluation and impairment losses or reversals are recognised
in the statement of profit or loss and computed in the same
manner as for financial assets measured at amortised cost.
The remaining fair value changes are recognised in other
comprehensive income. Upon derecognition, the cumulative
fair value change recognised in other comprehensive income
is recycled to the statement of profit or loss.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried
in the statement of financial position at fair value with net
changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or
loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FESHEBEHBE (&)
POLICIES (Continued)
Investments and other financial assets (Continued) REREMERHEE (&)
Subsequent measurement (Continued) BHEGE (&)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (Continued) R FEGAEm 2 EE (&)
This category includes equity investments which the Group ZEANPEASEEI AN HEMERY B AR
had not irrevocably elected to classify at fair value through AFEEFAEMEARZZBRAIEE - EWILE
other comprehensive income. Dividends on equity investments i B AR BAE A B R s R P g8 AR SR B
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or BERESEEAIEHIER DHEAKRATEMA
loss are also recognised as other income in the statement of BRsemEENRAREZRETNEREXF
profit or loss when the right of payment has been established, ERAEEMUA -

it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the
dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the dividend
can be measured reliably.

Derecognition of financial assets RIEBRAERMEE

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial SREE (K (WER) —HemEEN —HH K

asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily —HREeRMEEN D) ETBETIERE

derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated W IEER (AEAKE 26 M BAR R KT

statement of financial position) when: B

—  the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have - WEBRZEEEMGRSAENENDLE
expired; or Bk

—  the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows - AFAEECEHZEHEWDRZEBEEEMSRERE
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the B4 B - sk AR 1R f%%EJ ZZHF?%B%‘E‘/xﬁE_ﬁ
received cash flows in full without material delay to a BERNBERATME BEENFABERS
third party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and ﬁ%ﬁ’\]ﬁ&'ﬂ( )ZKEE@}%E?Eé{F
either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the BB K EB o R B K B R - 3k (b )$%‘%lﬂ£ﬁ
risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has ?ﬁaﬁﬁ%%ﬁlﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ*ﬁ % K [B] % -
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks BEREEZEEENEHE-

and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of
the asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FEETHERBE (#)

POLICIES (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained
the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset,
the Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to
the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement in the
asset. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations
that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required to
repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
(“ECLSs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract
and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at an approximation of the original effective
interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows
from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements
that are integral to the contractual terms.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FESHBERBE (|

POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible within the
next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures
for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit
losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure,
irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the
credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition. When making the assessment,
the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort,
including historical and forward-looking information.

For debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income, the Group applies the low credit risk
simplification. At each reporting date, the Group evaluates
whether the debt investments are considered to have low
credit risk using all reasonable and supportable information
that is available without undue cost or effort. In making that
evaluation, the Group reassesses the external credit ratings
of the debt investments. In addition, the Group considers
that there has been a significant increase in credit risk when
contractual payments are more than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in
certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial
asset to be in default when internal or external information
indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding
contractual amounts in full before taking into account any
credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset
is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovering the contractual cash flows.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FEETHERBE (#)

POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

General approach (Continued)

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income and financial assets at amortised cost are subject
to impairment under the general approach and they are
classified within the following stages for measurement of
ECLs except for trade receivables and contract assets which
apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has
not increased significantly since initial recognition
and for which the loss allowance is measured at
an amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group applies the simplified approach in
calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises
a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting
date. The Group has established a provision matrix that
is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the

economic environment.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FESHBERBE (|

POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Simplified approach (Continued)

For trade receivables that contain a significant financing
component and lease receivables, the Group chooses as
its accounting policy to adopt the simplified approach in
calculating ECLs with policies as described above.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans
and borrowings or payables, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and,
in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of
directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and bills
payables, a derivative financial instrument, financial liabilities
included in other payables and accruals and interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and
borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.
Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or
loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through
the effective interest rate amortisation process.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESHERBE (|

POLICIES (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and
borrowings) (Continued)

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are
an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in the

statement of profit or loss.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse
the holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor
fails to make a payment when due in accordance with the
terms of a debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract is
recognised initially as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issuance
of the guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group
measures the financial guarantee contracts at the higher of:
(i) the ECL allowance determined in accordance with the
policy as set out in “Impairment of financial assets”; and (ii)
the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, the
cumulative amount of income recognised.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FESHBERBE (|

POLICIES (Continued)

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the statement of financial position
if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Derivative financial instruments

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement
Derivative Financial instruments are initially recognised
at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is
entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value.
Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value is

positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of
derivatives are taken directly to the statement of profit or
loss, except for the effective portion of cash flow hedges,
which is recognised in other comprehensive income and later
reclassified to profit or loss when the hedged item affects
profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs incurred in bringing each product to its present
location and conditions are accounted for as follows:

Raw materials Purchase cost on the weighted

average basis

Work in progress and Cost of direct materials, direct
finished goods labour and an appropriate

proportion of overheads

Net realisable value is based on estimated selling prices
less any estimated costs to be incurred to completion and
disposal.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FEETHERBE (#)

POLICIES (Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a
short maturity of generally within three months when acquired,
less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and
form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in
nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred income tax.
Income tax relating to items recognised outside profit or
loss is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FESHEBEHBE (&)

POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax (Continued) B8 (&

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary Fﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ EREEENERRECHEEE:

differences, except: T HIE SRR -

(a) when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial (@) MEEMBEBEDERXZP VL ERGE
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a FEEXAEREE MzXIHALIEHE
transaction that is not a business combination and, at Bt BERZGBWAEE G5 M ERT
the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting wmAEE R

profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

(b) in respect of taxable temporary differences associated (b) ERMBAAR—HEERRIZEESR
with investments in subsidiaries and a joint venture, BHERTEREZENE NEREEZR
when the timing of the reversal of the temporary FOBE [ RS AT LASE S RERMEEERAR
differences can be controlled and it is probable that the 1 2R A] g 1S 2 4 8 Bl 4 1B R
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible Fir /G AT HUR BT IR 1 22 2 I R ) AR A 1R 3K 2 B A ]

temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax REAVBEENESORRRARERIBEEE -

credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are B RIE T 18 & B R 14 R 0] A A B RR R

recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit BHAMRESEEZ2 A AR ABIERER

will be available against which the deductible temporary FARBAMEEENGEE  ETIERBRIN

differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

(a) when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible (@) WAMAMAEREZENEEHEEED
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition ERXRGHVLHERAEBEEXBERES M
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a REWHEHEH BERRGBFEITIZES
business combination and, at the time of the transaction, Fha sk ERBR A EER: &
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or
loss; and

(b) in respect of deductible temporary differences associated (b)y MERHMBARTNR —HEEARZKRESR
with investments in subsidiaries and a joint venture, AR ERTEEEmME RETEYRE
deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent AL RgRER - mMEBEE#E
that it is probable that the temporary differences will HIRERTRMABENZEEREER26
reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will T ERRAEERBEEE -

be available against which the temporary differences can
be utilised.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FESHEHEBE (&)
POLICIES (Continued)
Income tax (Continued) 8B (|
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at BEHBEEMNREEENSERS BAREDEZ
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent WINREETHIEE THERBEF A K
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will HOBREHRBEERDARIL - RBERNELTR
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to BHEERGEREPRWERS B 2HMHER
be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed Bs e A AKEFRBS S ELEHIBEE -
at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to Alg{EL R -

the extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax EERMEEERABRENREHARBLEE MK
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset EE EOEMOBRE (RBUE) - LTEEEARE
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and HEEZRNHFAaEEENHENBRTE-

tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if BEAREE GRS AR GIENITRER A G E AT 18
and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off EEHNMAMBEGHNE BEEMBEENR
current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred ERIE A EER — AR — EREER
tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes ERKRAEBEHEABELCHIEEEHEETE
levied by the same taxation authority on either the same HENBER BRIRFERELENRTKAE
taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend either REESIRAREREEREEBBENTRANBE
to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to AT SRR - BIEE 18 & B SR T A
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in HEER] THE-

each future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax

liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants nEgrsg L

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where BN A B REBKIEERHE RS
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received FrEMSEXREAER ?Tﬁﬁ?ﬁm o G0 Bh B R 2
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the HEEM AIgREZAFREERNBAIERERNKAE
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income XA R AW A MR EE B R B H
on a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, which /\$TE@£fALLH$Z/*\EE WEZBEEMERER
it is intended to compensate, are expensed. Where the grant EFNBRTEBRITERIT A BAERZ-

relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to deferred
income account and deducted from the carrying amount of
the asset and released to profit or loss by way of a reduced
depreciation charge.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FESHBERBE (|

POLICIES (Continued)
Government grants (Continued)

Where the Group receives government loans granted with no
or at a below-market rate of interest for the construction of a
qualifying asset, the initial carrying amount of the government
loans is determined using the effective interest rate method,
as further explained in the accounting policy for “Financial
liabilities” above. The benefit of the government loans granted
with no or at a below-market rate of interest, which is the
difference between the initial carrying value of the loans and
the proceeds received, is treated as a government grant and
released to the statement of profit or loss over the expected
useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers
at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the
Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or

services.

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing
the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more
than one year, revenue is measured at the present value of
the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate
that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the Group a significant financial benefit for more
than one year, revenue recognised under the contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract liability
under the effective interest method. For a contract where the
period between the payment by the customer and the transfer
of the promised goods or services is one year or less, the
transaction price is not adjusted for the effects of a significant
financing component, using the practical expedient in IFRS
15.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESHERBE (|

POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised at the point in
time when control of the asset is transferred to the customer,
generally on delivery of the goods.

Sale of properties

Revenue from the sale of properties is recognised at the point
in time when the purchasers obtained the physical possession
or the legal title of the completed property and the Group
has a present right to payment and the collection of the
consideration is probable.

Manufacturing services

Revenue from the provision of manufacturing services is
recognised over time, using an input method to measure
progress towards complete satisfaction of the service,
because the Group’s performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the asset is created or
enhanced. The input method recognises revenue based on
the proportion of the actual costs incurred relative to the
estimated total costs for satisfaction of the manufacturing
services.

Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis
over the lease terms. Variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or a rate are recognised as income in the
accounting period in which they are incurred.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the
expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period,
when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial
asset.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received
or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer
before the Group transfers the related goods or services.
Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group
performs under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the
related goods or services to the customer).
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FESHBERBE (|

POLICIES (Continued)

Employee benefits

Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for those employees who are eligible to participate
in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged
to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund. The Group’s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed
into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in central pension
schemes operated by the local municipal government. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute certain percentages
of their payroll costs to the central pension schemes. The
contributions are charged to the statement of profit or loss
as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the
central pension schemes.

Other benefits

The Group contributes on a monthly basis to defined
contribution housing, medical and other benefit plans
organised by the PRC government. The PRC government
undertakes to assume the benefit obligations of all existing
and retired employees under these plans. Contributions to
these plans by the Group are expensed as incurred. The
Group has no further obligations for benefits for their qualified
employees under these plans.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESHERBE (|

POLICIES (Continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the
cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing
costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on
the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are
expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing
costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs
in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in RMB. Each entity
in the Group determines its own functional currency and
items included in the financial statements of each entity are
measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are initially
recorded using their respective functional currency rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated
at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end
of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in the statement
of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair
value was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation
of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated
in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change
in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on the
item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FESHBERBE (|

POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an
advance consideration, the date of initial transaction is the
date on which the Group initially recognises the non-monetary
asset or non-monetary liability arising from the advance
consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in
advance, the Group determines the transaction date for each
payment or receipt of the advance consideration.

The Company incorporated in the Cayman Islands uses the
Hong Kong dollar as its functional currency. As the Group
mainly operates in Mainland China, RMB is used as the
presentation currency of the Company. As at the end of the
reporting period, the assets and liabilities of the Company
and certain overseas subsidiaries, which use currencies other
than RMB as their functional currencies, are translated into
the presentation currency of the Company at the exchange
rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period and their
statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
are translated into RMB at the weighted average exchange
rates for the year.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses,
assets and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and
the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that
could require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from
those involving estimations, which have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Withholding taxes arising from the distributions of
dividends

The Group’s determination as to whether to accrue for
withholding taxes from the distribution of dividends from
subsidiaries in Mainland China according to the relevant tax
jurisdictions is subject to judgement on the timing and amount
of the payment of the dividend. Withholding taxes are only
provided for the profits of the subsidiaries in Mainland China
which the Group considers probable to be distributed in the
foreseeable future.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Judgements (Continued)

Classification between investment properties and
owner-occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an
investment property, and has developed criteria in making
that judgement. Investment property is a property held to
earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both. Therefore, the
Group considers whether a property generates cash flows
largely independently of the other assets held by the Group.
Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn
rentals or for capital appreciation and another portion that is
held for use in the production or supply of goods or services
or for administrative purposes. If these portions could be sold
separately or leased out separately under a finance lease,
the Group accounts for the portions separately. If the portions
could not be sold separately, the property is an investment
property only if an insignificant portion is held for use in the
production or supply of goods or services or for administrative
purposes. Judgement is made on an individual property basis
to determine whether ancillary services are so significant that
a property does not qualify as an investment property.

Classification between investment properties and
properties held for sale

The Group develops properties held for sale in the ordinary
course of business and properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation. Judgement is made by
management on determining whether a property is designated
as an investment property or a property held for sale. The
Group considers its intention for holding the properties
at the early development stage of the related properties.
During the course of construction, the related properties
under construction are accounted for as properties under
development for sale included in current assets if the
properties are intended for sale shortly after its completion,
whereas, the properties are accounted for as investment
properties under construction included in investment
properties if the properties are intended to be held to earn
rentals and/or for capital appreciation. Upon completion of
the properties, the properties held for sale in the ordinary
course of business are transferred to completed properties
for sale and are stated at cost, while the properties held to
earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation are transferred to
completed investment properties. Investment properties, both
under construction and completed, are subject to revaluation
at the end of each reporting period.

3.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.

Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing rate
The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit
in a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental borrowing
rate (“IBR”) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate
of interest that the Group would have to pay to borrow over a
similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary
to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use
asset in a similar economic environment. The IBR therefore
reflects what the Group “would have to pay”, which requires
estimation when no observable rates are available (such as
for subsidiaries that do not enter into financing transactions)
or when it needs to be adjusted to reflect the terms and
conditions of the lease (for example, when leases are not in
the subsidiary’s functional currency). The Group estimates the
IBR using observable inputs (such as market interest rates)
when available and is required to make certain entity-specific
estimates (such as the subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).

Estimation of fair value of investment properties

In the absence of current prices in an active market for similar
properties, the Group considers information from a variety of
sources, including:

(a) current prices in an active market for properties of a
different nature, condition or location, adjusted to reflect
those differences;

(b) recent prices of similar properties on less active markets,
with adjustments to reflect any changes in economic
conditions since the date of the transactions that
occurred at those prices; and

(c) discounted cash flow projections based on reliable
estimates of future cash flows, supported by the terms
of any existing lease and other contracts and (when
possible) by external evidence such as current market
rents for similar properties in the same location and
condition, and using discount rates that reflect current
market assessments of the uncertainty in the amount
and timing of the cash flows.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than
goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators
of impairment for all non-financial assets (including the
right-of-use assets) at the end of each reporting period.
Non-financial assets are tested for impairment when there are
indicators that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable.
An impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or
a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which
is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value
in use. The calculation of the fair value less costs to sell is
based on available data from binding sales transactions in
an arm’s length transaction of similar assets or observable
market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the
asset. When value in use calculations are undertaken,
management must estimate the expected future cash flows
from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those
cash flows.

Useful lives and residual values of property, plant
and equipment

In determining the useful lives and residual values of items
of property, plant and equipment, the Group has to consider
various factors, such as technical or commercial obsolescence
arising from changes or improvements in production, or from a
change in the market demand for the product or service output
of the asset, expected usage of the asset, expected physical
wear and tear, the care and maintenance of the asset, and
legal or similar limits on the use of the asset. The estimation
of the useful life of the asset is based on the experience of
the Group with similar assets that are used in a similar way.
Additional depreciation is made if the estimated useful lives
and/or the residual values of items of property, plant and
equipment are different from the previous estimation. Useful
lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial year
end date based on changes in circumstances.

3.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PR AR MIRE

31 December 2019 —Z—hG&+-A=+—H

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax losses
to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will
be available against which the unused tax losses can be
utilised, based on all available evidence. Recognition primarily
involves significant management’s judgements regarding the
future performance of a particular legal entity or tax group in
which the deferred tax asset has been recognised. A variety of
other factors are also evaluated in considering whether there
is convincing evidence that it is probable that some portions
or all of the deferred tax assets will ultimately be realised,
such as the existence of taxable temporary differences, tax
planning strategies and the periods in which estimated tax
losses can be utilised. The carrying amounts of the deferred
tax assets and related financial models and budgets are
reviewed at the end of the reporting period and to the extent
that there is insufficient convincing evidence that sufficient
taxable profits will be available within the utilisation periods
to allow the utilisation of the carryforward of tax losses, and
that the asset balance will be reduced and charged to profit or
loss.

Write-down of inventories to net realisable value

Write-down of inventories to net realisable value is made
based on the estimated net realisable value of inventories.
The assessment of the write-down requires involves

3.
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management’s judgement and estimates. Where the actual AZEZRERN %t e ¥ EHRAREZEE
outcome or expectation in future is different from the original B RRE(E MO, BEFE -

estimate, such differences will have an impact on the carrying
amounts of inventories and the write-down/write-back of
inventories in the period in which such estimate has been
changed.
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31 December 2019 —Z—hF+=-A=+—H

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade
receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables. The provision rates are based on days past due
for groupings of various customer segments that have similar
loss patterns (i.e., by geography, product type, customer type,
and coverage by credit insurance).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s
historical observed default rates. The Group will calibrate
the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience with
forward-looking information. For instance, if forecast economic
conditions (i.e., gross domestic products) are expected to
deteriorate over the next year which can lead to an increased
number of defaults in the manufacturing sector, the historical
default rates are adjusted. At each reporting date, the
historical observed default rates are updated and changes in
the forward-looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is
a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to
changes in circumstances and forecast economic conditions.
The Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast
of economic conditions may also not be representative of
customers’ actual default in the future. The information about
the ECLs on the Group’s trade receivables is disclosed in
note 22 to the financial statements.

3.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PR AR MIRE

31 December 2019 —Z—hG&+-A=+—H

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Recognition and allocation of construction cost on
properties under development

Development costs of properties are recorded as properties
under development during the construction stage and will
be transferred to completed properties held for sale upon
completion. Apportionment of these costs will be recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss upon the
recognition of the sale of the properties. Before the final
settlement of the development costs and other costs relating
to the sale of the properties, these costs are accrued by the
Group based on management’s best estimate.

When developing properties, the Group may divide the
development projects into phases. Specific costs directly
related to the development of a phase are recorded as
the cost of such phase. Costs that are common to phases
are allocated to individual phases based on the estimated
saleable area of the entire project.

Where the final settlement of costs and the related cost
allocation is different from the initial estimates, any increase
or decrease in the development costs and other costs would
affect the profit or loss in future years.

PRC land appreciation tax

The Group is subject to land appreciation tax in Mainland
China. The provision for land appreciation tax is based on
management’s best estimates according to its understanding
of the requirements set forth in the relevant PRC tax laws
and regulations. The actual land appreciation tax liabilities
are subject to the determination by the tax authorities upon
the completion of the property development projects. The
Group has not finalised its land appreciation tax calculations
and payments with the tax authorities for certain property
development projects.
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4,

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their products and services and has
two reportable operating segments as follows:

(a) the steel pipes segment engages in the manufacture and
sale of welded steel pipes and the provision of related
manufacturing services; and

(b) the property development and investment segment
engages in development of properties for sale and
property investment for its rental income potential.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions
about resource allocation and performance assessment.
Segment performance is evaluated based on reportable
segment profit/loss, which is a measure of adjusted profit/loss
before tax. The adjusted profit/loss before tax is measured
consistently with the Group’s profit/loss before tax except that
head office and corporate expenses are excluded from such
measurement.

Segment assets exclude unallocated head office and
corporate assets as these assets are managed on a group
basis.

Segment liabilities exclude unallocated head office and
corporate liabilities as these liabilities are managed on a
group basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with
reference to the selling prices used for sales made to third
parties at the then prevailing market prices.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PR AR MIRE

31 December 2019 —Z—hG&+-A=+—H

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4, EESTER (&)
(Continued)
Year ended 31 December 2019 BZE-_2—-NE+-BA=+—HLEE
Property
development
Steel pipes and investment Total
HE WERBERE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR AR®TR AR®TR

Segment revenue: (note 5) DEUWA : (HEEES)
Sales to external customers RIMNEE P HE 1,141,665 52,296 1,193,961
Segment results oA (341,190) 278,308 (62,882)
Reconciliation: HE:
Corporate and other unallocated RAIREMAN AL

expenses (47,657)
Finance costs (other than interest BEKA (HES

on lease liabilities) (44,690)
Loss before tax BREAIEE (155,229)
Segment assets DEUEE 4,351,083 5,651,968 10,003,051
Reconciliation: B
Elimination of intersegment receivables ?fﬁiﬁ 7 B U IR (2,293,903)
Corporate and other unallocated assets NAalREMRAEEE 780,658
Total assets BEE 8,489,806
Segment liabilities FHEE 6,935,784 3,300,340 10,236,124
Reconciliation: k-
Elimination of intersegment payables 85 7 B FE 1 5k IB (2,293,903)
Corporate and other unallocated liabilities A7 & £tk HE & & 492,616
Total liabilities BaE 8,434,837
Other segment information HthpHER
Share of loss of a joint venture ElE—HaERaEE (18,655) - (18,655)
Impairment losses recognised in REZRBERZREBIEFE

the statement of profit or loss, net (41,460) - (41,460)
Depreciation and amortisation FERSHE (132,021) (215) (132,236)
Investment in a joint venture R—BEERRZIRE 13,177 = 13,177
Capital expenditure* EAREAZ 62,523 45 62,568
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31 December 2019 —Z—hF+=-A=+—H
4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4, EETER (@)
(Continued)
Year ended 31 December 2018 BE-ZE-N\E+-A=+—-HLEE
Property
development
Steel pipes  and investment Total
HE WERTERE HE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFT ARBFT ARBFT
Segment revenue 2 HBA
Sales to external customers mINEE P S 1,071,126 610,440 1,681,566
Segment results DI ELE (450,924) 74,599 (376,325)
Reconciliation: A
Corporate and other unallocated DA R EM KD BFRZ
expenses (77,717)
Finance costs A KA (97,206)
Loss before tax BrECAIE 1B (551,248)
Segment assets PHBEE 3,844,651 5,735,092 9,579,743
Reconciliation: HE:
Elimination of intersegment receivables & &% 2 & JiE Y 5 18 (1,733,842)
Corporate and other unallocated assets A& R EMADEEE 2,162,392
Total assets BEE 10,008,293
Segment liabilities SMEE 7,003,115 3,578,427 10,581,542
Reconciliation: HE:
Elimination of intersegment payables 85 9 B FE 1 5118 (1,733,842)
Corporate and other unallocated liabilites 27 &% £t A HE & F 930,320
Total liabilities BaE 9,778,020
Other segment information Hitp o BER
Share of loss of a joint venture ElE—HeE R rREE (2,724) = (2,724)
Impairment losses recognised in REBERRBERAZREBRFH
the statement of profit or loss, net (7,053) - (7,053)
Depreciation and amortisation FrEREH (165,464) (349) (165,813)
Investment in a joint venture R—BEERAZIRE 31,832 = 31,832
Capital expenditure* VNG 22,430 41 22,471
* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and * BARAYBREANEVE BERIEUAREMSL
equipment and prepaid land lease payments. S -
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PR AR MIRE

31 December 2019 —Z—hG&+-A=+—H

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. EESTER (@)
(Continued)
Information about steel pipe products and services HEERRRKEER
The revenue from the major products and services is analysed FEEMERBOHWAHTEOT :
as follows:
2019 2018
—E-hF —ZE-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBTT

Manufacture and sale of steel pipes: B REEWNE
LSAW steel pipes HHEEBRE 835,348 591,276
SSAW steel pipes BIEIRE 29,645 120,779
ERW steel pipes BHEE 7,803 30,576
Steel pipe manufacturing services: i B 58 AR A -
LSAW steel pipes HEEIEE 167,859 195,682
SSAW steel pipes BIERE 52,335 72,786
ERW steel pipes BEEE 62 897
Others* HAoh* 48,613 59,130
1,141,665 1,071,126
Sale of properties HEME 52,296 610,440
1,193,961 1,681,566
* Others mainly include the manufacture and sale of steel fittings, * HMOTZRRAEREEMEEH BAURM &
screw-thread steels and scrap materials, and the trading of EERE AR B B R AR o

equipment and steel plates.
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B RS FR R MY 5T
31 December 2019 —Z—hF+=-A=+—H
4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4, EETER (@)

(Continued)
Geographical information
(a) The revenue information based on the locations of the

i B &R
(@) WAEHREFMESREDINT

customers is as follows:

2019 2018
—E-hEF —ZE-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBEF T
Sales to external customers: RN R FHE -
Mainland China A i 1,059,584 1,415,032
European Union B Bt B8R = 2,026
Middle East R 56,638 81,421
Other Asian countries =R IETER 77,739 166,404
Oceania RAEM - 16,683
1,193,961 1,681,566
(b) Over 90% of the Group’s assets and capital expenditure (b) AEEBEERE AR BEIO% L7 H
are located in Mainland China. A 3, o

FEEFER
MEDM—BE—FPHNHEEERANAR
#£270,000,0007C (= —N\F:F) - BFER—H
BEXZEPHBEEHNEREETHHEE-

Information about major customers

Revenue of approximately RMB270,000,000 (2018: Nil) was
derived from sales by the steel pipe segment to a single
customer, including sales to a group of entities which are
known to be under common control with that customer.
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31 December 2019 —Z—hG&+-A=+—H

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. WA - Hfihw AR W=
Revenue represents the invoiced value of goods sold and WA EEFRNEEEMMATRERFENEZREE "
services rendered, net of value-added tax (“VAT”) and other MR ED (GER]) REMEEH W2 A
sales taxes, after allowances for returns and discounts during RERITNEE-
the year.
An analysis of the Group’s revenue, other income and gains AEBWA - HBRARKZITAT
is as follows:
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T R ARETT

Revenue from contracts with customers REEEFEHZWA
Manufacture and sale of seam welded steel BLERIHERBRIEENE R
pipes and the provision of REERRERSE
related manufacturing services 1,141,665 1,071,126
Sale of properties nk=E7/E 52,296 610,440
1,193,961 1,681,566
Other income and gains Hib W A & W=
Bank interest income RITH B M A 23,794 26,812
Subsidy income from the PRC government P B BAT RO R B A (B 3E30) *
(note 30)* 34,764 46,534
Gain on resumption of land use rights At FEREREALTER
to the local authorities** U B B B 2 368,305 =
Compensation wHiE - 79
Others H A, 14,884 8,154
441,747 81,579
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B IE R

= MiEE

31 December 2019 —Z—hF+=-A=+—H

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

(Con

** 1)

** 2)

tinued)

The subsidy income represents subsidies granted by the local
finance bureaus to PCKSP, PCKSP (Zhuhai), and Kaidi as
awards for their products. There are no unfulfilled conditions or
contingencies relating to such subsidies.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, a land of PCKSP
with a carrying amount of RMB1,128,000 located at Qinghe
East Road, Shiji Town in Panyu District of Guangzhou, the PRC,
was resumed by the local authority. The cash consideration of
RMB16,923,000 was received in 2016. A net gain amounting
to RMB15,795,000 was recognized during the year ended
31 December 2019 when the land transfer procedures were
finalized.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, a land (the “Land”)
of Phase Ill GDC held by Pearl Steel Investment was sold
to Guangzhou City Panyu District Land Development Centre
(“GPDLDC”). The land transfer procedures were completed
in 2019. According to the agreement signed by Pearl Steel
Investment and GPDLDC and the valuation report of the Land
provided by an independent valuer, the compensation amount
was RMB1.52 billion. A net gain amounting to RMB352,510,000
on the land resumption was recognised as other income and
gains during the year ended 31 December 2019.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PR AR MIRE

31 December 2019 —Z—hG&+-A=+—H

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. WA -Htw AR W (&)
(Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers
(i) Disaggregated revenue information
Year ended 31 December 2019

REEFEHZHBA
(i) THBPAEZH
BE-ZE—-NFE+=-A=+—HILEE

Property

development
Steel pipes and investment Total
HE YERBRERE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR AR¥T T ARBTR

Sales of goods/properties HEER/ ME 921,409 52,296 973,705
Rendering of services AR 220,256 = 220,256
Total revenue from contracts REREFARBBUA

with customers 1,141,665 52,296 1,193,961
Geographical markets it & T 45
Mainland China PR 1,007,288 52,296 1,059,584
Middle East R 56,638 - 56,638
Other Asian countries HiHNER 77,739 = 77,739
Total revenue from contracts with REEPEHZBIA

customers 1,141,665 52,296 1,193,961
Timing of revenue recognition L ON 343
Goods/properties transferred Ee MERE B

at a point in time 921,409 52,296 973,705
Services transferred over time Be IR B8 1% AR 7% 220,256 = 220,256
Total revenue from contracts with REEFARMBUIA

customers 1,141,665 52,296 1,193,961
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

(Continued)

H

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
(i) Disaggregated revenue information (Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2018

WA H AR s (#)

REEFEHZWA (#)
(i) DEUAEH (&)
BE-ZE—-N\E+=-A=+—HILEE

Property
development
Steel pipes  and investment Total
HE WMERTFERE BEr
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFTT ARETT AREFTT
Sales of goods/properties HEEM/ ME 801,761 610,440 1,412,201
Rendering of services RERS 269,365 - 269,365
Total revenue from contracts RERFARBBKA
with customers 1,071,126 610,440 1,681,566
Geographical markets it & T 3%
Mainland China B A 804,592 610,440 1,415,032
European Union B B R 2,026 = 2,026
Middle East R 81,421 - 81,421
Other Asian countries Hip MBI R 166,404 = 166,404
Oceania AAEM 16,683 = 16,683
Total revenue from contracts with REBFAHZBKA
customers 1,071,126 610,440 1,681,566
Timing of revenue recognition PN 453
Goods/properties transferred e MERRE RS
at a point in time 801,761 610,440 1,412,201
Services transferred over time time B B FE 1% IR 75 269,365 = 269,365
Total revenue from contracts REEFPARMBUA
with customers 1,071,126 610,440 1,681,566
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31 December 2019 —Z—hG&+-A=+—H

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(i) Disaggregated revenue information (Continued)
The following table shows the amounts of revenue
recognised in the current reporting period that were
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of
the reporting period and recognised from performance
obligations satisfied in previous periods:

WA~ H AR s (#)

REEFEHZBA (8)

(i) BDEBRAEH (&)
TRITHRAREHRECERBA P AR
BEMUVENEBERIRBEREEEK
BHEEERZERE:

2019 2018
—E-hE —ZE-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARBF T
Revenue recognised that was included FARBREHANENEREZ
in contract liabilities at the beginning of TREREWA :
the reporting period:
Sale of steel pipes i & 55 & 182,914 240,669
Rendering of manufacturing services 12 B R 15 26,398 34,733
Sale of properties YIS 41,745 507,700
251,057 783,102

(ii) Performance obligations
Information about the Group’s performance obligations is
summarised below:

Sale of steel pipes

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of
the goods and payment is generally due within one year
from the invoice date, except for new customers, where
payment in advance is normally required.

— TN

(i) BHELE
ERAEEBOETZ BREERDT
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31 December 2019 —E—hF+=-A=+—H
5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. WA -Hitw AR WS (&)
(Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued) REEFEFEHZWA (&)
(ii) Performance obligations (Continued) (i) BHRIEME (&)
Sale of properties Y EHE
The performance obligation is satisfied upon the physical BHEADIRESEMEEE T ITWEK
possession or when the legal title of the completed ERBETIME LT ERERERR -

property is obtained by the purchasers.

Manufacturing services R R

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as BEERREMER BOBRKFUET DER
services are rendered and payment is generally due RERBONIR —REINIETFRP B E
within 50 days from the date of delivery or customer EEMBHRF508 AE -

acceptance of the product processed.

6. OTHER EXPENSES 6. EHMEHR
2019 2018
—E-hE —ZE-N\F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

B & AR®T R ARBT T

Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HERB AR ZEE 34 20,107 25,865
Loss on deregister of subsidiaries MEARHEERL ZER - 14,008

Loss on disposal of items of property, HEWE WEREKE
plant and equipment BREZER - 19,533
Compensation B8 7,694 23,386
Impairment of trade receivables B 5 W RO E 22 3,845 2,450
Impairment of other receivables H b & Y FRIE R E 23 37,615 4,603
Others HAt 127 3,587
69,388 93,432
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PR AR MIRE

31 December 2019 A=+—8

T-nat

7. LOSS BEFORE TAX 7. BRBAEE
The Group’s loss before tax is arrived at after charging/ AEEMBRBEABEDLEMNR/ (GFA) TS
(crediting): HgES:
2019 2018
ZE-NF —E-N\F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR¥ T ARBEFT
Cost of inventories sold BEEFERAE 780,894 730,714
Cost of properties sold EEMEKA 41,540 479,797
Depreciation of property, ME BELREETE
plant and equipment 13 98,973 140,406
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (2018: (FAEEENE (ZT— \F:
amortization of land lease payments) RN TAeEE) 18 33,263 25,407
Minimum lease payments under KEMESERBEENK
operating leases - 10,458
Lease payments not included in RETAHEBEFENHEENRIEA
the measurement of lease liabilities 322 -
Gain on resumption of land use rights E i AR E
to the local authorities** & R U A W g > (368,305) =
Auditor’'s remuneration A E K 2,524 2,460
Employee benefit expenses (including EERAAS (BRREES
directors’ remuneration (note 9)): HE (FIEE9) ) -
Wages and salaries IERH® 108,920 140,257
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RIKTE FIEH B R 10,094 15,095
Impairment of trade receivables* B 5 W BRSO E * 22 3,845 2,450
Impairment of other receivables* H b W R IE R B 23 37,615 4,603
Bank interest income** RITH B UL A 5 (23,794) (26,812)
Research and development costs T N 32,890 38,718
& Included in “Other expenses” in the consolidated statement of * FPAfREBmERAN[HMER] -

profit or loss.

*k

statement of profit or loss.

— T NFFERSE

Included in “Other income and gains” in the consolidated

o FABRABRERATEMBARKE] -
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N -
B RS FR R MY 5T
31 December 2019 —Z—hF+=-A=+—H
8. FINANCE COSTS 8. MERK
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: BEKASTLT
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-NF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR®BT ARBET T
Interest on bank and other borrowings RITREMEEF B
(including bonds and notes, (BREEFRER
excluding lease liabilities) HE&BERIN 523,468 462,155
Interest on sale and leaseback liabilities ERMBEREERNE = 4,344
Interest on lease liabilities HEaERNE 18 794 -
Interest on discounted bills EAIREEF B 4,368 9,868
Total interest expense on financial liabilities W IFIZ A FEFAEBZH 2
not at fair value through profit or loss ERMEBEMYRAERZ A% 528,630 476,367
Less: Interest capitalised B BARMEFIE (78,572) (101,899)
450,058 374,468
9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 9. EEHM
Details of directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed FRN EEHFMoFBRBELMRA - BERA
pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a),(b),(c) and 1E5155383(1)(a) * (b)* (c) ()& A Al (FHEE
(f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of EFZER) RO F2MWEMNT
the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulation, are as follows:
2019 2018
—E-hEF —ZE-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T R ARETT

Fees we 591 589
Other emoluments: H A< -

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EUREWER 3,858 3,861

Retirement benefit scheme contributions RARAE FFT B4 3R 67 65

3,925 3,926

4,516 4,515
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31 December 2019 —Z—hG&+-A=+—H

9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (Continued) 9. EEFM (@)
(a) Independent non-executive directors () BYFHITES

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors RERN ENBIFERTES2HESOT:
during the year were as follows:

2019 2018

—E-hF —E-)N\F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR T ARBFTT

Mr. Chen Ping PR o & 198 198
Mr. See Tak Wah* ME{EEE S A * 146 193
Mr. Au Yeung Kwong Wah* B3 B 2 S A 49 -
Mr. Tian Xiao Ren B2 5t & 198 198
591 589

* Mr. See Tak Wah resigned on 1 October 2019, and Mr. Au *
Yeung Kwong Wah was appointed on the same day.

RELENR_ZF-NAFTA-AHE X
BELAENAAERE-

& %
ﬁ r\ar

RER BERNTEIFATESTNEM
e (ZF—NF &) -

There were no other emoluments payable to the
independent non-executive directors during the year

(2018: Nil).
(b) Executive directors (b) BITES
Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefit
and benefits scheme Total
Fees in kind contributions remuneration
e 2HR EBHRERFE
we BMEA R 3 B 48 5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R AR¥ T AR¥T R AR¥T R
Year ended 31 December 2019 HE=-Z—hF
tZA=+-BLEE
Executive directors: HirE=Z:
Mr. Chen Chang BRE &4 - 1,891 - 1,891
Ms. Chen Zhao Nian BRKELZ L - 975 32 1,007
Ms. Chen Zhao Hua BRkERZ L - 992 35 1,027
- 3,858 67 3,925
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B RS FR R MY 5T
31 December 2019 —ZT—AF+=-A=+—8H
9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (Continued) 9. EEHFM (@)
(b) Executive directors (Continued) (b) BITEE (8#)
Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefit
and benefits scheme Total
Fees in kind contributions remuneration
He EZUMk ERAREAEE
e EMiEF R Bt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT

Year ended 31 December 2018 HEZE=-Z—N\F
+ZA=t+—-HLEE

Executive directors: HITEE:
Mr. Chen Chang BRE S E = 1,892 = 1,892
Ms. Chen Zhao Nian BRKEFELZ L = 990 31 1,021
Ms. Chen Zhao Hua BRokEL L+ - 979 34 1,013

- 3,861 65 3,926

There was no arrangement under which a director RERALEFEMESHENXRERETM

waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the e =k o

year.

10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 10. A€ B EHER
The five highest paid employees of the Group during the year AEBRFANARRSGTEE DO T

are analysed as follows:

Number of employees

EE®A
2019 2018
—E-hF —ZT-N\F
Directors 5= 3 3
Non-director highest paid employees FEFERTEE 2
5 5
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31 December 2019 —Z—hG&+-A=+—H

10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (Continued) 10. EEBREHES (&)
Details of the remuneration of the above directors are set EREFZHMF BRI L X9 o Lt 3E
out in note 9 above. Details of the remuneration of the above EEERTRERERFANTMFBLT
non-director highest paid employees during the year are as
follows:
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARBEF T
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EMNEYEH 1,258 1,513
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RORAE FIET B 3K 25 34
1,283 1,547
The number of these non-director highest paid employees Ty HFMEENFEETRSHEEAZNT:
whose remuneration fell within the following band is as
follows:
Number of employees
EE%E
2019 2018
—E-NF —ZE-N\E
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ %1,000,000/8 7T 2 2
During the year, no remuneration was paid by the Group RERN FEBEBERAZSEFIAEESTE
to the directors or any of the five highest paid employees BAEM— B TEMMESIEARSI MARE R
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as AR B ) RSB A F (E -
compensation for loss of office.
Other than the directors and the five highest paid employees, REERAEERTREEN BTIHFHEER

the number of members of senior management whose RREEREKE ABBT
remuneration fell within the following band is as follows:

Number of employee

EE®A
2019 2018
—E-hE —E-NE
HK$400,001 to HK$600,000 400,001/ 7T £600,000/%8 7T 1 1
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31 December 2019 —Z—hF+=-A=+—H

11.

INCOME TAX

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on
profits arising in or derived from the jurisdictions in which
members of the Group are domiciled and operate.

Corporate income tax (“CIT”)
The Company, which was incorporated in the Cayman Islands,
is not subject to CIT.

Lessonstart Enterprises Limited (“Lessonstart”) and Lucknow
Consultants Limited (“Lucknow”), which were incorporated in
the British Virgin Islands, are not subject to CIT.

Crown Central Holdings Limited (“Crown Central”), Chu
Kong Steel Pipe Group Co., Ltd. (“CKSPG”) and View Sharp
International Limited (“View Sharp”), which were incorporated
in Hong Kong, were subject to profits tax at the rate of 16.5%
on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong
during the year.

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the
Group had no assessable profits derived from or earned in
Hong Kong during the year.

Panyu Chu Kong Steel Pipe Co., Ltd. (“PCKSP”), as a
High and New Technology Enterprise (“HNTE”) qualified on
16 December 2008 and renewed in 2011, 2014 and 2017,
is entitled to a reduced tax rate of 15% from 1 January
2017 to 31 December 2019. Panyu Chu Kong Steel Pipe
(Zhuhai) Co., Ltd. (“PCKSP (Zhuhai)’), as a HNTE qualified
on 30 September 2015 and renewed in 2018, is entitled to a
reduced tax rate of 15% from 1 January 2018 to 31 December
2020. Panyu Chu Kong Steel Pipe (Lianyungang) Co., Ltd.
(“PCKSP (Lianyungang)”) as a HNTE qualified on 5 December
2019, is entitled to a reduced tax rate of 15% from 1 January
2019 to 31 December 2021.
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31 December 2019 —Z—hG&+-A=+—H

11. INCOME TAX (Continued) 1. FiEH (&

Corporate income tax (“CIT”) (Continued)

Zhuhai Zhugang Wharf Co. Ltd. (“Zhugang Wharf”) and
Zhuhai Zhonghai Xin Building Materials Industry and Trade
Co., Ltd. (“Zhonghai Xin”) meet the requirements of tax
privileges for small enterprises and were entitled to a reduced
tax rate of 10%.

Pursuant to the PRC Income Tax Law and the respective
regulations, except for certain preferential tax treatments
available to PCKSP, PCKSP (Zhuhai), PCKSP (Lianyungang),
Zhugang Wharf and Zhonghai Xin, the companies of the
Group which operate in Mainland China were subject to CIT
at a rate of 25% on their respective taxable income for the
year ended 31 December 2019.

Taxes on profits assessable in Mainland China have been
calculated at the prevailing tax rates, based on existing
legislation, interpretations and practices in respect thereof.

Land appreciation tax (“LAT”)

According to the requirements of the Provisional Regulations
of the PRC on LAT effective from 1 January 1994 and the
Detailed Implementation Rules on the Provisional Regulations
of the PRC on LAT effective from 27 January 1995, all income
from the sale or transfer of state-owned land use rights and
buildings in Mainland China (being the proceeds from sale of
properties less deductible expenditures including borrowing
costs and property development expenditures) is subject
to LAT at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% of
the appreciation of land value with an exemption provided
for property sales of ordinary residential properties if their
appreciation values do not exceed 20% of the sum of the total
deductible items.

The Group estimated and made provision for LAT according
to the requirements set forth in the relevant PRC tax laws
and regulations. The actual LAT liabilities are subject to the
determination by the tax authorities upon completion of the
property development projects and the LAT determined by the
tax authorities might be different from the basis on which the
provision for LAT is calculated.

— TN

EEREHR ([REREHR]) (&)

WEKMEER N AR AR ([RMITFE ) K Ik
BHHEEEMIBERQRA ([FEEFTE
NICEBRBERT BEZH10% R 2D

BERBEMERERERER BRESHIME -
FERHKIME (K8) HFHEWIME GZEH) -
KMBERPIBEESE TEERBEFEN K
EEETRPBE AU LE 2 QR AE25% KT K
RESEABEE-_Z—NAF+-_A=1+—HLEFE
ZERBBMABMZICEMEH -

REEBZERBENRTEEZ 2EREM +
BAWERTUE MO R IRRBEITHERAE -

THMIEER ([ B ER )
RE-NANAOEF—B—BERN(FEARHK
ME T EERGITHRG M—hhAEF—A
THERAEBRM (PEARAMBE L HISEH Y
TRPIERMARD) HER 23EE i HEW
ARBRERFERBEMEZEY (B EEHEFRN
FORAREATHRSZ L (BEEERANEH
ERELIE))EZR T MmEEIEENI0%ZE60%
WEETREHY WREEHBENREBEEY
ERIGEBETHRBMRIER £L5Er20% - BE
AREHEHRE-

ANE B R E T B A R TOE MK R 60 AR E (A 5015t
RTELHEER -BER L EEREEHEME
B35 TR B 3k T i 0 755 0 B B O - T R A M B T
EH) IR B T AT RE T R R 5T B L 30 IE (BT 2 R
ERKIE
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31 December 2019 —Z—hF+=-A=+—H

11. INCOME TAX (Continued) 1.
The major components of the income tax credit for the year
are as follows:

FREH (@)

FAMGHELN T EZARIED

W

2019 2018
—E-h#F T—\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBEF T

Current — Mainland China Bl HR — AR B Ay
PRC CIT Charge for the year FARBEPEMSH I D 94,793 50,403
PRC CIT overprovision in prior years MEFERBECEMSHEERE (11,794) (6)
PRC LAT A B b R E R 7,579 61,111
Deferred (note 20) IRIE (FF7E20) (103,718) (163,821)
Total tax credit for the year FABIER BT (13,140) (52,313)

A reconciliation of the tax credit applicable to loss before
tax at the statutory tax rates for the countries in which the
Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled
to the tax expense at the Group’s effective tax rates, and a
reconciliation of the applicable rates to the effective tax rates,
are as follows:

Year ended 31 December 2019

o]

RN ERVABEROHEEER (BARR R

HERBOMBRABRMENBRAEER K E)
HAKERERGEGFENRBRXWEKRIE

ﬂﬂ}

AREEERBEHROT -

BE-Z—-hF+=-A=+—HLEFE

Mainland China Hong Kong and others Total
HE R EERHAMLE @t
RMB’000 % RMB’000 % RMB’000 %
AR¥TR AR¥TT ARETT
Loss before tax BH S (42,294) (112,935) (155,229)
Tax at the statutory tax rate REEREFENTE (10,574) 25.0 (2,435) 2.2 (13,009) 8.4
Tax effect of: RBEYE:
Lower tax rate enacted by local authority EiEARG 2 BRER X (22) 0.1 - = (22) =
Expenses not deductible for tax TRMBHAS 8,824 (20.9) - - 8,824 (5.7)
Adjustments in respect of current tax of BT HRAERE AE
previous periods (11,794) 27.9 - - (11,794) 7.6
Loss attributable to a joint venture EE—HeENAER 4,664 (11.0) - - 4,664 (3.0)
Tax loss not recognised in the current year ~ AFF RBEAT AR 25,288 (59.8) 2,435 (2.2) 27,723 (17.9)
Temporary difference TRiER (35,210) 83.3 - - (35,210 22.7
Provision for LAT T EEREE 7,579 (17.9) - - 7,579 (4.9)
Tax effect of LAT THEERYE (1,895) 45 - - (1,895) 1.2
Tax credit at the Group’s effective tax rate  EASEERH L E 7 HERE (13,140) 3141 - - (13,140) 8.5
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T-nE+=A=+—A

31 December 2019

11. INCOME TAX (Continued)
Year ended 31 December 2018

1. FREHR (@)

BE-ZE-NF+-A=1+-HLFE

Mainland China Hong Kong and others Total
HEI A EAREME st
RMB'000 % RMB'000 % RMB'000 %
ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT
Loss before tax BRRAEE (376,200) (175,048) (551,248)
Tax at the statutory tax rate BEEREENHIE (94,050) 25.0 (4,788) 27 (98,838) 17.9
Tax effect of: Rz
Lower tax rate for HNTEs BRRNtEZBRERE (401) 0.1 - - (401) 01
Lower tax rate enacted by local authority EHRBRG  RERER (32) - - - (32) =
Expenses not deductible for tax TRMBR% 2,058 (0.5) = = 2,058 (0.4)
Adjustments in respect of current tax of B REANBRE R
previous periods (6) - - - (6) -
Loss attributable to a joint venture EE-HeEnaER 409 (0.1) - - 409 (0.1)
Provision for LAT T EEREE 61,111 (16.2) - - 61,111 (11.1)
Tax effect of LAT THEERYE (15,278) 4.1 = = (15,278) 28
Temporary difference ERtzER 41,027 (10.9) - - 41,027 (7.4)
Tax losses brought forward from previous ~ AFEERRAZHGBEEE
years recognised in current year, net of BEIHEEE NRAEE
tax losses not recognised in current year AERBEER (47,151) 12.5 4,788 (2.7 (42,363) 77
Tax credit at the Group’s effective tax rate R AEEERH R E 7 HAERE (52,313) 13.9 - - (52,313) 95
12. LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO 12. BRAIEBEREIEEARBLEREE

ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of the basic loss per share is based on the

loss for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the

parent and the weighted average number of ordinary shares
of 1,011,142,000 (2018: 1,011,142,000) in issue during the

year.

No diluted loss per share is calculated because the exercise

price of the warrant instrument was greater than the average

market price of the Company’s share for the year ended
31 December 2019 and 2018.

TNFEEHRE

BREAFBEDRBER AR ETEREAEE AR

HEREBBERFACDETER
1,011,142,000/ (= =

B -

R hn #E F 15 85
— V% :1,011,142,000

HRAEEELANTEESRARRBE-F
—NFRZE-NFT_A=+—RILFERE
B FIETISER AR ESREEER -

HBIRMAARRMEZRERAT 191



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B REERAR AL

31 December 2019 —Z—hF+=-A=+—H
13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. ¥ - BEREZH
Office
Land and Plant and and other Motor Construction
buildings ~ machinery  equipment vehicles in progress Total
WAER
THEEF ERERES Hi R AE ERIR @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARMTR ARBTRT AR®TR ARETR ARET:
31 December 2019 ZE-NE+tZA=t-H
At 31 December 2018 and 1 January 2019 R=Z—\E+ZA=+—HR
“E-n§-R-H
Cost: A 850,000 2,322,130 27,323 42,961 835,993 4,078,407
Accumulated depreciation and impairment £ 17TE LR E (153,978)  (1,071,862) (24,505) (22,252) - (1,272,597)
Net carrying amount REFE 696,022 1,250,268 2,818 20,709 835,993 2,805,810

At 1 January 2019, net of accumulated R-E-nE—A—H"

depreciation and impairment B 2R ERAE 696,022 1,250,268 2,818 20,709 835993 2,805,810
Additions AE - 1,582 1,395 2,494 31,008 36,479
Disposals HE (84,743) (20,096) (138) (2,835) (38) (107,850)
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 34) HERBAR (H3E34) - (684) = (142) (30,470) (31,296)
Depreciation provided during the year ERTERE (34,004) (58,522) (1,181) (5,266) - (98,973)
Transfers #32 - 483,991 - - (483,991) -
Exchange realignment EHAE - 1 1 6 61 69
At 31 December 2019, net of R-_ZE-NE+-A=+—-8"

accumulated depreciation and impairment 1% 23t 7 & R (E 577,275 1,656,540 2,895 14,966 352,563 2,604,239
At 31 December 2019: RZE-AE+=R=+-H:

Cost KA 713,487 2,638,755 24,271 40,882 352,563 3,769,958
Accumulated depreciation and impairment  Zr 478 i (136,212) (982,215) (21,376) (25,916) - (1,165,719)
Net carrying amount FHFE 577,275 1,656,540 2,895 14,966 352,563 2,604,239
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31 December 2019 —Z—h&+-A=+—H

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. ¥ -BWERRE (@)
(Continued)
Office
Land and Plant and and other Motor ~ Construction
buildings machinery equipment vehicles in progress Total
TREF  BERES ik "E EREIR @it

RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBTT AR%TR AR%TR ARBTE ARETR

31 December 2018 “E-\£+ZA=t+-H
At 31 December 2017 and 1 January 2018 R=Z—+F+=A=+—HR

—E-N\f¥-A-H
Cost: A 894,775 2,799,273 46,365 51,109 863,656 4,655,178
Accumulated depreciation and impairment £ 17TE LR E (130,381)  (1,378,272) (39,138) (24,633) - (1,572,424)
Net carrying amount FEFE 764,394 1,421,001 7,227 26,476 863,656 3,082,754

At 1 January 2018, net of accumulated RZE-NF—A—B HKRE:

depreciation and impairment HERRE 764,394 1,421,001 7,227 26,476 863,656 3,082,754
Additions RE - 4,039 456 585 17,391 22,471
Disposals HE (2,249) (52,689) (2,220) (1,652) (21,949) (80,759)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 35) HERBAR (H335) (30,448) (20,319) (1,515) (128) (19,677) (72,087)
Deregister of subsidiaries FAHERNBAF (2,629) (4,837) (72) (302) - (7,840)
Depreciation provided during the year FRAFERE (33,046) (101,953) (1,076) (4,331) - (140,406)
Transfers 3 - 4,875 - = (4,875) =
Exchange realignment EHAE - 151 18 61 1,447 1,677
At 31 December 2018, net of R=ZE-NE+=A=+—-8H"

accumulated depreciation and impairment  #1F 25147 E KJAE 696,022 1,250,268 2,818 20,709 835,993 2,805,810
At 31 December 2018: RZZE-NFtZA=t—-R:

Cost KA 850,000 2,322,130 27,323 42,961 835,993 4,078,407
Accumulated depreciation and impairment 2z E K& (153,978)  (1,071,862) (24,505) (22,252) - (1,272,597)
Net carrying amount REFE 696,022 1,250,268 2,818 20,709 835,993 2,805,810
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31 December 2019 —Z—hF+=-A=+—H

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. % BERFRE (&)

(Continued)

Impairment tests for property, plant and equipment
When any indicators of impairment are identified, property,
plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment based on
each CGU. The CGU is an individual plant or entity. The
carrying values of these individual plants or entities were
compared to the recoverable amounts of the CGUs, which
were based predominantly on value-in-use. Value-in-use
calculations use pre-tax cash flow projections based on
financial budgets approved by management covering a
5-year period. Cash flows beyond the 5-year period are
extrapolated using the same cash flow projections of the fifth
year. Other key assumptions applied in the impairment tests
include the expected product price, demand for the products,
product cost, finance cost and other related expenses, with
the consideration of the possible significant decrease in
finance cost following the measures adopted by management.
Management determined that these key assumptions were
based on past performance and their expectations on market
development. Further, the Group adopts a pre-tax rate of 16%
(2018:18%) that reflects specific risks related to CGUs as the
discount rate. The assumptions above are used in analysing
the recoverable amounts of CGUs within operating segments.

As a result of the impairment assessment, no impairment was
recognised against the property, plant and equipment in the
steel pipes segment for the year ended 31 December 2019
(2018: Nil).

Included in the carrying amount of the property, plant and
equipment was capitalised interest of RMB258,623,000 as at
31 December 2019 (2018: RMB308,097,000).

Details of the Group’s property, plant and machinery pledged
to secure the Group’s bank loans are set out in note 26.

Certificates of ownership in respect of certain buildings of the
Group located in Zhuhai, Lianyungang and Ningbo with a total
net carrying amount of approximately RMB168,679,000 as
at 31 December 2019 (2018: RMB206,616,000) have not yet
been issued by the relevant PRC authorities. As at the end of
the reporting period, the directors were still in the process of
obtaining these certificates.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14.

B SRR M aE
31 December 2019 —Z—hG&+-A=+—H
PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT 14. BEPYE
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥B T ARBFIT
Carrying amount as at 1 January R—A—BZEmE 1,691,699 2,601,118
Additions NE 131,265 316,383
Transfer to completed properties held for sale HEBEEERGEYE - (1,225,802)
Carrying amount as at 31 December R+t-—A=+—HBZKk@EE 1,822,964 1,691,699

15.

— =
=
=

At 31 December 2019, certain of the Group’s properties
under development with an aggregate carrying amount of
RMB1,267,321,000 (2018: RMB1,105,871,000) were pledged
to secure certain bank and other borrowings granted to the
Group (note 26).

All properties under development are situated in Mainland
China and were held under long term leases as at
31 December 2019 and 2018.

COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE
The Group’s completed properties held for sale are located
in Mainland China. All completed properties held for sale are
stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

At 31 December 2019, certain of the Group’s completed
properties held for sale with an aggregate carrying amount of
RMB109,434,000 (2018: 373,919,000) were pledged to secure
certain bank and other borrowings granted to the Group (note
26).

—NEEERE

15.

RZE—NAEF+—A=+—R AEEETKREA
“E A AR 1,267,321,0005T ( —F — )\ 4F:
AR #1,105,871,00070) 2 BER AWM E D AEE
- URERTASEZETRITREMEE (K
£T26) °

R-B-NEFER_F-_NF+_A=+—B '
BEREBTYWEHURDEANML  WREFRAELD
KA

EREGEMR
AEBOERFSENEOERFEANM - FTAE
REEMEDERABTERFERRERT) -

R-ZE—-NAE+-_A=+—B FEEETED
“EABARY109,434,000c (ZZE—NF: AR
#373,919,0007T) » B A EWMET BIEEE
UERERTFAEEZETRITREMEES (=
26) °
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B REERAR AL

31 December 2019 —Z—hF+=-A=+—H

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTY 16. BEWHE
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-)N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥B T ARBFTT

Commercial properties in Mainland China, PRC A B R~ & A%

Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—HZEAEE 1,160,000 1,138,221

Resumption of land use rights to Tt AU B 7 E B U ER
the local authorities (1,160,000) -
Transfer from completed properties held for sale EHEXTEWE 328,992 =
Net gain from fair value adjustments NEFERAREZF & 78,008 21,779
Carrying amount as at 31 December RT+ZA=+—RAZEHEE 407,000 1,160,000

The Group’s investment property consists of one commercial
property in Mainland China, which is held under medium term
leases. The directors of the Company have determined that
the investment property is a commercial asset, based on the
nature, characteristics and risks of the property.

Based on the valuation by RHL Appraisal Limited, an
independent professional qualified valuer, the fair value
of investment property for GDC Phase | shops was
RMB407,000,000 as at 31 December 2019 (31 December
2018: RMB1,160,000,000 for GDC Phase Ill land). The
Group’s property manager and the chief financial officer
decided, after approval from the audit committee, to appoint
which external valuer to be responsible for the external
valuations of the Group’s properties. Selection criteria include
market knowledge, reputation, independence and whether
professional standards are maintained. The Group’s property
manager and the chief financial officer have discussions with
the valuer on the valuation assumptions and valuation results
twice a year when the valuation is performed for interim and
annual financial reporting.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PR AR MIRE

31 December 2019 —Z—hG&+-A=+—H

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTY (Continued) 16. REW ¥ (&)
Fair value hierarchy NEEER
The following table illustrates the fair value measurement TERTIAEEREMEZATEFEER:

hierarchy of the Group’s investment property:

Fair value measurement as at 31 December 2019 using

REEB-NF+ZAZ+-HERAUTHAEFEZAVE

Quoted

prices Significant Significant

in active observable unobservable

markets inputs input
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

AE BT 5 NG| EXFH

PR E % BHEGAE BHEGAE
(B—-%) (B=#) (B=8) @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARBT T ARBTR ARBTR

Recurring fair value N
measurement for:
Commercial property ERAYE - - 407,000 407,000

Fair value measurement as at 31 December 2018 using

RIBE-N\F+-_A=t-REAUNTBABFEZLTE

Quoted

prices Significant Significant

in active observable  unobservable

markets inputs input
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

SEN AR BEARA BERAA]

PR E 1R BRE AR BB AE
(F—#&) (B=%) (B=#) st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TT AR®TT AR®ETT AR®ETT

Recurring fair value N

measurement for:
Commercial property ElizkES - - 1,160,000 1,160,000
During the year, there were no transfers of fair value RERN E—REAE-_R2ATEQNTFEFEZ
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers EE TEAEF-HREANEL (ZE—N\F:
into or out of Level 3 (2018: Nil). ') o
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B RS FR R MY 5T
31 December 2019 —Z—hF+=-A=+—H
16. INVESTMENT PROPERTY (Continued) 16. B E Y (&)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)
Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised within
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy:

AFESH (5
ATEEHE=BNZ AT ETBLHE:

2019 2018
—EB-hEF —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T R ARETT

Carrying amount as at 1 January R—A—BZEHEE 1,160,000 1,138,221
Redemption of land use right - Hb {5 A U A (1,160,000) =
Transfer from completed properties held for sale B &K iFE Y% 328,992 s
Net gain from fair value adjustments NEERFAE 2 F W 78,008 21,779
Carrying amount at 31 December R+ZA=+—RAZEEE 407,000 1,160,000

The valuations of investment property were arrived at using
the direct comparison method by making reference to the
comparable sale prices in the relevant locality.

Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and the
key inputs to the valuation of investment property:

REMENHEDRBEEZLEEL 2 RA MBI
BRAILLBMHEERMER-

HREVEXHEEMSAERANGEERMREIRE
AERBEHIIMT

Valuation technique Significant unobservable input Range or weighted average
& {8 B i EXTABERAE EHEMEFY

2019 2018

GDV GDV

Phase | Phase Il

Shops Land

—E-hEF —E-N\F

GDV GDV

£ E=H

B T

Commercial property Direct comparison method Market unit sale rate

(RMB/sq.m.)
EREEZES BELEOR Wi B E(E

22,733-27,462 7,153-7,752

(AR®/BFT3XK)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PR AR MIRE

31 December 2019

17.

18.

— =
=
=

T-nE+=A=+—A

LONG TERM PREPAYMENTS AND DEPOSITS

17. RBANREARES

2019 2018

—E-hF —E—NEF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®BT AREEFTT

Prepayments for property, plant and equipment V¥ BB MR B2 B A 81,467 105,584
Deposits paid SRR 4,508 5,736
85,975 111,320

LEASES

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for various items of factory
and office premises used in its operations. Lump sum
payments were made upfront to acquire the leased land from
the owners with lease periods of 50 years, and no ongoing
payments will be made under the terms of these land leases.
Lease of factory and office premises generally have lease
terms from 2 to 30 years. Generally, the Group is restricted
from assigning and subleasing the leased assets outside the
Group.

(a) Prepaid land lease payments (before 1 January

18. &

KEBEREEA
AEEHEAZAIRRELEMARQZANE
SR -AKREREINEERANRNEZIRE
HEA0FMHE L ERZE L BEESNA
BTEREFNHES  THRABRLSHINEEA
FRA2EFMNEEH - — RN 5 ARETEF
AARKREI B ERDAEEEE -

(a) AV t##EE (R-FE—-AF—HA—H

2019) A7)

RMB’000
ARBEF T
Carrying amount at 1 January 2018 RZE—-—N\F-—A—AZEHEE 1,149,272
Disposal & (10,872)
Recognised in profit or loss during the year RERNERER (25,407)
Carrying amount at 31 December 2018 RZE-NEF+_A=+—HZKHEE 1,112,993

Current portion included in prepayments AN RIEREMEE 2B
and other assets (25,599)
Non-current portion FE BN EA EB 1,087,394

—NEEERE
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U E Y
31 December 2019 —Z—hF+=-A=+—H
18. LEASES (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
(b) Right-of-use assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets

18. & (&)

AEBEREBA (H)

(b) BAELE
FRAAKBEEREEENKREERARE

and the movements during the year are as follows: RN
Prepaid
land lease
payments Buildings Total
EALhAS BF Ly
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETTT ARETT ARETTT
As at 1 January 2019 RZE—-NF—A—H 1,112,993 5,635 1,118,628
Additions NE 26,089 6,289 32,378
Early termination RATAIE - (1,774) (1,774)
Disposal HE (1,418) - (1,418)
Depreciation charge MERX (30,897) (2,366) (33,263)
As at 31 December 2019 RZE—NF
+ZA=+—H 1,106,767 7,784 1,114,551
(c) Lease liabilities (c) HEEE

The carrying amount of lease liabilities (included under
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings) and the

movements during the year are as follows:

FA-BAERENKREE (GFAGRERTR
HMEERT) RESHMT:

2019

—E-hEF

Lease

liabilities

HEEE

RMB’000

AR T

Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—BZEREE 5,635

New leases FHE 6,289

Early termination RAIE IE (1,774)

Accretion of interest recognised during the year FARREERT S 794

Payments E:S (3,013)

Carrying amount at 31 December R+=—A=+—HZEEE 7,931
Analysed into: RUATOMA:

Current portion BN HA &R 2 2,444

Non-current portion JERNEREE 5,487
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PR AR MIRE

31 December 2019 —Z—hG&+-A=+—H

18. LEASES (Continued) 18. 70 & (&)
The Group as a lessee (Continued) AEBEREABA (F)
(c) Lease liabilities (Continued) (c) HEEE (&)
The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in THE & B H DR B %W R M 428
note 42 to the financial statements. =
(d) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in (d) AHERBEZERZHNBUT -
relation to leases are as follows:
2019
—E-hF
RMB’000
AR® T
Interest on lease liabilities HEAaGENE 794
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets FTRAEEEFERS 33,263
Expense relating to short-term leases and HEHAEMARTHER - —NF
other leases with remaining lease terms ended TZA=+—Ho AR 2 HAM
on or before 31 December 2019 THEMREZAX 322
Total amount recognised in profit or loss RIBZER BT 34,379
19. INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE 19. RA—HEEERAZRE
2019 2018
—E-hF ZE-)N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBETT

Share of net assets DIEEEFE 23,019 40,528
Exchange realignment ME N B (9,842) (8,696)
Share of net assets DIEEEFE 13,177 31,832
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RS R AR AL

31 December 2019 —Z—hF+=-A=+—H

19. INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE (Continued)

Particulars of the Group’s joint venture are as follows:

19. R—EEERAZRE (&)
AEBESERRZFHBIHET :

Percentage of

Particulars Place of BAL
of issued registration Ownership Voting Profit Principal
Name shares held  and business interest power sharing activities
g T R
£ R 43 5 15 EEME BEER RERE FEf5 &R TEXK
Al-Qahtani PCK Registered Kingdom of 50 50 50 Manufacture and sale of
Pipe Company capital of SR50 Saudi Arabia welded steel pipes
million each
Al-Qahtani PCK AMERE DE 50 50 50 BUERHE
Pipe Company 50,000,000 A {ETE BEEE
D BT
The above investment in a joint venture is indirectly held by PR —EEE AR ERA AR EERE -

the Company.

Al-Qahtani PCK Pipe Company, which is considered a material

joint venture of the Group, acts as the Group’s producer and

distributor of steel pipes in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and

is accounted for using the equity method.

Al-Qahtani PCK Pipe Company 1% &K £ & 2
EAXAERA ERRAEER D M AT
EERDHEME  WAEREAR-
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PR AR MIRE

31 December 2019 —Z—hG&+-A=+—H

19. A—BEEERARAZRE (&)
N #& %7~ Al-Qahtani PCK Pipe Company 2 817§
EHBE ETPERSHBERIRNEZEFEL AR
7 ER B 75 ¥ 2% BT 51 BR T {8 ¥ B

19. INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE (Continued)
The following table illustrates the summarised financial
information of Al-Qahtani PCK Pipe Company adjusted for
any differences in accounting policies and reconciled to the
carrying amount in the financial statements:

2019 2018
—E-hF —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET AREEF T
Other receivables H th i W FR IR 15,062 5,085
Trade receivables H 5 MW AR 125,024 2,138
Inventories FE 138,401 20,531
Cash and bank balances B e MIRITHEH 21,454 335
Total current assets MEBEERLE 299,941 28,089
Right of use assets FHEEE 33,756 =
Property, plant and equipment ME - WEREE 639,582 644,539
Total non-current assets FmBEEEE 673,338 644,539
Amount due to PCKSP FEAS T BRI E KIE 12,102 11,900
Other payables H fth S 3RIB 33,353 19,522
Trade payables Z SRR 10,162 34,747
Short-term bank loans, unsecured HHRITE R SR 210,255 =
Current portion of long term loans REERRB IS 133,351 42,720
Tax payable FET 1R 90 991
Lease liabilities HEAE 32,738 =
Total current liabilities mEAELRE 432,051 109,880
Non-current financial liabilities, excluding FnRBeMEGE TRIEES
trade and other payables and provisions FEASTBR B M EL At R - SRIB R B 4 415,501 397,809
Total non-current liabilities R BEATE 415,501 397,809
Net assets BEFE 125,727 164,939

— T NEFERE
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RS R AR AL

31 December 2019 —Z—hF+=-A=+—H

19. INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE (Continued) 19. R—RBEEARZRE (&)

2019 2018
—E-hF —E-)N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT ARBF T

Reconciliation to the Group’s interest HAEEREERAIZ

in the joint venture: P AR
Elimination of unrealised profit arising from WIHEERBEEZ

transfer of equipments K& IR A (79,689) (83,883)
Net assets after reconciliation HERREEFE 46,038 81,056
Proportion of the Group’s ownership REBE 2B 50% 50%
Group’s share of net assets of the joint venture AEEBGEERNREEFE 23,019 40,528
Carrying amount of the investment WEREE 23,019 40,528
REVENUE WA 167,073 -
Cost of sales $HE KA (161,156) =
Gross profit E 7 5,917 =
Other income and gains H AU A RS 1,826 =
Selling and distribution expenses HERDIHER (10,067) -
Administrative expenses THEHR (17,537) (5,447)
Finance costs A& B A (21,554) =
Loss before tax R B Al S 18 (41,415) (5,447)
Income tax expense FrigfiAx (90) =
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year FABEREZEHEELESE (41,505) (5,447)
Share of loss (50%) FEAE B518 (50%) (20,753) (2,724)
Realised profit from Down-stream transactions THXSE 25T 2,098 =
Share of a loss of a joint venture Eh—HEERRERE (18,655) (2,724)
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PR AR MIRE

31 December 2019 —Z—hG&+-A=+—H

20. DEFERRED TAX 20. JEFEBLIE
Deferred tax assets ELEHREEE
Losses available
for offsetting against
future taxable profits
] it 38 88
RIRERBTRF 2B
2019 2018
—E-NF —T-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BT R ARBET T
At 1 January Hn—A—H 225,576 63,976
Deferred tax (charged)/credited to the consolidated F AR &R & Bz & (F1k) 5T A
statement of profit or loss during the year B IR AT % I8 (14,633) 161,600
At 31 December BR+=—A=+— 210,943 225,576

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had tax losses arising
in Hong Kong of RMB389,824,000 (2018: RMB537,040,000),
which are available indefinitely for offsetting against future
taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose.
The Group also has tax losses arising in Mainland China of
RMB1,672,846,000 (2018: RMB2,264,921,000) that will expire
in one to five years for offsetting against future taxable profits.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group recognised deferred tax
assets of RMB210,943,000 which related to the available tax
losses of PCKSP. These tax losses will expire in one to five
years. The recognition of the deferred tax assets was based
on an estimated taxable income and the tax losses which
could be used for offsetting against these estimated future
taxable profits. The directors estimated future taxable profits
of PCKSP mainly representing compensation income from
the government in relation to a redevelopment of the land
owned by PCKSP. Upon the government’s announcement
of this redevelopment plan, management considered that it
is probable for PCKSP to generate taxable income and to
utilise part of its available tax losses for offsetting these future
taxable profits.

— TN

R-ZZE—-hEF+_A=1+—B A&£EREF
BEEMIEEIE ARY389,824,000L (= F
—\F: AR #537,040,000T) ' ZSHEH
BUERPAERELBFEN QRN RKRE
ABEN AREBTRFBEANMEERIBEBRE
AR#1,672,846,000C (=T — \NF: AR
2,264,921,0007T) - R —ZERF AR H - U
S AR R FERBLEF

R-FB-NF+_HA=1+—B AEECHERHE
ERWIMEEENHABREHNELCHEE
EARY210,943,000t - ZERBEBEK R — =
TFERNHRERIAE ENERIRE G ER
T8 4 A K AT P A 4K 85 1 R 2R R R A5 0 1) 9 B IR
BERET -EFMABERWTHME N RKERY
HMNEBRBRFEEZERNIHERAN LA
AOMERA-RBNEMZEZAEK BE
ERABEBWIMERAIVRELIERTIKRAR
MAEMEEHEBEREZ SRR ERTOE N o
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B REERAR AL

31 December 2019 —Z—AF+=-A=+

H

20. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

20. IEFEBIE (#)

Deferred tax liabilities BEEHEEE
Changes in/  Appreciation
realisation of of property,
fair value of plant and
investment equipment Temporary  Withholding
property and lands difference tax Total
RENEZ NEBER
AYE RERLTH
#E/BH #E ERMER EinH @it
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR®TT AR¥TT AR¥TTT AR¥TF R
At 1 January 2019 R-E-h#F
=Rl = 589,776 11,656 35,077 2,265 638,774
Deferred tax credited FARGaBEHER
to the consolidated statement of FARERHIE
profit or loss during the year (82,996) (278) (35,077) - (118,351)
Deferred tax credited to asset FRFAEBEELFHEN
revaluation reserve during the year EEFE (152,400) - - - (152,400)
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NF
+ZA=+-H 354,380 11,378 - 2,265 368,023
Appreciation
Changes in of property,
fair value of plant and
investment equipment Temporary Withholding
property and lands difference tax Total
NE -BER
REWEZ RER T
AVEE BE TRt zR M w5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT AR®ETT AR®ETT ARETT
At 1 January 2018 RZZE-N\E-HA—H 626,797 11,933 - 2,265 640,995
Deferred tax charged/(credited) FARGABEEER
to the consolidated statement of 1k, (5t A) &
profit or loss during the year BT (37,021) (277) 35,077 = (2,221)
At 31 December 2018 RZZ-N\F
+=A=+—-H 589,776 11,656 35,077 2,265 638,774
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PR AR MIRE

31 December 2019 —Z—hG&+-A=+—H

20. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 20. GEFEBIIE (&)
For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and REVNEMME &ETEERBEERAGEZR
liabilities have been offset in the consolidated statement of BEMBRARTFEE FNEERYBRENS
financial position. The following is an analysis of the deferred RRERIBSHRES T T
tax balances of the Group for financial reporting purposes:
2019 2018
—E-h#F ZE-)N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBET T

Net deferred tax assets recognised in the Rira IR R R ERZ

consolidated statement of financial position B IEEEFTE 210,943 161,600

Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the RERE B AR RAER
consolidated statement of financial position REFRIBEEGEFEE 368,023 574,798

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% (or
a lower rate if there is a tax treaty between Mainland China
and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors) withholding tax
is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from the

RAE P BIR RSB - i 57 P B AR B S #9 51
BREABIREEST KBRS AHH10% (3K
fisd 1 B A 3 B HNBR 3% B B P RDE AR R A TR TS
FORERERF)BHIR - ULRER_FFN

F-A-BER AERAR_ZZLFE+_A
St BREREWAN Bt AEEARSE
RERZ 2 ZEMB AR —EENF—H—H
REEZANDIRNRSSMIAION

foreign investment enterprises established in Mainland China.
The requirement is effective from 1 January 2008 and applies
to earnings after 31 December 2007. The Group is therefore
liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those
subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect of
earnings generated from 1 January 2008.

BT ——FE AEEHMERBANENRZ

Since year 2011, no deferred tax has been recognised by

the Group for withholding taxes that would be payable on the ZEMB AT 2 ARE L& 2 BN SR TET #
unremitted earnings of those subsidiaries that are subject RIELEHRIE ARAEEERRZEMNBLRATAK
to withholding taxes as management considered it is not AR Er] RRDIRZERT -

probable that those subsidiaries will distribute such earnings

in the foreseeable future.
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B REERAR AL

31 December 2019 —ZT—AF+=-A=+—8H
21. INVENTORIES 21. 78
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR AR®EF T
Raw materials R 76,788 99,946
Work in progress paa Y 36,968 59,497
Finished goods BUAK G 107,732 76,304
221,488 235,747
Less: Provision against slow-moving and WO RRETT SRS
obsolete inventories (2,386) (12,690)
219,102 223,057
22. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 22 EZRERERRREWRRE
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T ARET T
Trade receivables =) TN 422,936 459,112
Impairment A (19,434) (16,883)
Trade receivables, net B 5 EWBERFERE 403,502 442,229
Bills receivable FE W =& 273 97,996

403,775 540,225

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on rEBEAZFNESIRAFEREE EHE
credit, except for new customers, where payment in advance F—REEENERGKRIIN -FEH— K ABH30H
is normally required. The credit period is generally 30 days E—F-BHREFPFARASGEERE A% @?%Ezlﬁ
to 1 year. Each customer has a maximum credit limit. The BRERIEE TI/\*HK@fﬂﬁl?k%E B3R EER

Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding E IR - 8 H 4 ﬁ%ﬁa@%&?éiij\émﬁ?ﬁ%@ﬁo
receivables to minimize credit risk. Overdue balances EREMRBEARAEE 2B HRBEREXREH
are reviewed regularly by senior management. In view of MEPAR BMIUBREARCGEETRR -AEE
the aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s trade FHEZRWERGEH AT EFFTAEKHR
receivables relate to a large number of diversified customers, FEHMRAEANRE - BIREUER AT R -

there is no significant concentration of credit risk. The Group
does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements
over its trade receivable balances. Trade receivables are
non-interest-bearing.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PR AR MIRE

31 December 2019 —Z—hG&+-A=+—H

22. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (Continued) 2. ESZRUEREREEVRERE (&)
An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of RmEMR REZAHAEERESHIKREER
the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of loss HHE ZEBERRERDTOT

allowance, is as follows:

2019 2018
—g-nE —F-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T R ARETT

Within 60 days 60H A 242,323 234,319
61 to 90 days 61H Z290H 5,680 3,882
91 to 180 days 91H =180H 27,057 10,005
181 to 365 days 181H £=365H 11,052 41,986
1 to 2 years 1226 30,563 60,762
2 to 3 years 2E34F 24,450 91,275
Over 3 years HBE3F 62,377 =

403,502 442,229
The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade BRWERFAEBERESHNT

receivables are as follows:

2019 2018
—EB-hEF —E-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T R ARETT

At 1 January Bn—A—H 16,883 14,433
Impairment losses recognized (note 6) B #RBEREE (HzE6) 3,845 2,450
Impairment losses write-off i 8 R B B 1R (1,294) =
At 31 December R+-—A=+—H 19,434 16,883
An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting B" WE A RABEERETRES N A5
date using a provision matrix to measure expected credit B EREE -BEERDERABEREMUESIEE
losses. The provision rates are based on days past due for TE’\J B% P o EAR e a8 e T (B g
groupings of various customer segments with similar loss RE EmER FEPEMNRTR EHEEM
patterns (i.e., by geographical region, product type, customer EERBEANRESR) ZitERBkAREX
type and rating, and coverage by letters of credit or other MEER BEBRERNKRSEHAUSNERR
forms of credit insurance). The calculation reflects the TEIE ZRERG RAREFGEHEEANEE R
probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and ASEER -

reasonable and supportable information that is available at
the reporting date about past events, current conditions and
forecasts of future economic conditions.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B REERAR AL

31 December 2019 —Z—hF+=-A=+—H

22. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (Continued) 22,

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure
on the Group’s trade receivables using a provision matrix:

As at 31 December 2019

EZRUERRRERREE (&)

UTFHAEMARBERBREEAEOEHE
AR R R AR AR

R-ZB-AF+ZA=1t—H

Past due

o

1to2years 2to3 Years

—EWF MEZF
2.2% 4.3%
31,249 25,547
686 1,097

Over 3 years Total
BA=F @t
20.5%
78,452* 422,936
16,074 19,434

R-ZE-NFE+=-A=+—H

Past due

B

Less than

1 year

PR-F

Expected credit loss rate RHEEEHRER 0.5%

Gross carrying amount (RMB'000) ZEEE (AR®TT) 287,688

Expected credit losses (RMB'000) FBEHEEEE (ARETT) 1,577
As at 31 December 2018

Less than

1 year

PR—F

Expected credit loss rate BHEEEHBRER 0.3%

Gross carrying amount (RMB'000) #“8REE (ARETT) 291,194

Expected credit losses (RMB'000) FEHEEEE (ARETT) 1,002

* Included in the balance was a trade receivable of RMB43,040,000
due from a debtor with whom the Group was in commercial dispute
over certain other transactions thus the settlement was delayed.
The directors of the Company performed a specific assessment
by considering the aforementioned fact and circumstance and the
credit rating of the debtor and concluded that the credit risk on
this trade receivable was insignificant though its aging was over 3
years as at 31 December 2019 (31 December 2018: 2 to 3 years).
Therefore, no expected credit loss was provided for this trade
receivable.

210 CHU KONG PETROLEUM AND NATURAL GAS STEEL PIPE HOLDINGS LIMITED

1to2years  2to3 Years

_iﬁﬁ¢ ﬁﬁ:ﬂtii
1.1% 1.9%
61,466 93,066
704 1,791

Over 3 years Total

BB=F st
100%

13,386 459,112

13,386 16,883

= HREE R B ISR EB A AR 43,040,000 8 B
SEWESR ZBEBAEBREERELEMT S
FERMEMD BRTEETHEE -ARREFZEE
HEMEENBRARBEANEAERENTT
EMMTE BEARAZEIRRERR=_Z—LF
ToA=1+—BNERBEREIFE (ZE—NF+=
A=+—HB:2&3%F) "B &mAXEHEIE
FHEERBRBTEKXN ALt 285 EURZCK

AHRTEHIEEEE-
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PR AR MIRE

31 December 2019 —Z—hG&+-A=+—H

22. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (Continued) 2. BE5RUERRRERRERE (8

At 31 December 2019, the Group endorsed certain bills
receivable accepted by banks in Mainland China (the
“Derecognised Bills”) to certain of its suppliers in order to
settle the trade payables due to such suppliers with a carrying
amount in aggregate of RMB13,542,000. The Derecognised
Bills had a maturity of three to twelve months at the end of
the reporting period. In accordance with the Law of Negotiable
Instruments in the PRC, the holders of the Derecognised Bills
have a right of recourse against the Group if the PRC banks
default (the “Continuing Involvement”). In the opinion of the
directors, the Group has transferred substantially all risks and
rewards relating to the Derecognised Bills. Accordingly, it has
derecognised the full carrying amounts of the Derecognised
Bills and the associated trade payables. The maximum
exposure to loss from the Group’s Continuing Involvement in
the Derecognised Bills and the undiscounted cash flows to
repurchase these Derecognised Bills is equal to their carrying
amounts. In the opinion of the directors, the fair values of the
Group’s Continuing Involvement in the Derecognised Bills are
not significant.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group has
not recognised any gain or loss on the date of transfer of
the Derecognised Bills. No gains or losses were recognised
from the Continuing Involvement, both during the year or
cumulatively. The endorsement has been made evenly
throughout the year.

As part of its normal business, the Group transferred certain
bills receivable to banks in Mainland China (the “Discounted
Bills”) in order to obtain sufficient cash for operation. The
Group is not exposed to default risks of the trade debtors
after the transfer. Subsequent to the transfer, the Group did
not retain any rights on the use of Discounted Bills, including
the sale, transfer or pledge of Discounted Bills to any other
third parties. The original carrying value of Discounted Bills
that have not been settled as at 31 December 2019 was
RMB14,939,000 (2018: 18,468,000).

—NEEERE

RZE-NF+ZA=+—8B FXEEZESET
RE A RITE XM ERER ([RIEERER])
FTHETHER UWEABENZSHERNEE
BEa £ AR13,542,000 T8 & 5 &3 EH - 1
REMHR RIERREENIBHBA=Z1+ =@
A-BEFEHRBERZ WRPEMNRTE
D ARIEBEREROREAGREAEERD
BRE([HE248]) EFRE A5EEEE
BB HERERBAZBARLDER RERH
I EERIEBRRUEBREERN 2 EREMN
HEESENER - AEERELHAKRITERE
BATEAM R AR SRR R EEE LR IF#ER
ZENATEBESRESNRERAE -E2RE -
REERBE2ERIBREBENATELTEK -

BE_T-NF+-_A=+—HLFE X&£H
miﬁmtﬁ%TWZHKﬁWEHEA°EK
FERRFTHE RERSEL2 B EREME

moRFEHETEE

EREREBHN—H0 AEEBXLRKRER
BRI FEAEMNRT (TRARRE]) - LERE
MR ERS EER FEETEAXEDE
WHRIRMENRER -BEE ARELERE®
AR REN TR %ﬁﬁ 5% 5 I
MREBTFTEMEME=TT-R_ZE—-hF+_
A=+— Eﬁim%%%ﬁffm%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ
A K #14,939,0007T (=F — J\ 4 : 18,468,000
JT) e
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B REERAR AL

31 December 2019 —Z—hF+=-A=+—H

23. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

OTHER ASSETS

23 ANRE -HtBEBRERAMEE

2019 2018

—E-hF ZZT-N\F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT ARBTTT

Prepayments TEfT RIA 282,748 313,915
Deposits and other receivables e R E MW FKIE 643,270 283,349
Tax recoverable A] U B # 78 126,620 150,834
Current portion of land lease payments THHES KRB D - 25,599
1,052,638 773,697

Impairment allowance VERIEREA (136,468) (98,853)
916,170 674,844

The movements in the provision for impairment of deposits
and other receivables are as follows:

BeMEMEBUGREREREESHT:

2019 2018

—E-NF —E-N\F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARBEF T

At 1 January Kn—H—H 98,853 94,250
Impairment losses recognised (note 6) BRI EEE (HizE6) 37,615 4,603
At 31 December R+=-—A=+—8 136,468 98,853

Deposits and other receivables mainly represent rental
deposits and deposits with suppliers. An impairment analysis
is performed at each reporting date by considering the
probability of default. Expected credit losses are estimated by
applying a loss rate approach with reference to the historical
loss record of the Group. The loss rate is adjusted to reflect
the current conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions, as appropriate. Except for certain receivables
for which the Group has made 100% provision because the
counterparty was default in payment (“default receivables”),
the balances were settled within the credit term with no
historical default. The financial assets included in the above
balance were categorized in stage 1 as at 31 December
2019. Except for the default receivables, the Group estimated
that the expected credit loss rate for the other receivables is
minimal.

212 CHU KONG PETROLEUM AND NATURAL GAS STEEL PIPE HOLDINGS LIMITED

RehHMBRFIBRTIZEHS RS REHRER
MRS - RESMTRNEREBHLERENNT
REUERIFL -RHGEEBERA2ZALEN G
EEBRRENBERXITEAMG -BEREEDERE
IARBRER R R B R R AOBE AR R e TR (@A) -
BEFHERNRERAKED FH100% & H
BE T YR (TR EHMRIR]) I SRR
EEHRABBEYEEMBEROBR AL
MEHRNERMEER _T-NF+-_HA=+—H
DREF BB -REREWFIAIN AKEG
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PR AR MIRE

31 December 2019 —Z—hG&+-A=+—H

24. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND PLEDGED 24 RERBEEBYUARCEARZR

AND RESTRICTED BANK BALANCES H 4R 1T AL Bk
2019 2018
—E-NF —E—)\F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

Bt AR®T T ARBTT

Cash and bank balances Re MIBTTH 58,585 66,907
Pledged and restricted bank balances EHEM R Z R GIRIT AR 164,826 619,060
223,411 685,967

Less: R

Pledged deposits — non-current Bk e —EANH

— Pledged for letters of guarantee —BEER K E R - (80,000)
- (80,000)
Pledged and restricted bank 2R R PR I R 1T

balances — current 48R — B A7
— Pledged for bank acceptance notes —RIRITEN BREEM (20,443) (51,226)
— Pledged for letters of guarantee —EREEERA (95,632) =
— Pledged for long-term bank loans —RRARITERSET 26(c) (2) (426,600)
— Restricted cash —XBRHEIRE (a) (48,749) (61,234)
(164,826) (539,060)

Cash and cash equivalents RekREEEY (b) 58,585 66,907

Notes: B 5t :

(a) Pursuant to the relevant regulations in the PRC, certain property (a) WRETFEMBEREI 2EEETYWERERARA
development companies of the Group are required to place at RETRITEPFAETSENBEWEMSER
designated bank accounts certain amounts of pre-sales proceeds BEAERHAVMENRBS -ZERETAR
of properties as guarantee deposits for the construction of the REEAVEEERSEIMBARINTERER -
related properties. The deposits can only be used for purchases RZE-NF+ZA=Z+—H ZRIFARAR
of construction materials and payments of construction fees #48,749,000T (= Z — N\ F: AR #61,234,000
for the relevant property projects. As at 31 December 2019, JT) °

such guarantee deposits amounted to RMB48,749,000 (2018:
RMB61,234,000).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B REERAR AL

31 December 2019 —Z—hF+=-A=+—H

24. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND
PLEDGED AND RESTRICTED BANK
BALANCES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b) As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents
denominated in RMB amounted to RMB53,097,000 (2018:
RMB58,133,000). The RMB is not freely convertible into other
currencies, however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale
and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. The bank balances and pledged deposits
are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of
default.

25. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES
An ageing analysis of the trade and bills payables as at the
end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as
follows:

20 RERBTEBYUARCERRZR

R 1T A B8R (@)
GEZNE-D

b) RZFE—NF+-_A=Z+—RH0 AEEUARE
FENRE LB EEY A ARKS3,097,0007T
(ZZ—N\F: AR¥58,133,0007T) - ARKERT]
BENBAHEMER BIBEP E AN INEE
BIEHIREE SERNESERE NEESE
AEREETIEEFNRITIBARELRAL

RITRESBRITERMN R RBELEN)T B F R
B -RITEBRREERERNFERNEEEE
BT HAS0 48 R R SR A R TT

25. ESRNRARENRE

REEHR REZZEHAENE ZEMNERNR
RENBRERESITET

2019 2018
—E-hEF —ZE-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT ARBT T

Trade payables BESEMNERR
Within 90 days 90H A 135,417 48,033
91 to 180 days 91H Z2180H 89,557 253,033
181 to 365 days 181H £365H 32,017 157,306
1 to 2 years 15525 51,977 129,086
2 to 3 years 2F B3F 19,876 31,056
Over 3 years 3FELLE 45,188 41,796
374,032 660,310
Bills payable ERERE 5,903 28,154
379,935 688,464

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally

settled within a year. All the bills payable have maturity dates

within 365 days.

214 CHU KONG PETROLEUM AND NATURAL GAS STEEL PIPE HOLDINGS LIMITED

BHRNERBTHE B—RER-—FRXfT -

PG e RAR197A365H M E 5] -

Annual Report 2019



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PR AR MIRE

31 December 2019 —Z—hG&+-A=+—H

26. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 26. sFERITRHEMEE
BORROWINGS
2019 2018
—2-hE “T-N\f
Effective Effective
interest interest

rate (%) Maturity RMB’000 rate (%) Maturity RMB’000
ERAIE (%) HHE ARBTR BEEME%) JHMB ARETR

Current nE

Lease liabilities HEAE 9.51 2020 2,444 = = =
Bank loans BITER

- secured —HHEM 5.00-6.31 2020 502,400  4.35-5.22 2019 450,100
- unsecured —EHE A 6.09-6.13 2020 59,000 6.09-6.63 2019 103,861
Other borrowings Hirfg s

- unsecured —EHE A 5.60-24.00 2020 421,645 5.60-19.44 2019 857,335
Government loans B ER

- secured —-HHEA 4.90 2020 88,000 4.90 2019 70,400
Current portion of long term loans REEFRRBHD

- secured —-HHEM 4.39-5.88 2020 43,400 5.39-7.35 2019 531,152
Subtotal INEF 1,116,889 2,012,848

Non-current ERD

Lease liabilities HERE 9.51 2021-2036 5,487 - - -
Bank loans RITER

- secured —-BHEA 4.90-5.88 2021-2028 1,430,005 5.39-5.88 2020-2028 1,577,100
Government loans BIFER

- secured —-BHEH 490 2021-2023 220,000 490 2020-2023 308,000
Other borrowings HinfEE

- secured —-BHEH 10.00-11.25 2021 2,098,483 10.00-16.00 2021 2,199,771
Subtotal et 3,753,975 4,084,871

4,870,864 6,097,719
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B SRR MY EE
31 December 2019 —Z—hF+=-A=+—H
26. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 26. T ERTRHEMEE (&)

BORROWINGS (Continued)

2019 2018
—E-AE —E-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET ARBEF T
Analysed into: BUATONA:

Bank loans repayable: ARUTHREEHRITER:
Within one year —FR 604,800 1,085,113
In the second year EF_F 149,400 42,900
In the third to fifth years, inclusive E=FEFRF (REEEMSE) 1,154,605 414,100
Beyond five years BRAF 126,000 1,120,100
2,034,805 2,662,213

Government loans repayable*: ARUATHREZSNENFER

Within one year —FRN 88,000 70,400
In the second year B _F 88,000 88,000
In the third to fifth years, inclusive E=FEZFERF (BEEEMSE) 132,000 220,000
308,000 378,400

Other borrowings repayable: ARUTHREEHHMEE:
Within one year —FR 421,645 857,335
In the second year** EoF 2,098,483 =
In the third to fifth years, inclusive E-FEFRF (BIEERMF) - 2,199,771
2,520,128 3,057,106

Lease liabilities repayable: ARUATHREENHEEAR:
Within one year —FR 2,444 _
In the second year B 5 2,255 =
In the third to fifth years, inclusive FEFEFRF (BREEMT) 1,563 =
Beyond five years AT F 1,669 =
7,931 -
4,870,864 6,097,719

216 CHU KONG PETROLEUM AND NATURAL GAS STEEL PIPE HOLDINGS LIMITED

Annual Report 2019



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PR AR MIRE

31 December 2019 —Z—hG&+-A=+—H

26.

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (Continued)

Certain of the Group’s bank loans are secured by:

(a) the pledge of certain property, plant and equipment of
the Group with a net carrying amount of approximately
RMB1,201,053,000 (2018: RMB833,371,000) as at the
end of the reporting period;

(b) the pledge of certain leasehold lands of the Group with a
net carrying amount of approximately RMB792,454,000
(2018: RMB618,639,000) as at the end of the reporting
period;

(c) the pledge of certain of the Group’s deposits amounting
to RMB2,000 (2018: RMB426,600,000) as at the end of
the reporting period;

(d) the pledge of certain of the Group’s properties under
development amounting to RMB1,267,321,000 (2018:
RMB1,105,871,000) as at the end of the reporting period;
and

(e) the pledge of certain of the Group’s completed properties
held for sale amounting RMB109,434,000 (2018:
RMB373,919,000) as at the end of the reporting period.

Except for the bank loans of RMB108,829,000 (2018:
RMB296,490,000) as at 31 December 2019, which are
denominated in United States dollars, respectively, all
borrowings are in RMB.

—NEEERE

26. GFERITREMEER (@)
AEBETRITENRB T SBRERER:

(@) EEAEBNREPAEBMEENAAR
#1,201,053,000c (T —NE: AR
833,371,00070) K& T % - FE Rk

(b) BHFAEBERFEHARAEBMFEFEL B A
R #792,454,000c (ZE—\F: AR¥
618,639,000,T) A THE -1 :

(c) MEAEBMPFEHRELEARAREE2,000
T (=ZZ— )\F: AR ¥426,600,0007T) K
BETER:

d EEAEERREHRTBBAARE
1,267,321,000t (ZZE— NFE: ARK
1,105,871,00000) E TERBYWE &

(e) MEAEERBREHAESEAARE
109,434,000 (ZE—N&E: ARK
373,919,00070) W& T EARFEWE -

RZBE—AFEF+A=+—"H8B BRITER
AR®108,829,000L (Z T —N\F: ARE
296,490,0007T) LAZE T HIESN - 2 EEEHUA
R¥5I{E -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B REERAR AL

31 December 2019 —Z—hF+=-A=+—H

26. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 26. GFEBITREMEE (&)
BORROWINGS (Continued)

The Group had the following undrawn banking facilities: AEBEE T EMRERRITEE:

2019 2018
—E-hE —ZE-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARBF T
Floating rate F B
— expiring within one year*** —— F B R 290,331 86,415

**

Certain of government loans are secured by the pledge of
certain property, plant and equipment with a net carrying amount
of approximately RMB714,360,000, and the pledge of certain
leasehold lands with a net carrying amount of approximately
RMB380,970,000.

Among which, the Group had an aggregate loan of
RMB2,098,483,000 borrowed from Yuecai Trust and its related
companies as at 31 December 2019.

Pursuant to the relevant contract, certain of the Group’s undrawn
banking facilities of RMB172,595,000 (2018: RMB32,100,000)
can only be used for property development projects and are
repayable based on the pre-sale progress of such properties.

*%

aTERFERAE FTEREFELNARKT714,360,000
THME - BERSEFEER RETERDFED
AR 380,970,000 ¥ & + 3t /I 1 -

E AEER-_Z-NAF+_A=+—HAMR
BHERREABARNGBANERERARKE
2,098,483,0007T °

BRIBEBERAEH XEEe%E AR ARK172,595,000
T (ZZT—N\F: AR¥S32,100,0007T) 2 & F %
REOBTEEETARMELREER WIXEH
MEZEESHEEE-

27. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 27. ERAE

Details of contract liabilities are as follows: EHEEFBOT:
31 December 31 December
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E—N\F
+=A +=A
EF=E =+—H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARBFTT

Short-term advances received from customers TCWEFHNEHEMRK

Sale of steel pipes & 165,467 245,389
Rendering of manufacturing services R EE RS 28,112 43,566
Sale of properties SHEME 965,491 607,810
Total contract liabilities AEHBEREE 1,159,070 896,765
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PR AR MIRE

31 December 2019 —Z—hG&+-A=+—H

27. CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued) 27. R EE |
BRRERRAAEE 2 AEHE RYECKE
THEHERSRE-R_ZE-NLF AHNEBEE
MDEBORAEB ZBEWEE M-

Contract liabilities include sales proceeds received from
buyers in connection with the Group’s pre-sale of steel pipes
and properties. The increase in contract liabilities in 2019
was mainly due to the increase in the Group’s pre-sale of

properties.
Changes in contract liabilities during the year are as follows: FRNEHNBEZEESMT
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-)N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT ARBTT
At beginning of the year REH 896,765 965,957
Revenue recognised that was included in the FAFEVERNAGFEZERARBKA
contract liabilities at the beginning of the year (251,057) (783,102)
Increases due to cash received, excluding BUWIRSBHAEM (TEIEFA
amounts recognised as revenue during the year EERAWVAZ L) 513,362 713,910
At end of the year RER 1,159,070 896,765
28. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 28. HihENRIEREFTEH
2019 2018
—E-hEF —T—N\%F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
b 5 ARBT ARBFT
Deposits received B lize 37,336 112,982
Other payables H th & 1~ 5108 (a) 327,270 355,779
Payroll payables FE A 5 A 20,986 27,636
Accruals and other liabilities EEtERREMBARE 208,626 211,859
Other tax payables H B8 34,629 30,404
628,847 738,660

(a) Other payables are non-interest-bearing and have an average

term of two to three months.

— TN

(a) EMENFE/TFERFHHERARNE=(EA -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B REERAR AL

31 December 2019 —Z—hF+=-A=+—H

29. FIXED RATE BONDS AND NOTES 2. ERBESFRERE

US$72,000,000 5.6% bonds should be due 2018 but
rescheduled to 2019 (2013 Bonds)

On 30 April 2013, the Group issued bonds with a principal
amount of US$72,000,000 and the bonds should be repayable
in full by 30 April 2018 (the “2013 Bonds”). The bonds may
be redeemed at the option of the Group in whole, but not in
part, at any time, by giving not less than 30 nor more than
60 days’ notice to the holders of the bonds, at their principal
amount, together with the interest accrued to the date fixed
for redemption. The bonds bear interest at a fixed coupon
interest rate of 5.6% per annum for five years payable
semi-annually, commencing on 30 October 2013. The bonds
are unsecured. In the current year, the remaining balance of
the 2013 Bonds were rescheduled to be repayable on 30 June
2020 and reclassified to other borrowings.

HK$155,000,000 8% Notes due 2020 (2017 Notes)

On 27 April 2017, the Company entered into a note purchase
agreement with an investment fund. The Group agreed to
issue, and the investment fund agreed to purchase from the
Group, HK$155,000,000 8% notes due in April 2020 (the
“2017 Notes”). Pursuant to the purchase agreement, specific
performance obligations are imposed on the controlling
shareholder of the Group. Any breach of the specific
performance obligations may constitute a breach under the
note purchase agreement, pursuant to which the investment
fund is entitled to redeem the 2017 Notes immediately in
accordance with the terms and conditions.

US$3,000,000 7% bonds due 2020 (2017 Bonds A)

On 28 April 2017, the Company issued a bond with a principal
amount of US dollar 3,000,000 to an individual investor (the
“2017 Bonds A”). The bond will be repayable in full by April
2020. The bond bears interest at a fixed coupon interest
rate at 7% per annum for three years payable semi-annually,
commencing on 28 October 2017. The bond is unsecured.
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72,000,000 T RR - — N\ F 2 HE X H
EE-NFRHZFENR56%EH (=
E-=FE%)

RZZE—ZFMA=+H ALBEZRTASES
72,000,000 T 2 EH REHFKR T —\FN
A=+ HEMEHEMN(TZ2—=FF%]) K&
E R EEREBRESFEE AEE TP RI0H
BT HEBE0RMAMNASEEREZER B H
EEME2HmERH BELES BEHRETF
ZERE56%E - BT =F+A=1tHRE
HAFEABYE XN -BHERERF -RAEAF
E ZE - =ZFEHFZAKREHRERBEE-T =
TERNA=ZTHEMNTESBEEHEMBEE-

155,000,000 8 TR —Z—_ZFHHZF R
Z3NERB(ZE—tERE)
RZFE—+tFNA=-++BE ARAHEREES
AUEBRBEERFZ - AEERERT KREES
[F & [\ & & @ B 155,000,000 T — T =%
FHARBHFMNEINEZR ([ ZE—LF2
Bl - REBEHZE AEEERRTEERTE
BHEB HMNERFEBHETATRBRER
BEBRETHENTAR  MIBEB BRI RGEHE:
REESGERAKVAERN T —tF 2K

3,000,000 X TR =—ZB-_SFEH 2 FR=R
7% E% (ZFE—tFEHA)
R-B—tFHEA-FTNB ARAA—BEA
REEBITARSFRS,000,000E T2 ES ([
E—tHFEFAD) - BEFEER T _ZTFHAH
AHEMN BFREECFRERI%FE - BZF
—tF+AtN\BEAB=FAASFFXIf-
BHRAEER-
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31 December 2019 —Z—hG&+-A=+—H

29. FIXED RATE BONDS AND NOTES (Continued) 2. ERBHERERE (&)

HK$10,000,000 7% bonds due 2021 (2017 Bonds B)

On 24 August 2017, the Company issued a bond with a
principal amount of HK$10 million to an individual investor (the
“2017 Bonds B”). The bond will be repayable in full by August
2021. The bond bears interest at a fixed coupon interest
rate at 7% per annum for four years payable semi-annually,
commencing on 24 February 2018. The bond is unsecured.

HK$10,000,000 6% bonds due 2020 (2017 Bonds C)

On 26 September 2017, the Company issued a bond with a
principal amount of HK$10 million to an individual investor
(the “2017 Bonds C”). The bond will be repayable in full by
September 2020. The bond bears interest at a fixed coupon
interest rate at 6% per annum for three years payable
semi-annually, commencing on 26 March 2018. The bond is

unsecured.

HK$3,000,000 5% bonds due 2020 (2019 Bonds A)

On 30 August 2019, the Company issued a bond with a
principal amount of HK$3 million to an individual investor
(the “2019 Bonds A”). The bond will be repayable in full
by February 2020. The bond bears interest at a fixed
coupon interest rate at 5% per annum for half year payable
semi-annually, and the interest should be repaid on
28 February 2020. The bond is unsecured.

US$500,000 6% bonds due 2020 (2019 Bonds B)

On 28 October 2019, the Company issued a bond with a
principal amount of US$0.5 million to an individual investor
(the “2019 Bonds B). The bond will be repayable in full by
April 2020. The bond bears interest at a fixed coupon interest
rate at 6% per annum for half year payable semi-annually,
and the interest should be repaid on 28 April 2020. The bond
is unsecured.

T NEEERE

10,000,000 8 T A —FE-—F B2 FR =X
T%EH (ZE—+FEHB)
RZZFE—tFNAZ+HB -ARAR—FBEA
W& H BTN S 5 510,000,0008 T2 ES ([ =
T—tFEHB]) EHFEBER T _—F/\AH
BEEN BEHRREETFELXRTI%HE BZF
—\FZAZTNERAHNFEAEGLFL o
BEHFREER -

10,000,000 8 TR —ZE_ZFEH 2 FF =
6%EH(—Z—LtFEHC)
RZE—tFAA=+ B FRAAIH—REAA
|EHEITARE 5 A10,000,0008 T2 ESH ([ =
T—+FFEHC]) BHEBER_T_FTFNAA
BEEMN BEHFERETFESXR6%TE AT
—\F=ZAZF+ A BRAR=FEAGLFL -
BEH AEER -

3,000,000 TR —ZE_ZFEHz2FERN=E
5%EH (ZFE—NFEHA)
RZZE—NAFENA=Z+TH ARAR—BEAR
BEEB{TAREL R A3,000,0008 T2 EAE([ZF
—NFEFA]D) - BEHFEBR_Z_SF AT
HEMN BHERETFELSERSY sTB RZITZ
ZFE A+ NRBENFEEEAGEFRN -E&
HREEIR o

500,000 X TR —Z =B FHH 2 FF=6%
&% (ZE-NEFEH#B)
R-ZFB-NAFTA=-TNB AAFAEA—-BEA
REEZTRELERS00,000E T2 EHF ([ZF
—NEEFB)) BEFEBR T _FTFWAMNE
BEN -BERREEFRESE6% 5t8 R_F=
ZEMA-—+TNBENNEEASFFEXMN A
HREER
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29. FIXED RATE BONDS AND NOTES (Continued)

Current
2013 Bonds

2017 Notes

2017 Bonds A

2017 Bonds C

2019 Bonds A

2019 Bonds B

Non-current
2013 Bonds

2017 Notes

2017 Bonds A

2017 Bonds B

2017 Bonds C
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ok
—E-CEF3%

“E-tERE

ZE-tEEHA
“E-tFESC
ZB-NEEHA
ZE-RERSB

*RE
—E-=EfF%

—E-tH5ER
“E-tEEEA
—E-tEE%B

—E-tEfFESEC

Principal
at original
currency

"million

RE%EE

BE

Us$72
2%7
HK$155
155 7T
Us$3
KESH
HK$10
10% T
HK$3
3BT
UsD$0.5
0.5%7T

Us$72
1257
HK$155
15558 1T
USs$3
KED
HK$10
108 7T
HK$10
108 7T

2019
ZE-hEF
Contractual
interest
rate (%)
per annum Maturity
BNERE
(%) Epcp
5.6 2020
ZECEF
8.0 2020
—2-%F
7.0 2020
—2-EF
6.0 2020
ZECEE
5.0 2020
g 23
6.0 2020
—2-%F
5.6 2020
—2-EF
8.0 2020
ZEC-ERE
7.0 2020
ZECZEF
7.0 2021
—EZ-f
6.0 2020
g i 3:3

RMB’000

AR® TR

135,593
20,360
8,293
2,687

3,471

170,404

7,631

7,631

178,035

2. ERBHERERE (&)

2018
—B-N\E
Principal Contractual
at original interest
currency rate (%)

‘million  per annum Maturity RMB’000
RE¥EE QHENZX

HE (%) AMA AR%TrR
us$72 5.6 2019 =
NER —E-hE
HK$155 8.0 2020 s
155 7T g 33
Us$3 7.0 2020 =
KEYH —EC-EF
HK$10 6.0 2020 =
108 gy 33
Us$72 5.6 2020 =
2% —EC-EF
HK$155 8.0 2020 124,790
15558 7T gl 33
US$3 7.0 2020 18,442
IET “EC-EE
HK$10 7.0 2021 6,834
1087 —E--%

HK$10 6.0 2020 7,340
1087 —EC-EF
157,406
157,406
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31 December 2019

A=+—8

F-NFT

30. GOVERNMENT GRANTS 30. BT B
2019 2018
—F-h#F —F-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREEF T
At 1 January Rn—A—H 350,899 375,113
Grants received during the year FREZE AL 25,780 22,320
Recognised as income during the year (note 5)  FRER AW A (i 5E5) (34,764) (46,534)
At 31 December R+=—A=+—8H 341,915 350,899

31.

-
=

N R

Government grants have been received as encouragement
for technological innovation and improvements, the
construction of production plants and rewards for investment
encouragement. There are no unfulfilled conditions or
contingencies attached to these grants. Related assets
associated with the above grants have not yet been
completed.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT

On 18 October 2018, the Company issued warrants in
registered form conferring the right upon the holder thereof,
exercisable in whole or in part at any time during the
subscription period to subscribe a maximum amount of
HK$313,320,000 for ordinary shares of the Company. The
subscription period is the period from the date of issue
of warrants until the day immediately preceding the third
anniversary thereof or if that day is not a business day,
the business day immediately preceding that day. The
subscription price is initially HK$0.84 per share in cash or
such adjusted price as may be applicable in accordance with
the terms of the warrant instrument.

31.

AR B BB BUN AL - ASCE R T 85T KR 3R T -
Bt ERERERKRENER ZSMUHE
MERERGHAIAETE - B EAMEERLZ
HEEERARRT-

TTEEWMIA

RZB-NF+A+TNB KABULTEBAE
T8 T E #5578 AN A0 206 B A BE B 2 BBk B
DITIE AR BB & = £ #8313,320,000/8 ;L A A &
EBRRARRER RBERSRTRBEERH
BEZERAE=(EEFEMNHEF (HMHMZA L
FEEERA BREEZBAMEREA)HME - R
BOXRERE 0B THIRBEAREETA
R AIBEE A SRR ER -
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31. DERIVATIVE FINANC
(Continued)

H

IAL INSTRUMENT

During the year, the movements in the warrants to subscribe

for the Company’s shares were as follows:

Date of grant

BmAH

18/10/2018
—E-AFTATAR

Balance as at

Exercise price per share 1/1/2019
RZB-NF

BRTHEE —R-B&#

HK$

o

0.84 373,000,000

ATEERIA (3

FA ARBEARRRMOOBREZEEMOT

Granted during

Numbers of warrants

AREZRHE
Lapsed during Balance as at
the year the year 31/12/2019
RZE-NF
+ZA=t+-8
ERRH ERER 53]
- - 373,000,000

Notes:

(1

The closing price of the Company’s share immediately before

the date on which the warrants were granted on 18 October

2018 was HK$0.64.

(2)
ended 31 December 2019.

No warrants were exercised and cancelled during the year

The fair value of the warrants granted for the year ended

31 December 2019 was RMB3,724,000 (2018: RMB22,984,000).

The Group recognised a
for the year ended 31
RMB22,984,000).

fair value gain of RMB19,260,000
December 2019 (2018: loss of

The fair value of warrants granted during the year was

estimated as at the date of grant using a binomial model,

taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the

warrants were granted. The
the model used:

Dividend yield (%)
Expected volatility (%)
Risk-free interest rate (%)
Time to expiry
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following table lists the inputs to

B3E

EE_Z-)N\FTATNBRLER
AR BN B YT B 750.6478 T °

REE 2 HAl

BE-—Z-NF+-A=+—BLFE TER
RO 5B AT 1 R B 4 o

HE-_Z-hhE+_A=+—ALEE BEH
RBREEHLAFTERAREKS 724,000t (= F
— N\ : AR%22984,000T)  HE-_T—NE
+ZA=+-RLEFE AXEEEERQFEK
2% AR 19,260,000 (=T — N\F : FEARE
22,984,0007T) °

FRAERKERBREENAFETDNRE A HED
TIRAERY 30 E B R AR R A R R B A
&t e TRETI AT AR & 5 A BUE

fig B 2 (%)
T8 B R 18 (%)
B R F R (%)

B B B

2019
—g-n%
RMB’000
AREF T

0.00%
56.14%
1.76%

1.8 years F
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31. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT M. FTESRMIA (&)

(Continued)

The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the

BB IE TV ERE LR E AT R AR BENRE

historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which may not ERBRT—TEHEILAR -

necessarily be the actual outcome.

No other feature of the warrants granted was incorporated

into the measurement of fair value.

32. ISSUED CAPITAL

Authorised:
10,000,000,000 (2018: 10,000,000,000)
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each

AAERTERYES RAREBREENE LR

Issued and fully paid:
1,011,142,000 (2018: 1,011,142,000)
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each

o
32. ERTRA
2019 2018
—E-AF —E-)N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARBF T
JETE
10,000,000,0000% (== — )\ & :
10,000,000,0000% ) & i%
EE0.107% T 2 @Ak 878,335 878,335
BETRAR:
1,011,142,0008% (== — )\ & :
1,011,142,0000% ) & %
M E0.107%8 T 2 E Bk 88,856 88,856

33. RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the

33. B
AEERAFERNEFENRELEREHS
IR RE 2 A X B AN

consolidated statement of changes in equity of the financial

statements.

— T NFFERSE
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34. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY
Disposal of PCK Steel Middle East FZE

On 24 October 2019, the Group disposed of its entire equity
interest in PCK Steel Middle East FZE at a cash consideration

34. HEKM B QA
i £ PCK Steel Middle East FZE
RZZE-—AF+A-t+HA AEELEER
PCK Steel Middle East FZE 2 2 #ifx i ¥ — 4

of approximately RMB9,130,000 to an independent third party. BYE=—F ReREAHARYI130,0007T
24 October
2019
—2-hEF
+A=+mWmA
RMB’000
AR®T

Net assets disposed of: HENTSEEEFE:
Property, plant and equipment Y WEREE 31,296
Long term prepayments and deposits REEMNFEREZS 1,183
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables FENFIE - - Ze REMEWKIA 23
Accruals and other payables EETE A R EMENKIA (3,265)
29,237
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HEWBARZEBIE (20,107)

Satisfied by: BIATARER

Cash " 9,130

An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in

respect of the disposal of a subsidiary is as follows:

Cash consideration received*
Cash and bank balances disposed of

EREE-—BHBARZ R RASSEN LR
AFEAFIT ¢

Year ended
31 December
2019

BZE
—E—-hEF
+=A
Eqr=1
LHEE
RMB’000
ARBT T

BUIRSNRE 4,061
BHEZRS RIRITAK -

Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect of
the disposal of a subsidiary

FRLEE—RNBARZEE R
ReEEBY 2R AFRE 4,061

Y BEF-AFTZAZ+ R AKRECDKE
He R EARY4,061,0007T

* Up to 31 December 2019, the Group had received cash
consideration of RMB4,061,000.
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35. NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 5. REBHERERHT
OF CASH FLOWS
a) Major non-cash transactions a) FEMIRERF
The Group had non-cash additions to right-of-use AEEFTREEENHESENIERS
assets and lease liabilities of RMB11,924,000 and BB A ARE11,924,000T F1 A R #
RMB 11,924,000, respectively (2018: Nil). 11,924,000 (Z T — N\F &) -
b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing b) REETBHELEEEEH
activities
Bank and
other
borrowings
(other than Fixed rate
Lease lease bonds Due to
liabilities liabilities) and notes a director
Year ended 31 December 2019 BE-2-h% BTRHEM
+-A=t-ALEE “E (HE ERES
HEEHE BERM) R EfES
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT R ARBTT ARMT ARMTR

At 1 January 2019 R-F-NE—A—H 5,635 6,097,719 157,406 118,944
Changes from financing cash flows RERERELY (2,219) (1,152,047) 6,158 (83,587)
New leases e 6,289 - - -
Early termination RELLE (1,774) = — —
Interest expense FER% 794 = = —
Interest paid classified as operating NEREERENE
cash flows ZBERFE (794) = — —
Repayment of a director on behalf REFAEEERE-—RES
of the Group - (103,500) - 103,500
Foreign exchange movement ANE # - 20,761 14,471 =
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NF+_A=1+—H 7,931 4,862,933 178,035 138,857
Bank and Finance Fixed rate
other lease bonds and Due to
borrowings payables notes a director
2018 —B-N\F RITR EREE ERESFR
Hifg g HENIE 2 ENES
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT AREFT ARETT ARETT

At 1 January 2018 R-_TE—-N\F—HA—H 5,212,880 153,154 608,418 106,994
Changes from financing cash flows RERETER 636,097 (111,410) (197,660) 11,950
Transfer £ 285,911 (41,744) (285,911) .
Foreign exchange movement NEEE) (37,169) = 32,559 —
At 31 December 2018 RZE-NE+ZA=1+—H 6,097,719 - 157,406 118,944
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35. NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT

OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)
c) Total cash outflow for leases

The total cash outflow for leases included in the
statement of cash flows is as follows:

RS
RERY
BMEEY

Within operating activities
Within investing activities
Within financing activities

/. FEREREBRME (8

c) HERERHAH
FRARERERCHERSRLABET:

Year ended
31 December
2019

Bz

o
+=A
=+-8
LHEE
RMB’000
AR®T T

(794)

(2,219)

(3,013)

36. FINANCIAL GUARANTEES 36.

The financial guarantee contracts are measured at the higher
of the ECL allowance and the amount initially recognised
less the cumulative amount of income recognised. The ECL
allowance is measured by estimating the cash shortfalls,
which are based on the expected payments to reimburse
the holders for a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts
that the Group expects to receive from the debtor. The
amount initially recognised represents the fair value at initial
recognition of the financial guarantees.

(a) At the end of the reporting period, financial guarantees
not provided for in the financial statements were as
follows:

Guarantees in respect of mortgage facilities
provided for certain purchasers of
the Group’s properties

MBHRR
MBRRANDNERAEEEERBENGER
SHERERRZZFRACE IR ELETHE
BHEEBRBREERA REERBEANE
EEEBEENEFFRRAEEBETBEBAK
BNEMER RS ZRAE -VHRERSRE
R R B EARFORFE-

(a) WMIMEHF HMHBESREHZ P B RS
mT

RIRERESAREMEN
ETEIRHEMNER

2019 2018
—E-hF —F-N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBF T ARBTT
94,255 128,180
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F-NFT=A=+-8

36. FINANCIAL GUARANTEES (Continued)

(a)

(continued)

As at 31 December 2019, the Group provided guarantees
in respect of mortgage facilities granted by certain
banks relating to the mortgage loans arranged for
certain purchasers of the Group’s properties. Pursuant
to the terms of the guarantees, in the event of default
on mortgage payments by these purchasers before the
expiry of the guarantees, the Group is responsible for
repaying the outstanding mortgage principals together
with the accrued interest and penalties owed by the
defaulted purchasers to the banks, net of any auction
proceeds as described below.

Pursuant to the above arrangement, the related
properties were pledged to the banks as collateral
for the mortgage loans, in the event of default on
mortgage repayments by these purchasers, the banks
are entitled to take over the legal titles and will realise
the pledged properties through open auction. The
Group is responsible for repaying the banks when the
proceeds from the auction of the properties cannot cover
the outstanding mortgage principals together with the
accrued interest and penalties.

The Group’s guarantee period starts from the dates of
grant of the relevant mortgage loans and ends upon
the issuance of real estate ownership certificates to the
purchasers, which will generally be available within one
to two years after the purchasers take possession of the
relevant properties.

The fair value of the guarantees is not significant
and the directors of the Company consider that in the
event of default on payments, the net realisable value
of the related properties can cover the repayment of
the outstanding mortgage principals together with the
accrued interest and penalties and therefore no provision
has been made in the financial statements for the
guarantees.

—NEEERE

36. MBER (@)

(a)

(&)

—NEFE+_A=+—H FrEERE
TRITAAEEMEETELRHERBE
RME TR ERBER - REERN
R RERBER AT i Ll B R R
BERLEN AEBEAERARTEREEY
BENAERNRKEERBASEREHE

SR (B T XAt M ER A E KRS -

B L2 HEMECIERIEBERY
EHRYERTFRIT W EREFTRIRBER
FEY SOBENEEEEE LRBA
FHESRERYE EHEVEMSHK
BTREURNEEREENIRBASEREL

MEREIR AIAREEEERRITEENE-

AEBNERINKE THEBRBERZA

BRAZENTREFHEMERES (BER
BETRAERBYMELR —EMFEATTIANER)
B 1 o

EROAFELTER BARREERR
REFEONBERT FRAMENARIRF
@EMEE*E@W&%$&@E%#N

KA Bt B RER A B ERIE
ﬁ%ﬁ°
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31 December 2019 —Z—hF+=-A=+—H
36. FINANCIAL GUARANTEES (Continued) 36. B ER (&)
(b) At the end of the reporting period, financial guarantees (b) RMEBR WHEBRRPARBHEZRETE
given to banks in connection with facilities granted to ERBEZRMERBITREMBEROT :

joint ventures not provided for in the financial statements
were as follows:

2019 2018
—E-hE —ZE-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T R ARETT

Guarantees given to banks in connection METTHAZBE
with facilities granted to: MERITIR L ER
A joint venture —fH&E QT 548,055 538,905
As at 31 December 2019, the banking facilities RZE-NF+ZA=+—H AEEM
guaranteed by the Group to a joint venture were utilised —HEERAAERZBITRECHAOA
to the extent of approximately RMB511,518,000 (2018: R¥511,518,000c (= — \F: AR
RMB333,464,000). 333,464,0007T) ©
In the opinion of the directors, the fair value of the EERE EROQAFEBVGERRIEH
guarantees is at initial recognition and ECL allowance is EEEEREBRTEKN-
not significant.
37. COMMITMENTS 37. &R
(a) The Group had the following capital commitments at the (a) RMEER NEBHUTEARRE:
end of the reporting period:
2019 2018
ZE-hF —E-)\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARBF T
Contracted, but not provided for: DT 4B R B4
Buildings BF 290,926 283,340
Plant and machinery T 5 Bt 28 69,626 74,895
Capital contributions payable to R —FHEERAIENZEE
joint venture 120,145 119,331
480,697 477,566
At the end of the reporting period, the Company did not PREEHR KRR W E LM E RETE-

have any significant commitments.
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37. COMMITMENTS (Continued) 37. &¥E (@)
(b) Operating lease commitments as at (b) R=ZZE—NFE+-A=+—Bz&K&H
31 December 2018 ERE
The Group leases certain of its factory and office FEBBRELCEHELCHEREETHRE R
premises under operating lease arrangements. Leases MAEYE-MERRLHE A —ETN\F
for properties are negotiated for terms of one to eighteen W el R Em S ER - BR A RIS ENH
years with an option for renewal after that date, at which [N

time all terms will be renegotiated.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had total future RZE—NF+ZA=+—8 KAEETTA
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable BHEgEHEN R RREE SN KRBT
operating leases falling due as follows: ™€
2018
—E-NF
RMB’000
AR®F T
Within one year —FR 1,402
In the second to fifth years, inclusive F_FEFEFRFT (BREEMT) 3,729
After five years AF% 4,211
9,342
38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 3. BB AR S
(a) Name and relationship of related parties (a) BAEE S EBREAR
The directors are of the view that the following EERBUATAE AEE

companies are related parties:

Name of party Relationship

BEE A8 &

Guangzhou City Pearl River Machine GZMT is a company of which Mr. Chen Chang is the ultimate equity
Tool Works Co., Ltd. (“GZMT”") owner

BM T I EARB AR QR ([TROTHK]) WIKKTTRRE S ERTKRERE AR

Al-Qahtani PCK Pipe Company Al-Qahtani PCK Pipe Company is a joint venture of the Group

Al-Qahtani PCK Pipe Company A& & 2 & & A A

(b) The Group had no transactions with related parties (b) RBZ=T—NF+-_A=+—HIEFE"
during the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: Nil). REBBEAR IR (ZE—NF:H&) -
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38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 38. BEEA R (@)
(c) Outstanding balances with a related party and a director: (c) HEABMAIMESTZAINEEH:
2019 2018
—E-AF —E—-N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREBTT
Due from a related party JRE U5 B Bt 75 3R IE
GZMT TROT # PR 84,522 84,676
Due to a director BN EERIA
Mr. Chen Chang EY=E 138,857 118,944
The outstanding balances with a related parties and a BB REEHRINERTEER £
director are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed BB EEE
terms of repayment.
(d) Compensation of key management personnel of the (d AEEXTZEEBEAENHH:
Group:
2019 2018
—E-AF = —N\F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET AR®EF T
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind %ﬁé‘c\ GEREREYER 5,116 5,799
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RORAE I FT 8 R 145 183
Total compensation paid to key TR EEEEABENEE
management personnel 5,261 5,982
Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in EEMeME—PHFBIARATBRERZ
note 9 to the financial statements. MIFEQ o
39. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 9. REEE

A subsidiary of the Group is currently a defendant in a lawsuit
brought by a party alleging that the subsidiary breached a
contract to purchase goods for a claim of RMB34,300,000 and
related interests. The directors, based on the advice from the
Group’s legal counsel, believe that the subsidiary has a valid
defence against the allegation and, accordingly, have not
provided for any claim arising from the litigation, other than
the related legal and other costs.
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 40. BT EANDE
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial RBEMR SHENemITAMNKREERNT:

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as

follows:
Financial assets SREE
2019 —E—hE
Financial
assets at
amortised
cost Total
g ¥
RAGTEN
CMEE et
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT R AR®T
Financial assets included in long term FFARHBEMNFIER
prepayments and deposits ReWamEE 4,508 4,508
Trade and bills receivables B S REBERER L EREE 403,775 403,775
Financial assets included in prepayments, T ATERRRIE - H At FE Y FRIE
other receivables and other assets LEMEENSHREE 602,188 602,188
Pledged deposits [ ik e 164,826 164,826
Cash and cash equivalents HeRREeEEY 58,585 58,585
1,233,882 1,233,882
2018 —B-N\f
Financial
assets at
amortised
cost Total
R
ARG 28
CREE st
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFIT ARBF T
Financial assets included in long term FFARBEMNRIER
prepayments and deposits ReWaREE 5,736 5,736
Trade and bills receivables EZRBER L EREE 540,225 540,225
Financial assets included in prepayments, FTATEARTRRIE - Ho At FE YK
other receivables and other assets BREMEENSREE 283,349 283,349
Pledged deposits EEAEe 619,060 619,060
Cash and cash equivalents HeRIREeEEY 66,907 66,907
1,515,277 1,515,277

— TN
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 40. eRIT AN D E (&)
(Continued)
Financial liabilities EREeE
2019 —E—hE
Financial
liability at
fair value Financial
through liabilities at
profit amortised
or loss cost Total
RATE 1R 8 R A
FABEN FTERN
cREE - =R et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBT T AR®BT T
Derivative financial instrument MTESRTA 3,724 - 3,724
Trade and bills payables B O RNERKENEE - 379,935 379,935
Lease liabilities HEAE - 7,931 7,931
Financial liabilities included in other FTAE A FRIE &
payables and accruals EFERMNEmEE = 335,460 335,460
Interest-bearing bank and other AFERITREMEE
borrowings (other than lease liabilities) (HEA BRI - 4,862,933 4,862,933
Fixed rate bonds and notes T EEHFKEE - 178,035 178,035
3,724 5,764,294 5,768,018
2018 —E-)\F
Financial
liability at
fair value Financial
through liabilities at
profit amortised
or loss cost Total
BRATE R SRR
FFABZS ATE
TRIBE TRBE #Et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®EF T ARET T AR®EF T
Derivative financial instrument TEERIE 22,984 - 22,984
Trade and bills payables B RNERRENZE - 688,464 688,464
Financial liabilities included in other ST AE fh AT 3R IE
payables and accruals EirERMNESRIBE = 395,812 395,812
Interest-bearing bank and other FAERITREMEES
borrowings (other than lease liabilities) (HEBERINM) - 6,097,719 6,097,719
Fixed rate bonds and notes TFEBEHFIER = 157,406 157,406
22,984 7,339,401 7,362,385
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41. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 41.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and
cash equivalents, the current portion of pledged deposits,
investment deposits, trade and bills receivables, trade and
bills payables, financial assets included in prepayments, other
receivables and other assets, financial liabilities included in
other payables and accruals, short term notes and amounts
due from/to subsidiaries approximate to their carrying amounts
largely due to the short term maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties,
other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The following
methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair
values:

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities included
in long term prepayments and deposits, the non-current
portion of pledged deposits, interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings and fixed rate bonds and notes have been
calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows
using rates currently available for instruments with similar
terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. The changes in
fair value as a result of the Group’s own non-performance
risk for finance lease payables, interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings, and fixed rate bonds and notes as at
31 December 2019 were assessed to be insignificant. The
carrying amounts of these financial instruments carried at
amortised cost are not materially different from their fair
values as at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018.

— TN

EMITACZAFERLAFEER

ERECHRRERASFEY CEFERZ
BEE D REFR BHRIRREEREE
BRMNERNMENREE FFABMKE  Hi
EURAREMEEZEBMEE St AEMERN
REREFERzcREE BHEERER
NHBARFEZAFE BEREEMRE T
ERRZETAREHARE-

EMEERBEBEZATFENRERR ST (REH
BREERIMNENRGTRTAZARZER
AR NOITTERBRBRRBR G A FE:

SARSBENRERESZEHEENARE
BHEBERZIENGHS FFERITREMEE
REBBEBARZBZAFE  THUER - FER
S RHETHRENU 2 TARBAINESHRX.
WRBHARRERAE - R_TE—NEF+=A
=ST—RA AEERENRERERE AR
TREMEEREEEFREEZEBETEITR
BREH A TFEEHTHATER-R_T—N
F+ZA=+—HAR=ZE-NF+ZA=+—1"
ZERBEAAAEZSBTAZERERER
FEVEERER-
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41.

42.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy

The Group did not have any financial asset measured at fair
value as at 31 December 2019 (2018: Nil).

The following table illustrates the fair value measurement
hierarchy of the Group’s financial liabilities as at 31 December
2019 (2018: RMB22,984,000):

Recurring fair value measurement for: & H A FHEFE
Derivative financial instrument TES@MIA

41.

EMTACAFERAFESER (&)

DFEER

RZEBE-NANFE+_A=+—H XEEBALEET
MRAFEFEZEANEREE(ZF—N\F:

) o

7N

TERAEBFEAEER-_T—AhF+_A=+—8z2
SRABBEZAFEAEERLA(ZTE—N\F: AR
#22,984,0007T )

Fair value measurement as at 31 December 2019 using
R-B-AF+ZA=Z+-BEAUTBAETFEZAFE

Quoted prices

in active
markets
(Level 1)
RIERT S
FrRE®
(B—%&)
RMB’000
AR®TT

Significant
observable
inputs
(Level 2)
BXRT
BEBAE
(B=H)
RMB’000
AREFT

3,724

Significant
unobservable
input

(Level 3)
BEXART
BEBAE
(B=8)
RMB’000
AREFT

Total

£y
RMB’000
ARETT

3,724

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers
into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and financial
liabilities (2018: Nil).

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise bank
and other borrowings, fixed rate bonds and notes, cash and
short term deposits. The main purpose of these financial
instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The
Group has various other financial assets and liabilities such
as trade receivables and trade payables, which arise directly
from its operations.

42,
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)
The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and
liquidity risk. The Group does not have any written risk
management policies and guidelines. Generally, the Group
introduces prudent strategies on its risk management. The
board of directors reviews and agrees policies for managing
each of these risks and they are summarised below:

(a) Interest rate risk
The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market
interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s bank loans
and government loans with floating interest rates.

The Group regularly reviews and monitors the mix of
fixed and floating interest rate borrowings in order to
manage its interest rate risk. Interest-bearing loans,
cash and short term deposits are stated at amortised
cost and not revalued on a periodic basis. Floating rate
interest income and expenses are credited/charged to
the statement of profit or loss as earned/incurred.

Management does not anticipate any significant impact
resulting from the changes in interest rates because most
of the Group’s loans as at the end of the reporting period
were at fixed interest rates which have no significant
impact on cash flow interest rate risk.

If there was a general increase/decrease in the interest
rate of bank and other borrowings with floating interest
rates by one percentage point, with all other variables
held constant, the consolidated operating results would
decreasel/increase by approximately RMB30.8 million
(2018: RMB43.3 million), and there would be no impact
on other components of the consolidated equity, except
for retained profits, of the Group.

—NEEERE

42. IR EBREE B ZERBR (#)

HASENSRITAEENTZRKREFERR
SNERBR - EERBEABDESRB AEEE
FHEMEBREREBREES  -—RME A&
EfHERBREEFSIABRENRE EFSHEH
WiHEBIRELRREERBRE  BalmT:

(a) FZEE R
AEBAZOMSNELHEREZEAR
SERFHNERFENRITEREBRTE
RER-

AEBFTHESYERETERFBHANEER
AEE UEEREMNERR -FFEER B
EMEMERIZEBHEAAIIE T AERE
o )R BRI RF S WA R RRREE
REER R AR

EREERY NEEPIrEELTMNERY
2 AR/AEENRERRORTDERZ
REENEFS \%ﬁﬁéﬁ%f'l%@ﬁfﬁ
BEEXRTE-

FERFDMNEFENRTREMEEER
me/ BEeE—EE > MABEMES
T ARAREXBEBRD MO A
K #30,800,000L (ZE—\F: AR¥
43,300, ooom CHAEBSEES R EM
oI B8 (BT TR o
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)
(b) Foreign currency risk

(c)

The Group has transactional currency exposures.
These exposures arise from sales by operating units in
currencies other than the units’ functional currencies.
Approximately 11% (2018: 28%) of the Group’s sales
were denominated in currencies other than the functional
currencies of the operating units making the sale.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity as at
the end of the reporting period to a reasonably possible
change in the United States (“US”) dollar exchange rate,
with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s loss
before tax.

Effect on loss before tax

Increase in the US dollar rate of 3% ZTIE RIEMN3%
Decrease in the US dollar rate of 3% ETEXR 3%

42. AR EE B ZERBR (#)

(b) SMEEREER

AEEHBRZEERER - ZEREKE L
EEMNBMNIREEB NI EREETT
BEHE - REEHETONM% (ZF—N\F:
28% ) AEITHEMKEZEMNINEER N
SN EHEEHE

TR BAR A 45 MR A SR B T B IR
B A B (RS TR T R 2 7T [
EH A BB B -

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognized and creditworthy
third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers
who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit
verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances
are monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group’s
exposure to bad debts is not significant. For transactions
that are not denominated in the functional currency of the
relevant operating unit, the Group does not offer credit
terms without the specific approval of the Head of Credit
Control.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The table below shows the credit quality and the
maximum exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s
credit policy, which is mainly based on past due
information unless other information is available without
undue cost or effort, and year-end staging classification
as at 31 December.

(c)
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 42. R REREE B ZRBUER (#)
AND POLICIES (Continued)

(c) Credit risk (Continued) (c) EERK (&)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging RERBRERER ()
(Continued)
The amount presented are gross carrying amounts for FrEfeBremEENRELE LR
financial assets and the exposure to credit risk for the MBERENERENEERRE -

financial guarantee contracts.

As at 31 December 2019 R-E—-NE+=ZA=+—H

Lifetime ECLs

12-month Simplified
ECLs Stage 1 approach Total

1218 A 8 =HEH

FEBAR FEER
F—ER [GR(#73 Bt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TR ARBTR AR®T T

Financial assets included in long st AKHEITE ZUIE K

term prepayments and deposits BezemEE 4,508 - 4,508
Trade receivables* Z 5 W AR - 403,502 403,502
Bills receivables FEW R % - 273 273
Financial assets included STATERRIE - EAh

in prepayments, other receivables & W TE & E b & &=

and other assets ZEREE

— Normal** — IE&E** 602,188 - 602,188
Pledged deposits 2ifEe

— Not yet past due — im) 7K 460 H 164,826 - 164,826
Cash and cash equivalents RehkBEEEY

— Not yet past due — I#) 7K 48 Hf 58,585 - 58,585
Guarantees given to banks in AET—HREERATZ

connection with facilities granted Bt & AR 1TIE M 2 &R
to a joint venture

— Facilities not yet drawn by ——M&2 QA

a joint venture AR Z @ E 36,537 = 36,537
— Facilities drawn by ——ME&& AT

a joint venture ERMZHE

— Not yet past due — I8 AR 8 B 511,518 - 511,518
Guarantees in respect of mortgage A TALEYEREE

facilities provided for certain Rtz ZEgERME
purchasers of the Group’s 2R
properties
— Facilities drawn by certain —ETAREEYEEEE

purchasers of the Group’s BRI Z@E

properties 94,255 - 94,255

1,472,417 403,775 1,876,192
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 42. B REREE B ZRBUER (&)
AND POLICIES (Continued)

(c) Credit risk (Continued) (c) EEREK (&)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging REEBRERER (&)
(Continued)
As at 31 December 2018 RZZE-NEF+=ZA=+—H

Lifetime ECLs

12-month Simplified
ECLs Stage 1 approach Total

1216 A 78 51 T HITEHA

EEEE BEEEE
E—REER Kl HEt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT

Financial assets included in long st AKHEITENT ZUE K

term prepayments and deposits RevemEE 5,736 — 5,736
Trade receivables* B 5 & W R - 442,229 442,229
Bills receivables e = 97,996 97,996
Financial assets included FFATERTERIE - B FE UL

in prepayments, other receivables FIEBRHEMEE >

and other assets TRIEE

— Normal** —IEE* 283,349 — 283,349
Pledged deposits EERZe

— Not yet past due — %) 7K 460 B 619,060 - 619,060
Cash and cash equivalents ReERBEEEY

— Not yet past due — &) R 8 A 66,907 = 66,907
Guarantees given to banks in AET—HREERATZ

connection with facilities granted Bt & MR1TIRIHE 2

to a joint venture ER

— Facilities not yet drawn by ——H&aEARMARRZ

a joint venture & 205,441 = 205,441

— Facilities drawn by —-—HEERABERRZ

a joint venture &
— Not yet past due — 18] 7R 480 HA 333,464 - 333,464
Guarantees in respect of mortgage FAETAEEYERE E

facilities provided for certain R ZIEBRERM

purchasers of the Group’s ER

properties

— Facilities drawn by certain —EAETASEYMEEEE

purchasers of the Group’s ERBRZEE
properties 128,180 - 128,180
1,642,137 540,225 2,182,362
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Credit risk (Continued)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging

(Continued)

* For trade receivables to which the Group applies the
simplified approach for impairment, information based on
provision matrix is disclosed in notes 22.

*k

The credit quality of the financial assets included in
prepayments, other receivables and other assets is
considered to be “normal” when they are not past due
and there is no information indicating that the financial
assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables are
disclosed in note 22 to the financial statements.

Since the Group trades only with recognized and
creditworthy third parties, there is no requirement for
collateral. Concentrations of credit risk are managed by
customer/counterparty, by geographical region and by
industry sector. There are no significant concentrations
of credit risk within the Group as the customer bases of
the Group’s trade receivables are widely dispersed in
different sectors and industries.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s objective is to ensure continuity of sufficient
funding and flexibility by utilising a variety of bank and
other borrowings with debt maturities spreading over
a range of periods, thereby ensuring that the Group’s
outstanding borrowing obligation is not exposed to
excessive repayment risk in any one year. Due to the
capital intensive nature of the Group’s businesses, the
Group ensures that it maintains sufficient cash and credit
lines to meet its liquidity requirements.

The liquidity of the Group is primarily dependent on its
ability to maintain adequate cash inflows from operations
to meet its debt obligations as they fall due, and its
ability to obtain external financing to meet its committed
future capital expenditure. With regard to its future
capital commitments and other financing requirements,
the Group has already obtained banking facilities
with several banks of up to an amount of RMB3,013
million as at 31 December 2019, of which an amount of
approximately RMB2,254 million has been utilised.

— TN

42. IR EBREE B ZERBR (#)

(c) FERR (4)
REBBERFRER (&)

koA SR L R Bk M 5 AR
5 b8 B 25 B ) Y0 Y S22
B -

o FFATENOR At EYCGRIE R EMEER
MEREENEEER ARAHANEE
HEREMEENEERRB B XERAR
HIRARIRIEMHE R THESTIER]

EUALBRE S BUERMELNEE
B 0 — 2 T B B R BT 7 R R B 322
PO «

HRAKEEERNREEERINE=SR
ETR ANEFTER -EARRNEF
EHEF/RXZHF BRI MITEIM
EE -BRNAEEBEZRUERNEFHE
RAOBRARTE B AREARLEE
RKOERRBRSES -

(d) RBEZER

AEENBES MHREKIHEEE TR
MEBRITEEMEE BRSEEBSER
BERABERE EMERASE R AE
ENEEBBEERN—FITEAXBEHN
BERR ARTEEEBNERT S
AEBEBRREKERARE LERRBELD
RERBESERK-

AREEBNRDESCTERBEEBESR
HESRANBNEHENEE ARG
IRESBNEBBAENERAR M
N ERAEEABRERAREMEMBER
Z RZE-NF+_A=Z+—H XEEH
BEESZ RIRTITIRMLE AR KS,013,000,000
THREEEE EFEHHAHARE
2,254,000,0007T °
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (Continued)
(d) Liquidity risk (Continued)

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities
as at the end of the reporting period, based on the
contractual undiscounted payments, is as follows:

42. AR EE B ZERBR (#)

(d) RBESER (4)

RBEHAR AEREERETHRITRMN K
MERBENZIHBEROT

31 December 2019
—2-NF+=A=+-8

Less than Over
On demand 1 year 1 year Total
RER DPR—F —FpE et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AR%BTR AR¥TRT AR%Txn
Trade and bills payables B I RENER R
- 379,935 - 379,935
Other payables H b fE 5 3RIE = 335,460 = 335,460
Lease liabilities - 2,458 7,144 9,602
Interest-bearing bank and R RIT R E A
other borrowings (excluding (TREHEARE)
lease liabilities) - 1,384,980 4,199,687 5,584,667
Fixed rate bonds and notes &2 fEHEKEE - 20,686 199,505 220,191
- 2,123,519 4,406,336 6,529,855
Financial guarantees issued: % 7 B4 & &R -
Maximum amount EREREE
guaranteed 642,310 - - 642,310
31 December 2018
—F-N\F+tZA=1+—A8
Less than Over
On demand 1 year 1 year Total
BEXK LR—F —F LA st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARETE
Trade and bills payables 2 5 ENBER R
- 688,464 - 688,464
Other payables H b FE T3R8 - 395,812 — 395,812
Interest-bearing bank and AERITREMEES
other borrowings - 2,741,043 4,817,704 7,558,747
Fixed rate bonds and notes T EEH NERE - 13,445 195,275 208,720
- 3,838,764 5,012,979 8,851,743
Financial guarantees issued: £ % 2 @& 1R -
Maximum amount E=ERESHE
guaranteed 667,085 - - 667,085
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 42. BERREEBEEREEK (&)
AND POLICIES (Continued)
(e) Capital management (e) EXEE

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital
management are to safeguard the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy
capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which
is total debts divided by total assets, and is defined to
include payables incurred not in the ordinary course of
business. Total debts include interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings and fixed rate bonds and notes. The

AEBHEAEENIZAREHTAKE
SEKENRNIRBRER L X UXFHE
EBAERREEZAL-

AEENREEABLRERERN  ZLE
REEBHRAREE YEE/EBRENIER
FEBEETELENENTIBE BEHKEE
AERTREMEEREREFLEE R
BEMRNEERBLENT:

gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting periods are
as follows:

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E—NEFE
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T R ARETT

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings &t 8 E1T R EMEE

(note 26) (HiE26) 4,870,864 6,097,719
Fixed rate bonds and notes (note 29) EEERRERE (H:129) 178,035 157,406
Total debts BIETE 5,048,899 6,255,125
Total assets WEE 8,489,806 10,008,293
Gearing ratio BEARAE 59.5% 62.5%
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43.

44,

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, there has been
an outbreak of the Corona Virus Disease 2019 (“COVID-19")
around the world. The Group considers this outbreak to be
a non-adjusting event after reporting period. The Group
has closely monitored its impact on the operations. As
the COVID-19 rapidly evolving, the related impact on the
Group’s consolidated results of operations, cash flows and
financial condition for the year 2020 could not be reasonably
estimated at this stage. The directors will remain alerted to
the development of the COVID-19 and take all possible and
reasonable measures as appropriate.

COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS

As further explained in note 2.2 to the financial statements,
the Group adopted IFRS 16 on 1 January 2019 using the
modified retrospective approach. Under this approach, the
comparative amounts in the financial statements were not
restated and continued to be reported under the requirements
of the previous standard, IAS 17, and related interpretations.

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to
conform with the current year’s presentation. In the opinion of
the directors of the Company, this presentation would better
reflect the financial position of the Group.

43.

44,
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45. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 45, R 8] 2 B AR OR R
COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the

ARARRBERARZHBRRRER DT

Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

2019 2018
—E-NF —T-N\%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBEFTT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries BB AR ZIE 49,591 922,759
Total non-current assets FEMBEERE 49,591 922,759
CURRENT ASSETS mENEE
Prepayments, other receivables and other assets 781~ k18  H b i U 018 K H b & & - 822
Due from subsidiaries JE UG BT /BB R Bl FRIE 709,866 1,233,567
Cash and bank balances 7 & MIRTTHE 4,887 5,244
Total current assets REEERE 714,753 1,239,633
CURRENT LIABILITIES e B &
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings ERITRHEMEE 108,829 296,490
Other payables and accruals BB M ERTE A 16,554 24,382
Due to subsidiaries AN ENGIE S 189,198 68,271
Fixed rate bonds and notes TFRBEFRIER 170,404 =
Total current liabilities mEBERTE 484,985 389,143
NET CURRENT ASSETS REEEFE 229,768 850,490
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES BELERTDAEE 279,359 1,773,249
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBEE
Fixed rate bonds and notes TEEFREE 7,631 541,177
Total non-current liabilities SERBN B EERE 7,631 541,177
Net assets BEFE 271,728 1,232,072
EQUITY s
Issued capital BB ITHR A 88,856 88,856
Reserves (note 45) 8 (MI3Ea5) 182,872 1,143,216
Total equity R 271,728 1,232,072

— T NFFERSE
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45. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 45. A A Z I Bk R & (&)
COMPANY (Continued)

Note: B EE
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: ARBZREERENT :
Exchange
Share Contributed Accumulated fluctuation
premium surplus losses reserve Total
R E BEARH 2itER EXRDREE Lo
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARBTR ARETT ARETT ARETT

At 1 January 2018 RZFE-N\E—HR—H 824,219 1,712,731 (1,185,482) (51,060) 1,300,408
Total comprehensive loss for the year AEE2EFEAE - - (174,924) 17,732 (157,192)
At 31 December 2018 RZZ-N\F

+-fA=+-8 824,219 1,712,731 (1,360,406) (33,328) 1,143,216
Total comprehensive loss for the year AFE2HEEEAE - - (965,515) 5,171 (960,344)
At 31 December 2019 RZZE-NF

+=A=+-A 824,219 1,712,731 (2,325,921) (28,157) 182,872

46. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 46. HLEM B | K
The financial statements were approved and authorised for MBHRRER_E_EF=-A=tHEESSH
issue by the board of directors on 30 March 2020. R T
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

hFMBHE

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and of the assets and liabilities

of the Group for the last five financial years prepared on the basis

set out in the note below is as follows:

MBENBRE
AEMBETXMERTRNERFEEB R D AN REE
MEAMEERAERABRENT :

Results E
Year ended 31 December
BZ+-A=+—-RHLEE
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
ZB-hE Z—T-N\F T+ Z—T-RF "E-IF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARETT ARETRT AREBTT AR®TR

Revenue WA 1,193,961 1,681,566 873,293 1,443,487 2,539,178
Cost of sales e R AR (981,769)  (1,358,041)  (815,182)  (1,361,900)  (2,131,965)
Gross Profit EF 212,192 323,525 58,111 81,587 407,213
Other income and gains Hb A Rz 441,747 81,579 140,553 37,564 29,221
Selling and distribution expenses $4%& &7 8 & (55,821) (63,744) (107,330) (144,423) (171,695)
Administrative expenses THEHR (336,042) (437,020) (475,632) (470,977) (439,991)
Other expenses Hh & A (69,388) (93,432) (12,873) (105,283) (17,469)
Exchange gain/(loss), net bE X Wi (B518) B3 23,528 16,241 (44,121) (86,417) (53,558)
Finance costs RER A (450,058)  (374,468)  (426,286)  (237,142)  (237,111)
Impairment of property, mE BERREZRE

plant and equipment - - (18,006) (516,250) -
Fair value gains on BREMEZ A FER

investment properties 78,008 21,779 - - 627,882
Fair value gain/(loss) on TEEBMIAZ

a derivative financial instrument A P&z (EE) 19,260 (22,984) = = =
Share of a loss of a joint venture fE{F—HA L N aEEE (18,655) (2,724) (2,779) (1,460) (582)
Profit/(loss) before tax BRBADEF (E18) (155,229) (551,248) (888,363)  (1,442,801) 143,910
Income tax (expense)/credit Fr8fi (X)) /K% 13,140 52,313 14,608 (56,197) (118,399)
Profit/(loss) for the year FREMN/ (EB) (142,089) (498,935) (873,755)  (1,498,998) 25,511
Other comprehensive income/ FREMEZARAS

(loss) for the year, net of tax (E18) (MErHiE) (21,323) (116,857) 153,862 (133,018) (94,725)
Total comprehensive loss FAZEBELERE

for the year (163,412)  (615792)  (719,893)  (1,632,016) (69,214)
Earnings/(loss) per share (RMB) & 2T/ (FE)(AR%) RMBAERY® RMBAR®% RMBAE® RMBARY®E RMBAR®

_ basic and diluted -EAREE (0.14) 7 (0.49) 7% (0.86) 7T (1.48) 7% 0.027%

—NEEERE
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FEKEE
Assets and Liabilities EEHEE
31 December
+=A=+-8
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
“$-7E -F-\F -T-tF -T-AF -T-Ef
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRE ARBTT ARETT AREBTT ARET
Non-current assets FREBEE 4,435,885 5,437,956 5,986,437 7,140,362 7,872,635
Current assets REEE 4,053,921 4,570,337 4,166,659 3,815,464 4,200,730
Current liabilities REBaRE (3,013,293)  (4,610,046)  (6,333,616)  (6,539,519)  (4,594,486)
Non-current liabilities SERBEE (4,521,544)  (5167,974) (2973415)  (2,848.421)  (4,278,977)
Total Equity R 54,969 230,273 846,065 1,567,886 3,199,902
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